Integration of Lean and Industry 4.0 for Smart Manufacturing

by

Md Monir Hossain

A dissertation submitted to the Graduate Faculty of Auburn University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

> Auburn, Alabama May 4, 2024

Keywords: Lean, Industry 4.0, Lean Manufacturing, Integration

Copyright 2024 by Md Monir Hossain

Approved by

Dr. Gregory Purdy, Chair, Assistant Professor of Industrial & System Engineering
Dr. Richard Sesek, Tim Cook Professor of Industrial & System Engineering
Dr. Jia (Peter) Liu, Assistant Professor of Industrial & System Engineering
Dr. Konstantinos Mykoniatis, Assistant Professor of Industrial & System Engineering
Dr. Shiqiang (Nick) Zou, Assistant Professor of Civil & Environmental Engineering

Abstract

The purpose of this study was to investigate the potential of integrating Industry 4.0 (I-4.0) technology with Lean Production (LP) systems to increase manufacturing productivity. LP has been in use for over four decades and has resulted in the development of a range of Lean tools and principles that have been proven effective in improving productivity and performance in different manufacturing sectors. However, since 2011, I-4.0 has also been increasingly utilized to enhance productivity. While both paradigms share the goal of enhancing productivity, Lean is a people-centered, while I-4.0 is a technology-centered approach. As a result, some researchers have raised concerns about the integration of I-4.0 into LP systems and the potential for a synergistic relationship between the two approaches. To analyze these concerns systematically, we conducted a Systematic Literature Review (SLR) investigating the relationship between Lean and I-4.0, identifying existing frameworks for combining the two, and identifying key factors that drive the successful integration of I-4.0 into LP systems. We also explored potential challenges that may arise during the integration process. The SLR findings revealed a lack of understanding of the relationship between Lean tools and I-4.0 technologies, particularly the one-to-one relationship. In addition, there is a lack of empirical studies exploring how these two paradigms can be integrated to enhance productivity. By addressing these gaps, we were motivated to conduct this dissertation research. The entire research work is divided into three studies. In the first study, we aimed to propose a conceptual framework for the successful integration of I-4.0 into the LP system. Besides the research gaps derived from the SLR in designing the framework, we employed basic principles of system thinking. The proposed framework is designed with a clear direction of the relationship between Lean and I-4.0, while also taking into account potential key driving factors and challenges. In the second study, we attempted to implement the proposed framework in a Lean Educational Automotive Manufacturing Lab. We demonstrated it as a small manufacturing floor to delineate the different phases of the proposed framework. To measure its performance, we defined the overall equipment effectiveness (OEE) as the primary key performance indicator (KPI). To explore the synergistic impact of Lean and I-4.0, we defined four treatments, namely 'Control,' 'Lean,' 'Industry 4.0', and 'Lean & Industry 4.0'. In this study, 48 research subjects assembled SUV model cars using Lego parts to test the framework's performance based on the research protocol. The subjects assembled the cars individually under each treatment and also in combination. After conducting a comprehensive analysis, we found that the 'Industry 4.0' approach resulted in significantly higher OEE compared to the other treatments. However, the study is limited to a small sample size. To overcome the limitation of a small sample size and to evaluate the effectiveness of workflow layout followed by subject, we were motivated to conduct the third study. In the third study, we explored whether the workflow layout impacts productivity or efficiency. To conduct our investigation, we randomly selected 12 research subjects to observe their performance during the car assembly process. We analyzed their performance based on recorded videos from our second study. Next, we created a discrete event simulation (DES) model to validate the observation using the empirical data of 12 research subjects. Through the observation, we found subjects followed eight different workflow sequences. Through the DES analysis, we discovered the significant impact of workflow on productivity and efficiency. In this study, we employed Throughput (TP) and Time In System (TIS) performance metrics to test our proposed hypotheses. Overall, it is worth mentioning that the study makes three contributions. Firstly, it presents a conceptual framework for integrating I-4.0 technologies into LP systems. Secondly, the performance of the proposed framework is validated by using human subjects in a prototype environment. Finally, effective utilization of DES in determining an efficient workflow sequence for picking and placing parts during the assembly of SUV cars.

Acknowledgments

I want to express my sincere gratitude to my advisor, Dr. Gregory Purdy, for his invaluable guidance and support throughout my journey. I could not have come this far without his timely supervision, insightful suggestions, and unwavering assistance. Dr. Purdy's mentorship has not only shaped my academic endeavors but has also contributed significantly to my personal and professional growth. His dedication and expertise have played a critical role in helping me navigate challenges and achieve milestones.

I am also grateful to Dr. Richard Sesek, Tim Cook Professor, for his valuable suggestions in the experimental study's research design and protocol writing. I sincerely thank Dr. Jia (Peter) Liu for his assessment and feedback on statistical modeling and analysis. I express my gratitude to Dr. Konstantinos Mykoniatis for his evaluation, feedback, and suggestions in developing the Discrete Event Simulation modeling through my doctoral research works. I extend my deepest thanks to Dr. Shiqiang (Nick) Zou for his effort in reading and refining the dissertation manuscript.

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to Dr. Gregory Harris, Chair of the Department of Industrial and System Engineering, Auburn University, and Director of ICAMS, for supporting and funding to conduct the research case studies. I extend my sincere gratitude to Mr. Tom Devall, Director of Auto Manufacturing Initiatives, for his endless efforts and support in designing and conducting the experiment at the Lean Education Automotive Lab.

I want to thank Victoria Ballard and Dan O'Leary for assisting in the experimental run to measure the effect of the integration of Industry 4.0 into Lean Production systems. I would like to thank my colleague Madison Evans for her sincere help in developing the Discrete Event Simulation modeling. I would like to thank my friend Md Shahriar Aziz for his help in formatting the dissertation format in the overleaf platform.

I express my deepest gratitude to my wife, Mrs. Sarjana Nusrath Sanam, for her unwavering support and belief in me throughout my doctoral studies.

Finally, I am grateful to God for sustaining me throughout this study.

Table of Contents

| At | ostract | | ii |
|----|---------|--|----|
| Ac | know | ledgments | iv |
| 1 | Intro | oduction | 1 |
| | 1.1 | Background of the study | 1 |
| | 1.2 | Problem statement | 3 |
| | 1.3 | Research objectives | 4 |
| | 1.4 | Research questions | 4 |
| | 1.5 | Research contributions | 4 |
| | 1.6 | Dissertation outlines | 5 |
| 2 | Back | ground and Literature | 6 |
| | 2.1 | What is Lean? | 6 |
| | 2.2 | Lean principles | 7 |
| | 2.3 | Development of lean and lean tools | 9 |
| | 2.4 | Mistakes, defects, and errors in Manufacturing | 10 |
| | 2.5 | The conceptual development of poka-yoke | 11 |
| | 2.6 | Definition of poka-yoke | 13 |
| | 2.7 | Functional principles of poka-Yoke | 15 |
| | 2.8 | The implementation strategy of poka-yoke | 16 |
| | 2.9 | The concept of industry 4.0 | 18 |
| | 2.10 | Integration strategy of industry 4.0 | 21 |
| | 2.11 | Horizontal integration of industry 4.0 | 22 |
| | 2.12 | Vertical integration of industry 4.0 | 23 |

| | 2.13 | End-to | end integration | 25 |
|---|-------|------------|---|----|
| | 2.14 | Key te | chnologies of industry 4.0 | 26 |
| | 2.15 | Conce | pt of 'Lean Industry 4.0' ('Lean 4.0') | 28 |
| | 2.16 | Integra | ation of industry 4.0 into lean production systems | 31 |
| 3 | Integ | gration of | of Industry 4.0 into Lean Production System: A Conceptual Framework . | 33 |
| | 3.1 | Theore | etical framework's background | 33 |
| | 3.2 | Found | ations of the theoretical framework | 33 |
| | 3.3 | Literat | ure review on integration framework of lean and industry 4.0 | 36 |
| | 3.4 | Metho | dology | 37 |
| | | 3.4.1 | Research questions (RQs) | 38 |
| | | 3.4.2 | Keywords and search string | 38 |
| | | 3.4.3 | Inclusion and exclusion criteria | 39 |
| | | 3.4.4 | Data sources and search strategy | 40 |
| | | 3.4.5 | Synthesis and reporting | 40 |
| | 3.5 | Result | S | 40 |
| | | 3.5.1 | Characteristics of included articles | 40 |
| | | 3.5.2 | The complementary effect of Lean and industry 4.0 | 41 |
| | | 3.5.3 | Integration framework of lean and industry 4.0 | 57 |
| | | 3.5.4 | Driving factors on the integration of Lean and Industry 4.0 | 65 |
| | | 3.5.5 | Challenges in integrating industry 4.0 into lean production systems | 68 |
| | 3.6 | Discus | sion | 68 |
| | | 3.6.1 | Discussion on synergistic characteristics of Lean & I-4.0 | 69 |
| | | 3.6.2 | Discussion on the integration framework of 'Lean & Industry 4.0' | 69 |
| | | 3.6.3 | Discussion on driving factors of integrating industry 4.0 into lean pro- duction systems | 71 |

| | | 3.6.4 | Discussion on the challenges of integrating industry 4.0 into lean pro- duction systems | 72 |
|---|---------------|-----------|---|----|
| | 3.7 | Conce | ptual integration framework | 73 |
| | | 3.7.1 | Rationale beyond the integration framework | 73 |
| | | 3.7.2 | Theoretical foundation of proposed framework | 73 |
| | | 3.7.3 | Phase-1: Defining the dynamics of 'Lean 4.0' framework (GST principles 1, 2 & 3) | 74 |
| | | 3.7.4 | Phase-2: Designing the boundary and hierarchical structure of 'Lean 4.0' (GST principles 4 & 5) | 75 |
| | | 3.7.5 | Phase-3: Measuring the impact of 'Lean 4.0' (GST principle 6) | 75 |
| | | 3.7.6 | Phase-4: Analyzing the performance of 'Lean 4.0' (GST principle 7) | 76 |
| | | 3.7.7 | Phase-5: Sustaining synergy of 'Lean 4.0' (GST principle 8 & 9) | 77 |
| | 3.8 | Summ | ary & limitations | 77 |
| 4 | Inter Effe | caction l | between Lean and Industry 4.0: A Case Study for Overall Equipment | 79 |
| | 4.1 | Backg | round study | 79 |
| | 4.2 | Interac | ction between lean and industry 4.0 | 80 |
| | 4.3 | Worki | ng methodology | 81 |
| | 4.4 | Develo | opment of the research hypothesis | 81 |
| | | 4.4.1 | First hypothesis | 81 |
| | | 4.4.2 | Second hypothesis | 82 |
| | | 4.4.3 | Third hypothesis | 82 |
| | 4.5 | Resear | ch questions | 82 |
| | 4.6 | Resear | ch strategy | 82 |
| | 4.7 | Experi | mental environment | 83 |
| | 4.8 | Experi | mental setups | 83 |
| | 4.9 | Defini | ng the lean tool | 86 |

| 4.10 | Defect inspection | 37 |
|------|---|----|
| 4.11 | Defining the Industry 4.0 technology | 38 |
| 4.12 | Design of the treatment | 38 |
| | 4.12.1 Control | 38 |
| | 4.12.2 Vision technology 8 | 39 |
| | 4.12.3 Check-piece |)0 |
| | 4.12.4 Check-piece and vision technology |)1 |
| 4.13 | Defining the key performance indicators |)1 |
| 4.14 | Data collection |)3 |
| 4.15 | Data analysis |)3 |
| 4.16 | Results |)4 |
| | 4.16.1 Normality of treatment data |)4 |
| | 4.16.2 Descriptive analysis of treatment's outcomes 9 |)5 |
| | 4.16.3 Analysis of variance of four treatments |)9 |
| | 4.16.4 Equal variance |)1 |
| | 4.16.5 Equal variance tests for treatments - 'Control' & 'Lean' |)1 |
| | 4.16.6 Equal variance test for treatments-'Control' & 'Industry 4.0' 10 |)2 |
| | 4.16.7 Equal variance tests for treatments-'Control' & 'Lean & Industry 4.0' . 10 |)3 |
| | 4.16.8 Evidence for hypothesis-1 |)4 |
| | 4.16.9 Evidence for hypothesis-2 |)5 |
| | 4.16.10 Evidence for hypothesis-3 |)5 |
| | 4.16.11 Analysis of variance of order levels of treatment -'Industry 4.0' 10 |)6 |
| | 4.16.12 Demographic impact on subject's performance |)7 |
| 4.17 | Discussion |)9 |
| | 4.17.1 Which is more efficient, the mistake-proof (Lean) device or the control (paperwork instruction)? |)9 |

| | | 4.17.2 | Does the implementation of 'Industry 4.0' have a significant impact on enhancing worker's performance? |
|---|------|------------|--|
| | | 4.17.3 | To what extent does the synergy between 'Lean' and 'Industry 4.0' lead to a significant improvement in worker performance? |
| | | 4.17.4 | Does a person's demographic background have an impact on their per- formance? |
| | 4.18 | Summa | ary of the study |
| 5 | Impa | act of a l | palanced workflow in productivity and efficiency improvement 114 |
| | 5.1 | Introdu | uction |
| | 5.2 | Literat | ure review |
| | 5.3 | Resear | ch questions and hypotheses |
| | 5.4 | Metho | dology |
| | | 5.4.1 | Working procedures |
| | | 5.4.2 | Discrete event simulation modeling |
| | | 5.4.3 | Simio software for DES modeling |
| | | 5.4.4 | Current workflow |
| | | 5.4.5 | Strategy followed by subjects in assembling |
| | | 5.4.6 | Subjects' adherence to uncovered workflows |
| | | 5.4.7 | Balanced workflow investigation |
| | | 5.4.8 | Measuring scales/measurements in simulation modeling 133 |
| | | 5.4.9 | Aalysis of variance |
| | | 5.4.10 | Throughput (TP) |
| | | 5.4.11 | Time in System (TIS) |
| | | 5.4.12 | Cycle time (CT) |
| | | 5.4.13 | Model assumptions |
| | 5.5 | Model | developments |
| | | 5.5.1 | Model testing for its functionality |

| | | 5.5.2 | Model testing for its initial bias | 142 |
|----|--------|-----------|--|-----|
| | | 5.5.3 | Model testing for its ideal replications | 143 |
| | | 5.5.4 | Model testing for its accuracy and verification | 147 |
| | | 5.5.5 | Determining the processing time distribution of object server instances . | 151 |
| | 5.6 | Results | 3 | 151 |
| | | 5.6.1 | Visual analysis of DES model outcomes | 155 |
| | | 5.6.2 | Testing hypothesis-1 | 159 |
| | | 5.6.3 | Testing hypothesis-2 | 160 |
| | 5.7 | Discus | sion | 161 |
| | | 5.7.1 | The impact of a balanced workflow on productivity and cycle time | 162 |
| | | 5.7.2 | The implication of the DES modeling in exploring an efficient balance workflow | 164 |
| | 5.8 | Summa | ary | 167 |
| 6 | Conc | clusion | | 169 |
| | 6.1 | Contril | putions | 169 |
| | 6.2 | Limita | tions | 170 |
| | 6.3 | Future | work | 171 |
| Re | ferenc | ces | | 174 |
| Aŗ | pendi | ces. | | 205 |
| A | Ranc | lom Tre | atments Assign to Subjects | 206 |
| В | Code | e sheet . | | 209 |
| С | Data | collecti | on sheet | 211 |

List of Figures

| 2.1 | Most common types of errors reported in the literature | 12 |
|-----|---|----|
| 2.2 | Toyota's problem-solving wheel | 17 |
| 2.3 | Research stream of I-4.0 [1] | 22 |
| 2.4 | Vertical integration of I-4.0 | 24 |
| 3.1 | Basic steps of SLR | 38 |
| 3.2 | Overall summary of the included articles in the SLR | 42 |
| 3.3 | Studied articles across the year | 42 |
| 3.4 | Publication types of included articles | 43 |
| 3.5 | Distribution of databases of included articles | 43 |
| 3.6 | Distribution of included articles according to study's types | 43 |
| 3.7 | Distribution of articles according to RQs. Here, RQ1: Is there any synergy between Lean and I-4.0? RQ2: Is there any strategic framework for Lean and I-4.0 integration? RQ3: What key success factors need to be considered for integration? RQ4: What challenges need to be considered for integration? | 44 |
| 3.8 | Types of included articles. | 44 |
| 3.9 | A conceptual framework for the integration of Lean tools and I-4.0 technology . | 74 |
| 4.1 | Lean education lab at Department of Industrial and System Engineering, Auburn University | 84 |
| 4.2 | Cell-1 of the Lean education lab. It is one of the three cells of the Lean Man- ufacturing Lab. Production stations from 1 to 5 are designed & established in this cell. | 84 |
| 4.3 | Cell-2 of the Lean education lab. The production stations from 6 to 10 are designed & assembled in this cell. | 85 |
| 4.4 | Cell-3 of the Lean education lab. The production stations from 11 to 15 are designed & assembled in this cell. | 85 |
| 4.5 | The production station 10 of the Lean education lab. The interaction between Lean (mistake-proof) and I-4.0 (vision technology) was performed at this station. | 86 |

| 4.6 | Paper-work instruction/control. These instructions are used in assembling the studied SUV model cars |
|------|---|
| 4.7 | The vision technology/smart camera, which is used as the I-4.0 to inspect the defects on assembled studied SUV model cars |
| 4.8 | Vision technology/smart camera' Fixture. It is used to properly position the car under the smart camera for its digital inspection |
| 4.9 | The check-piece, which is used as a mistake-proof device - a Lean tool 92 |
| 4.10 | Normality check for treatment - 'Control' |
| 4.11 | Distribution fit for treatment - 'Control' |
| 4.12 | Normality check for treatment - 'Lean' |
| 4.13 | Distribution fit for treatment - 'Lean' |
| 4.14 | Normality check for treatment - 'Industry 4.0' |
| 4.15 | Distribution fit for treatment - 'Industry 4.0' |
| 4.16 | Normality check for treatment - 'Lean & Industry 4.0' |
| 4.17 | Distribution fit for treatment - 'Lean & Industry 4.0' |
| 4.18 | Box plot of studied four treatments. It is noted that individual standard devia- tion is used to calculate the intervals |
| 4.19 | Equal variance test (Bonnet & Levene) for treatments- 'Control' & 'Lean' 102 |
| 4.20 | Equal variance test (Bonnet & Levene) for treatments- 'Control' & 'Industry 4.0'103 |
| 4.21 | Equal variance test (Bonnet & Levene) for treatments- 'Control' & 'Lean & Industry 4.0' |
| 5.1 | Basic steps of DES modeling |
| 5.2 | Current workflow instructions of 'Lean Education Laboratory' |
| 5.3 | The strategy followed by subjects in assembling the cars of SUV model 128 |
| 5.4 | Observed workflow, S1. The number represents the sequence of picking and placing the Lego parts during the assembly |
| 5.5 | Observed workflow, S2. The number represents the sequence of picking and placing the Lego parts during the assembly |

| 5.6 | Observed workflow, S3. The number represents the sequence of picking and placing the Lego parts during the assembly |
|------|--|
| 5.7 | Observed workflow, S4. The number represents the sequence of picking and placing the Lego parts during the assembly |
| 5.8 | Observed workflow, S5. The number represents the sequence of picking and placing the Lego parts during the assembly |
| 5.9 | Observed workflow, S6. The number represents the sequence of picking and placing the Lego parts during the assembly |
| 5.10 | Observed workflow, S7. The number represents the sequence of picking and placing the Lego parts during the assembly |
| 5.11 | Observed workflow, S8. The number represents the sequence of picking and placing the Lego parts during the assembly |
| 5.12 | DES model component are defined in a structured way |
| 5.13 | DES model facility view (workflow sequence - S1) |
| 5.14 | The 'Part' table generation for model entity (PartA) entering into the DES model (workflow sequence - S1) |
| 5.15 | The 'Seq' table generated in DES model facility for model entity (PartA) enter- ing into the assemble line (workflow sequence - S1) |
| 5.16 | Resource seizing and releasing execution through 'Seize1' & 'Release1' event processes (workflow sequence - S1) |
| 5.17 | Setting the DES model's object instance properties (workflow sequence - S1) . 140 |
| 5.18 | Initialized a process to create the entities once at a time (workflow sequence - S1)141 |
| 5.19 | Initial bias region of run time of the testing DES model |
| 5.20 | Half-Width variation of Throughput (TP) presented through Pareto Analysis across replication ranges |
| 5.21 | Half-Width variation of Time in System (TIS) presented through Pareto Anal- ysis across replication ranges |
| 5.22 | Distribution plot of model and subject outcomes |
| 5.23 | Performance distribution of model and subject in TIS |
| 5.24 | Mean difference of model and subject outcomes for TP |
| 5.25 | Mean difference of model and subject outcomes for TIS |

| 5.26 | SMORE visual for half-width inspection of Throughput (TP) and Time in System (TIS) (S1 & S2) |
|------|--|
| 5.27 | SMORE visual for half-width inspection of Throughput (TP) and Time in System (TIS) (S3 & S4) |
| 5.28 | SMORE visual for half-width inspection of Throughput (TP) and Time in System (TIS) (S5 & S6) |
| 5.29 | SMORE visual for half-width inspection of Throughput (TP) and Time in System (TIS) (S7 & S8) |
| 5.30 | Average model outcomes in Throughput (TP) for eight workflows (S1-S8) 158 |
| 5.31 | Average model outcomes in Time In System (TIS) for eight workflows (S1-S8) 159 |
| 5.32 | Grouping information using the Tukey method for TP |
| 5.33 | Grouping information using the Tukey method for TIS |
| A.1 | Random treatments assigned to subjects-first slot |
| A.2 | Random treatments assigned to subjects-second slot |
| B.1 | Code number for subject recruitment |
| C.1 | Data collection sheet |

List of Tables

| 3.1 | Three groups of keywords |
|------|---|
| 3.2 | Key Lean tools and I-4.0 technologies with their major contributions 45 |
| 4.1 | Analysis of variance of the studied treatments |
| 4.2 | One-way ANOVA for four treatments |
| 4.3 | Equal variance tests ('Control' Vs. 'Lean') |
| 4.4 | Equal variance tests ('Control' Vs. 'Industry 4.0') |
| 4.5 | Equal variance tests ('Control' Vs. 'Lean & Industry 4.0') |
| 4.6 | Two sample t-test ('Control' Vs. 'Lean') |
| 4.7 | Two sample t-test ('Control' Vs. 'Industry 4.0') |
| 4.8 | Two sample t-test ('Control' Vs. 'Lean & 'Industry 4.0') |
| 4.9 | Analysis of variance for order level of treatment-'Industry 4.0 |
| 4.10 | A Tukey LSD model summary for order-levels of 'Industry 4.0' |
| 4.11 | A Tukey LSD comparison for order-levels of 'Industry 4.0' |
| 4.12 | Demographic impact on subject's performance |
| 5.1 | TP and its HW across different scenarios |
| 5.2 | TIS and its HW across different scenarios |
| 5.3 | Half-width variation for TIS & TP |
| 5.4 | Paired comparison with respect to TP |
| 5.5 | Paired comparison with respect to TIS |
| 5.6 | Server processing time (sec) for S1 |
| 5.7 | Server processing time (sec) for S2 |
| 5.8 | Server processing time (sec) for S3 |
| 5.9 | Server processing time (sec) for S4 |

| 5.10 | Server processing time (sec) for S5 | 154 |
|------|--|-----|
| 5.11 | Server processing time (sec) for S6 | 154 |
| 5.12 | Server processing time (sec) for S7 | 155 |
| 5.13 | Server processing time (sec) for S8 | 155 |
| 5.14 | ANOVA for Throughput (1000 Iterations) | 159 |
| 5.15 | Analysis of variance of TP | 160 |
| 5.16 | ANOVA for Time In System (1000 Iterations) | 161 |
| 5.17 | Analysis of variance of TIS | 162 |

Chapter 1

Introduction

1.1 Background of the study

Lean Production (LP) is a manufacturing method that emphasizes the reduction of waste and improvement of efficiency in the production process. The goal of LP is to minimize waste in all production areas, such as overproduction, waiting, defects, unnecessary processing, excess inventory, unnecessary motion, and underutilized employees [2, 3]. By eliminating waste, LP can reduce production costs, improve product quality, and shorten lead times [4]. The significance of identifying and minimizing faults in the manufacturing process is highlighted by this approach. It employs various lean principles for detecting and minimizing defects, such as recognizing the value, analyzing the flow, implementing a pull production system, continuously improving, and striving for perfection [5]. By recognizing the value that a product or service provides to the customer, mapping out the production process, producing in small batches, empowering employees to identify and address defects, and continuously improving production processes, companies can reduce waste, enhance product quality, and increase customer satisfaction. LP fosters a culture of quality and continuous improvement, focusing on meeting customer needs and expectations, eliminating defects, and enhancing overall production efficiency [6, 4, 7].

According to the literature, the Lean principles were first developed by Toyota in the 1950s as a response to the post-World War II economic environment in Japan, which was characterized by limited resources and intense competition and is known as the Toyota Production System (TPS). The TPS's goal was to develop a manufacturing system that was highly efficient, flexible, and capable of producing high-quality products at low cost [8]. The TPS methodology that Toyota developed emphasized the importance of reducing waste and maximizing efficiency in the production process [9]. Toyota identified seven types of waste: overproduction, waiting, defects, unnecessary processing, excess inventory, unnecessary motion, and underutilized employees [10]. By identifying and eliminating these wastes, Toyota was able to reduce production costs, improve product quality, and shorten lead times. Over time, the TPS has

been commonly used in the manufacturing world, and in 1988 it was characterized by the term 'Lean' by John Krafcik [10].

Meanwhile, since 2011, the manufacturing industry has witnessed the emergence of I-4.0 (I-4.0), which involves the integration of digital technologies into the manufacturing process. I-4.0 is characterized by a cyber-physical system (CPS) where the physical and virtual worlds are connected, and the control system is distributed [11]. Nowadays, I-4.0 is considered a new paradigm for connecting people, machines, and processes within the changing operative framework conditions and distributed management systems [12]. Consequently, the appearance of I-4.0 in manufacturing creates pressure on manufacturers to speed up and be more competitive.

Although LP and I-4.0 aim to improve productivity, their approaches differ in emphasis. LP focuses on continuous improvement and harnessing human creativity to streamline processes and eliminate waste. It adheres to principles such as Just-In-Time (JIT), Kanban, and Pull production systems. However, in developing and implementing these production systems, leveraging human creativity to design efficient workflows, optimize resource utilization, and foster innovation throughout the organization is imperative [13, 14, 15]. On the other hand, I-4.0 emphasizes the strategic application of cutting-edge technologies, renowned for their robustness, to drive productivity improvements [16, 17, 18]. The key lies in effectively harnessing these I-4.0 technologies and applying them where they can yield the most significant impact, ensuring optimal results in modern manufacturing environments. Therefore, in light of the need to increase productivity, researchers have identified the importance of integrating both Lean and I-4.0 paradigms. However, the current literature suggests a lack of studies exploring the synergies between the two paradigms, and the few that do exist are largely limited to conceptual modeling rather than practical research in the field [19]. Furthermore, integration frameworks are lacking to successfully and sustainably merge Lean and I-4.0.

This study aimed to address some gaps in the manufacturing industry by investigating the synergies between Lean and I-4.0. A SLR will was conducted to achieve this, and a conceptual framework was proposed to integrate both paradigms. The study also aimed to evaluate the impact of the interaction between Lean and I-4.0 on the Overall Equipment Effectiveness (OEE). To do so, a prototype environment was created for assembling the SUV model car using lego

parts. Furthermore, the study aimed to determine the best sequence of picking and placing the lego parts for assembling the SUV cars using DES.

1.2 Problem statement

The manufacturing industry is facing intense competition, which is putting pressure on it to improve its efficiency and productivity. One way to achieve this is by improving the overall equipment effectiveness (OEE) [20, 21]. OEE depends on three key factors: performance, quality, and availability. Lean principles have been instrumental in boosting OEE over the past 40 years by optimizing resource utilization, improving quality standards, and maximizing performance and availability. Meanwhile, since 2011, I-4.0 has been introduced to the manufacturing industry. As a result, there is a need to explore the effectiveness of integrating Lean and I-4.0 [15, 22] since both paradigms carry the same objectives to improve productivity.

Researchers and industry experts are increasingly interested in uncovering the synergies between Lean and I-4.0, striving to create an integration framework that harmonizes these two approaches [23, 24, 25]. The integration of I-4.0 into LP systems remains largely theoretical, with limited practical implementations [26, 22]. There's a scarcity of studies assessing the depth of their relationship. Additionally, there is a wide range of Lean tools and I-4.0 technologies, and it is necessary to investigate the one-to-one relationships among them and identify the factors that affect their successful integration [4, 6].

To better understand the relationship between Lean and I-4.0, we need to conduct further research. To explore the intensity of relationship between Lean and I-4.0, making one-to-one interaction between a specific Lean tool and a specific I-4.0 technology is required [27, 24]. It is essential to define the key performance indicators (KPI) to measure their combined impact. It is also important to explore the framework that exists or not for integrating I-4.0 technologies into LP systems. This requires investigating the direct relationships between specific Lean tools and I-4.0 technologies, as well as exploring integration strategies. This study aims to analyze the relationship between Lean and I-4.0 and propose an effective framework for integrating I-4.0 technologies into LP systems.

1.3 Research objectives

Three objectives are defined in the study:

- 1. To propose a conceptual integration framework to integrate I-4.0 technologies into the LP system
- To make the interaction between mistake-proof devices of Lean tools and sensor technology of I-4.0 technologies and measure their mutual impact on operational performance in OEE
- 3. To investigate the impact of workflow layout in the performance improvement of an manufacturing process by using the Discrete Event Simulation (DES) modeling

1.4 Research questions

Based on the above-mentioned current developments in the respective fields, the following research question was formulated:

- RQ1: Does a complementary relationship exist between a Lean tool/principle and an Industry 4.0 technology?
- RQ2: Does an integration framework exist for integrating Industry 4.0 technologies into the Lean Production systems?
- RQ3: Does a balanced workflow layout significantly improve operational performance on a manufacturing floor?
- 1.5 Research contributions

This paper proposes three research contributions to enhance the OEE of manufacturing systems driven by Lean and I-4.0.

The **first**, contribution is investigating the synergistic relationship between Lean and I-4.0 through an SLR and explores the theoretical framework to integrate Lean and I-4.0. The current

frameworks being used are examined, and existing gaps are identified. An improved conceptual integration framework is proposed based on these gaps and the context.

The **second**, research contribution is the one-to-one interaction between Lean and the I-4.0 technology. Specifically, the interaction is conducted between Poka-yoke or mistake-proof tool and vision technology. Four treatments were randomly assigned to each subject to identify the effect of Lean and I-4.0 interaction on the OEE improvement. To complete the experiment 48 subjects were invited. They assembled the SUV model cars using Lego parts and their performance and quality data were recorded to evaluate the impact of each treatment and make decisions against the hypothesis.

The **third** research contribution of this dissertation work is to identify the impact of a balanced workflow in improving the productivity and efficiency of a manufacturing floor. We observed that research subjects followed several workflow sequences in assembling the SUV cars during their participation. We recorded the time taken by each subject to pick and place each Lego part to assemble the car. Also, we observed the sequences are followed by subjects. Based on this information the whole process was mimicked virtually using a DES modeling. Finally, we explored the impact of a balanced workflow on the productivity and efficiency improvement of an automotive manufacturing process.

1.6 Dissertation outlines

This dissertation is structured as follows. Chapter 1 presents the introduction to the problem statement, research questions and hypothesis, contributions, and structure of the dissertation. Chapter 2 provides background on Lean principles, Lean tools, the concept of I-4.0, integration framework of Lean and I-4.0. Chapter 3 presents the basic tools and materials required to conduct the study, working procedures, and methods. Chapter 4 presents the experimental interaction between the mistake-proof tool and vision technology. Chapter 5 presents the role of a balanced workflow layout in improving the productivity and efficiency of a manufacturing floor using DES modeling. Finally, Chapter 6 presents conclusions, limitations, and future work.

Chapter 2

Background and Literature

2.1 What is Lean?

Lean is a philosophy that aims to produce more finished goods with fewer raw materials or parts [2]. It is an art of thinking to use scarce resources most efficiently in the respective production strategy. In the Lean philosophy, continuous incremental improvements are highly valued [14]. It is always focused on achieving zero-defect production through the continuous improvement strategy [28]. To obtain zero-defect production, it is essential to continuously identify different production types and eliminate those from the production system. The lean principle is also highly customer-centered; hence, it is often called production strategy from the customers' perspective [29]. Thus, it focuses on customer satisfaction. Alternatively, it can be stated that Lean focuses on identifying and solving the customers' problems persistently.

The lean approach performs the activities that add value for the customers. It focuses on eliminating those activities from the production systems, which are not adding value for the customers [30, 3]. The associated people with the production system, such as the operators, managers, and plant managers, are all trying to employ their creativity to add value to their products for customer satisfaction [31, 32]. They are being involved in a continuous improvement project for better quality, lower cost, and shorter lead time. Thus, the Lean implementing organization is highly adaptive and flexible with the customers' demand fulfillment. The enterprise is supported by management systems designed for the specific needs of the organization and its customers, suppliers, community, and employees. Consequently, the Lean organization continuously focuses on improving customer satisfaction through three viewpoints [8]:

- 1. Value creation with the respective products
- 2. Adaptability and
- 3. Use of the products

Lean thinking and practice can occur wherever products or services are designed, produced, and distributed, regardless of sector. However, there are many failed applications of Lean. These are often marked by early progress followed by back-sliding [33, 34]. Although we can point to many causes of such failure, the most common seems to be applying Lean practice without sufficient Lean thinking. The application of Lean problem-solving tools in isolation often yields quick positive results that prove to be difficult to sustain [35, 14]. In contrast, a more sustainable Lean transformation requires deeper thinking about purpose, process, capabilities, behaviors, and the management system required to make it all work [36, 37]. It also requires reflection on underlying assumptions in the organization and how they might have to change.

2.2 Lean principles

Lean principles, also known as the Toyota Production System (TPS), are a set of management practices that aim to optimize processes and minimize waste [2]. These principles were developed by Toyota Motor Corporation (TMC) in the 1950s and have since been widely adopted by organizations in various industries [3]. According to Womack and Jones, the five core principles of lean are: specify value, identify the value stream, flow, pull, and strive for perfection [5]. These principles aim to create a culture of continuous improvement, eliminate non-value-added activities, and focus on delivering value to the customer. By adopting lean principles, organizations can achieve greater efficiency, reduce costs, and improve quality. Moreover, lean principles emphasize respect for people and aim to empower employees to identify and solve problems. Overall, lean principles offer a systematic approach to process improvement that can benefit organizations in various sectors [5]. A brief description of these basic principles of Lean is depicted as follows:

1. Value: The primary principle of Lean Thinking is centered on understanding value from the customer's perspective [8]. This requires organizations to assess who their real customers are and what they consider valuable. This approach highlights the importance of defining value based on how customers perceive it, as they ultimately determine the

value of a product or service [38]. This way of thinking contrasts with the conventional practice adopted by most companies, which tends to specify value from a departmental perspective such as research and development, engineering, or finance. Defining value involves identifying the form, feature, or function that a customer is willing to purchase, especially when they cannot perform the required task on their own or without investing considerable cost or time [39]. Enterprises must precisely define value in terms of specific products with specific capabilities offered at specific prices through a dialogue with specific customers. This enables enterprises to understand and define the aspects of a product or service that are valuable to a customer [40].

- 2. Value Stream: Identify the value stream, which is the sequence of steps and activities required to deliver a product or service, and eliminate any steps or activities that do not add value or contribute to the final product. This principle is based on the idea that value is created through a series of interconnected activities and that companies should focus on optimizing the value stream as a whole, rather than optimizing individual steps in isolation [41].
- 3. Flow: Establish a continuous flow of work through the value stream, ensuring that work moves smoothly and efficiently from one step to the next, without delay or interruption. This principle is based on the idea that interruptions and delays in the production process create waste and reduce efficiency, and that companies should strive to establish a continuous flow of work that minimizes these interruptions [5]. The key steps involved in achieving flow include identifying bottlenecks, balancing workloads, establishing pull systems, and using visual management tools to monitor and improve flow [3].
- 4. **Pull**: Pull is another key principle of Lean Manufacturing (LM), which involves using customer demand to drive the flow of materials and work through the system. This is achieved by creating a pull system that responds to customer demand in real-time, rather than producing based on forecasts or guesses. Establish a pull system, where work is initiated and completed based on customer demand, rather than through a push system where work is initiated based on forecasted demand [3, 5].

5. **Continuous Improvement**: Continuous improvement is a core value of LM, which involves constantly seeking out opportunities to improve processes, reduce waste, and increase efficiency. This is achieved through the use of tools such as kaizen, or continuous improvement events, and the adoption of a culture of continuous improvement throughout the organization [3, 5].

One of the primary principles of LP is to define the value from the customer's perspective. The principal guides organizations to evaluate and reconsider who are their actual customers and what those customers regard as value. This principle emphasizes defining value from the way customers perceive it as customers ultimately decide the value of a product or service [38, 39]. Referring to Emiliani [40], this way of thinking differs from the common practices used by most companies, where they generally tend to specify value from a departmental point of view, such as research and development, engineering, and finance. Defining value is the means of identifying the form, feature, or function that a customer is willing to purchase in the circumstance where they can't perform the required task on their own or without investing considerable cost or time [42, 43]. Womack and Jones stated that enterprises need to "define value precisely in terms of specific products with specific capabilities offered at specific prices through a dialogue with specific customers" [7]. This urge drives us to understand and define whether the aspects of a product or service are valuable or not to a customer.

2.3 Development of lean and lean tools

After World War II, manufacturing companies like TMC faced severe resource scarcity. To overcome this situation, the TMC investigated how to produce more using less and discovered an effective way under Taiichi Ohno's leadership [44]. Ohno focused on reducing the activity, which does not add value for the customer. Eventually, he discovered seven activities that do not add value to the customer, currently known as the seven wastes [45, 44]. In short, between 1948 and 1975, a systematic production approach was developed by Taiichi Ohno, Kiichiro Toyota, and Shigeo Shingo, widely known as TPS and later as LP [2]. Thus, it infers that the

underlying goal of LP is to use the minimum resources for maximum production towards reducing production costs [46]. While many researchers and production practitioners have provided several definitions of Lean concepts, it is generally believed that the Lean philosophy helps companies achieve more with less effort, cost, and time [2]. LP follows a simple production idea, producing the right goods using less towards making the company more responsive to the customer [47]. A bundle of Lean tools has been used in manufacturing and service companies to conduct a systematic investigation for the sake of continuous elimination of waste since the 1950s [48, 49, 50]. These tools and techniques are used to achieve production by eliminating waste and enhancing production efficiency [51]. Likewise, LP is an integrated manufacturing system that uses several tools to produce the commodities at the rate of customer demand [7]. There is no definite number of Lean tools, however, 22 Lean approaches are quoted in several studies [49]. The most common Lean tools are Value Stream Map (VSM), Total Productive Maintenance (TPM), Just-in-Time (JIT), single-minute exchange of dies (SMED), Mistakeproofing, 5S, Kanban, and the Ishikawa diagram [46, 49, 52]. In a study, authors stated that 101 Lean tools and principles could be used for waste elimination [53]. In this context, numerous studies have been conducted to review Lean tools and principles and their effective and efficient utilization. However, the goal of this study is not to review the Lean tools/principles in detail but to investigate the most critical Lean tools that may have a synergistic relationship with I-4.0 technologies.

2.4 Mistakes, defects, and errors in Manufacturing

Defects are a common phenomenon in the manufacturing world. According to Shingo, every defect is derived from the consequence of human mistakes. On the production floor, defects appear when the operator makes any mistakes [28]. Shingo proved this phenomenon by conducting a cause-and-effect analysis between human errors and defects [28]. Others widely approve his experimental analysis in many research [54].

The issue at hand could be how to define a mistake. In this context, many practitioners and scientists have defined the mistakes. Hinckley & Barkan defined a mistake as any execution of prohibited actions, the failure to perform a necessary action, or the misinterpretation of required information for the correct execution of an action [54]. They also discovered a significant number of mistakes, which increased the total defect rate in production [54]. It is brought to light that defects are somehow associated with the consequences of human mistakes [55]. In other words, there is a close association between human mistakes and defect productions [55]. It refers to a causal relationship between defects and human mistakes. In this context, the authors categorized ten different types of human mistakes, that have occurred in manufacturing and safeguards and ultimately produce the defects in production [55]. Misunderstandings, forgetfulness, and errors in identification were recognized as the most frequent mistakes. The author also identified several important manufacturing defect sources [55], as presented in Figure 2.1. However, in some cases, one specific type of defect may derive from several human errors, and thus, root causes analysis is required to identify the sources of each defect [55].

According to Stewart & Grout [56], a mistake is defined as the failure to perform the routine activities, and they defined routine activities as repetitive actions that become routine over time, and mistakes are common in situations where routine activities are triggered in false cases. In manufacturing, an example could be repetitively making similar products, and a slightly different product might trigger the regular action activity, leading to a manufacturing mistake [56]. Fast-Berglund et al. recognized in their case study that the number of errors in manufacturing increases when the products become more complex [57]. It was recognized that the most common error types in the automotive industry included forgetting to connect and tighten parts, fitting parts incorrectly, and missing parts. In their research, these error types covered almost 80 percent of all errors. They suggested that mistake-proofing methods should be used so that decision-making could be done automatically [57]. Numerous studies have identified diverse types of defects. The present study lists several defects, as depicted in the Figure 2.1 [57, 58, 59].

2.5 The conceptual development of poka-yoke

As it is mentioned, the concept of Lean is to produce more using fewer resources [44]. To obtain this goal, a set of Lean tools and production principles were developed, including Poka-Yoke. Poka-Yoke is a Japanese term that means 'mistake-proofing' or 'error-proofing' [60].



Figure 2.1: Most common types of errors reported in the literature

The concept was developed by Dr. Shigeo Shingo, a renowned Japanese industrial engineer and TPS expert [28]. Shingo believed that the majority of errors in manufacturing were not caused by workers' incompetence but were due to the design of the manufacturing process itself [28]. In the early 1960s, Shingo developed a quality control system that relied on simple, low-cost devices to detect and prevent errors before they occurred. This system, which he called 'Zero Quality Control' (ZQC), became the foundation of poka-yoke. Shingo believed that the use of poka-yoke devices would make it impossible for workers to make mistakes, thereby eliminating the need for inspection and improving overall quality [28]. He developed a range of poka-yoke devices, including color-coding, checklists, sensors, and feedback systems, that were designed to catch errors at the source and prevent them from becoming defects. Toyota, which was already implementing Shingo's ZQC system, began incorporating poka-yoke devices into its manufacturing processes in the 1960s. Using poka-yoke helped Toyota improve quality, reduce defects, and increase productivity, ultimately leading to the company's rise to become one of the most successful car manufacturers in the world [28]. Over the years, many other companies have adopted the concept of poka-yoke. It is a widely used quality control tool in manufacturing and other industries today. Using poka-yoke devices has expanded beyond the manufacturing process and into service industries, such as healthcare, where they are used to reduce errors and improve patient safety [61].

2.6 Definition of poka-yoke

Different organizations, scientists, and practitioners have varying definitions of Poka-yoke, but their perceptions are similar. According to the Lean Enterprise Institute, Poka-yoke is a Japanese term that means mistake-proofing or error-proofing, which refers to any mechanism, device, or procedure that helps to prevent errors or mistakes in a process [62]. The ASQ Quality Glossary defined the Poka-yoke as a quality assurance technique that aims to prevent human errors and detect them in advance through the use of automatic devices or methods, thus improving product quality and reducing costs [58]. According to the Daily Six Sigma, a Poka-yoke prevents errors by designing the manufacturing process, equipment, and tools to make it impossible for an operator to make a mistake [63].

Besides the organization's perspective, according to Shigeo Shingo, Poka-yoke is a mechanism to detect defects during the production run of a process or machine [28]. This mechanism has facilitated the inspection of 100 percent of the pieces produced by a particular process or machine. According to Grout, a Poka-yoke is a device associated with the process or machine's operation to prevent errors or defects derived from human mistakes [64]. According to Plonka, Poka-yoke is a systematic way of eradicating errors by identifying and eliminating the sources of respective errors [65]. According to Middleton's definition, Poka-yoke is a methodical strategy for removing mistakes by recognizing the origins of such mistakes [66]. The effectiveness of Poka-yoke in creating an environment free from errors, particularly in the field of manufacturing, has been widely acknowledged [67].

The Poka-yoke approach has been acknowledged as a reliable method for creating an error-free environment, particularly in the context of manufacturing. Also, it can be considered as a method of LM that uses uncomplicated and efficient approaches to get rid of flaws by anticipating, rectifying, or bringing focus to errors made by people before they happen [68].

According to Stewart and Grout, a mistake is defined as the failure to perform the routine activities, and they defined routine activities as repetitive actions that become routine over time, and mistakes are common in situations where routine action activities are triggered in false cases [56]. In manufacturing, an example could be repetitively making similar products, and a slightly different product might trigger the regular action activity, leading to a manufacturing mistake [56]. Fast-Berglund et al. recognized in their case study that the number of errors in manufacturing increases when the products become more complex [57].

Nowadays, many practitioners consider the Poka-yoke as an effective device such as sensors and jigs, and something like these, which can be used as a means of mistake-proofing or error-proofing [59, 3]. According to Saurin et al. Poka-yoke is the device primarily used to detect and prevent abnormalities detrimental to product or service quality or the health and safety of employees [69]. These devices can be physical or functional [69]. In a study, authors considered the Poka-yoke as a control system that prevents defective products from ending up with the customer either passively or actively [59]. Poka-yoke devices are tools that eliminate the effect of human error. Poka-yoke devices do this by shutting down the system when defects are about to occur, making them obvious to identify after they have been made [1]. The two main benefits that poka-yoke devices offer are immediate feedback and 100 percent inspection. Immediate feedback makes it possible to take corrective actions right after the error. The benefit of 100 percent inspection is that defective products will not end up with the customer. These benefits enable poka-yoke applications in self-checks, successive checks, and source inspections [28].

2.7 Functional principles of poka-Yoke

Overall, the functional principles of Poka-yoke are focused on ensuring that processes and systems operate correctly, safely, and efficiently by detecting and preventing errors before they can cause harm or damage. The basic principles of this approach are bulleted as follows:

- **Prevention of errors**: Poka-yoke devices are designed to prevent errors or mistakes from occurring in the first place. They eliminate the possibility of errors by ensuring that the correct steps are taken in a specific order or by making it impossible to perform a task incorrectly [61].
- **Detection of errors**: Poka-yoke devices can also detect errors that have already occurred. They use sensors or other mechanisms to identify deviations from the correct process or product specifications [70].
- **Immediate feedback**: When a Poka-yoke device detects an error, it provides immediate feedback to the operator or the system. This feedback can be visual, auditory, or tactile, depending on the nature of the error [71].
- **Simple and easy to use**: Poka-yoke devices are designed to be simple and easy to use. Operating effectively should not require complex training or extensive knowledge [61].
- **Robustness**: The Poka-yoke device should be designed to withstand environmental or system variations and operate reliably over time. This can be achieved using durable materials, redundant sensors, and fail-safe mechanisms [72].

• **Continuous improvement**: Poka-yoke devices are part of a continuous improvement process. They are regularly reviewed and refined to improve their effectiveness in preventing errors and improving quality [73].

2.8 The implementation strategy of poka-yoke

Poka-yoke is a unique approach to quality control compared to traditional methods. There is no single or specific strategy to implement the concept of Poka-yoke or mistake-proofing. In literature, numerous approaches are available for implementing the Poka-yoke. However, in many studies, Toyota's problem-solving wheel is used [74], which consists of six steps, as shown in Figure 2.2. The team involved in mistake-proofing follows these six steps to identify potential mistake-proofing processes. The initial step involves prioritizing and selecting the problems to be mistake-proofed based on their frequency of occurrence, impact on process flow, and impact on the company and customer. The problem is then analyzed to identify the root cause and determine whether it is due to unnecessary task complexity, a mistake, or variation, which each requires different control methods. In case of unnecessary complexity, the process or product is simplified; in case of variation, traditional variation control methods are used; and in case of mistakes, mistake-proofing methods are employed [74]. If an error has been identified as the root cause of an issue, further investigation can aid in finding solutions.

By categorizing the error, teams can easily locate a list of solution principles and instances that pertain to resolving their issue. The subsequent step is to employ these principles and ideas to devise solutions. It is not sufficient to accept a single proposed solution [75]. Several solutions should be generated, regardless of the problem's complexity. The rationale for creating multiple solutions is to evaluate their comparative strengths and weaknesses. This assessment simplifies the selection of the best solution and highlights common flaws that may be addressed with new solutions that were not initially considered [55]. After selecting the concept, it is put into practice, and its efficacy is assessed. If the solution proves to be effective and can be employed in other areas of work, it is standardized across the organization. The best alternative



Figure 2.2: Toyota's problem-solving wheel

solution is used to solve the problem. After implementing the solution, its efficacy is evaluated for standardization and further use [55]. Likewise, these six steps are employed towards implementing the concept of Poka-yoke.

However, becoming proficient in mistake-proofing takes practice. Mastery in mistakeproofing is achieved through practice. It can be challenging for beginners to come up with solutions because mistake-proofing is not widely practiced, and there are few examples available [76]. Those new to the skill may find it challenging to generate solutions as it is not commonly practiced, and there are few instances to draw from.

From the nature of Toyota's six-step strategy, it can be perceived that various circumstances should be considered towards formulating the solution of a specific error based on the production process. Since it was noted that human error could result in errors or flaws in the production line, the workers' experience is essential to consider in defining the Poka-yoke strategy. With regards to the implementation of mistake-proofing techniques, all respective components should be precise, specific, and appropriate to the individual error or mistake-proofing [56]. However, based on numerous studies, a few essential steps and points are documented as follows:

- Identify and select the problem: The first step is identifying potential errors that could occur in a process. This can be performed by analyzing data on past errors, observing the process, or conducting a failure mode and effects analysis (FMEA) [77].
- **Design mistake-proofing devices**: Once potential errors have been identified, the next step is to design mistake-proofing devices that will prevent those errors from occurring. This can involve designing new tools, modifying existing equipment, or implementing new procedures [70].
- Verify the devices: Before implementing the mistake-proofing devices, they should be tested to ensure they function as intended. This can be done through simulation, proto-type testing, or a small-scale implementation [78].
- **Implement the devices**: After they have been verified and refined, they can be implemented. This may involve training operators on how to use the devices, updating procedures, or modifying the layout of the workspace [70].
- Monitor the process: Once the devices have been implemented, it is important to monitor the process to ensure that they are working as intended. This can be done through regular inspections, data analysis, or process audits [79].
- **Continuous improvement**: Finally, the implementation strategy of Poka-yoke should include a continuous improvement cycle. This involves regularly reviewing the process and the devices to identify opportunities for improvement and refining the mistake-proofing devices to make them even more effective [80].

2.9 The concept of industry 4.0

The improved manufacturing process known as the first industrial revolution began in the 1760s and continued until 1820-1840 [81, 38]. This period was characterized by mechanized production and steam power, which significantly increased human productivity. For instance, the output of a worker who operated a mechanized cotton spinning machine increased by 500 times, and the power of the traditional loom increased a worker's output by over 40 times [82].

The second industrial revolution started in the second half of the 19th century and lasted until the beginning of World War I, from 1870-1914. Mass production, scientific discoveries, and standardization characterized it. Mass production was introduced by Henry Ford, who applied the principles he observed in a Chicago slaughtering house to his automobile manufacturing process.

The third Industrial Revolution, also known as Industry 3.0 (1-3.0), refers to the period of industrialization from the 1960s to the late 20th century [83]. It was characterized by the introduction of computerization, automation, and the use of electronic and digital technologies in manufacturing processes. Critical features of I-3.0 include the use of programmable logic controllers (PLCs), computer-aided design (CAD), and computer-aided manufacturing (CAM) [84]. These technologies enabled manufactures to streamline their operations, increase production efficiency, and reduce costs. Additionally, I-3.0 saw the emergence of new industries such as semiconductor manufacturing, information technology, and telecommunications. The Third Industrial Revolution significantly shaped the modern global economy and laid the groundwork for the Fourth Industrial Revolution or I-4.0 [85].

The Fourth Industrial Revolution, also known as I-4.0, refers to the ongoing digital transformation of manufacturing and production processes. Key features of I-4.0 include the integration of technologies such as the Internet of Things (IoT), artificial intelligence (AI), robotics, and big data analytics [86]. These technologies enable machines, products, and systems to communicate with each other in real-time, leading to increased efficiency, productivity, and customization. I-4.0 also emphasizes the use of cyber-physical systems (CPS), which are connected, intelligent systems that are capable of sensing and responding to changes in the environment [87]. This fourth industrial revolution is expected to transform manufacturing and production across industries and has the potential to create new business models and disrupt traditional ones.

The concept of I-4.0 originated in Germany, where it was seen as a way to maintain the country's competitive advantage in manufacturing [88]. The German government launched the 'Industrie 4.0' initiative in 2011, which aimed to promote the adoption of digital technologies

in manufacturing. The initiative was led by a group of experts from industry, academia, and government, who published a report outlining the key principles of I-4.0 [1].

The principles of I-4.0 include interoperability, which allows machines and systems to communicate with each other; virtualization, which creates virtual copies of physical systems and processes; decentralization, which allows decision-making to be distributed across the manufacturing process; and real-time capability, which enables data to be processed and analyzed in real-time [89].

Several scientists and Industrial practitioners defined the concept of I-4.0, although their focus points are similar. For example, Shrouf et al. stated that the concept of I-4.0 encompasses various technologies and cyber-physical systems, to enhance manufacturing through the integration of physical and digital systems, resulting in greater efficiency, flexibility, and intelligence [90]. Nieuwenhuis & Wells mentioned the term, 'I-4.0' denotes a fresh stage in the industrial revolution, which emphasizes greatly on interconnectivity, automation, real-time data, and machine learning [91]. According to Kagermann et al. I-4.0 is a revolutionary change that allows the integration of both operational and information technology. This integration creates advanced, self-optimizing systems that are capable of learning from data and adjusting to changes in their surroundings [92]. Porter and Heppelmann demonstrated that the term 'I-4.0' refers to the fourth industrial revolution, where physical, digital, and biological systems are integrated, and new business models are developed that take advantage of these technologies [93]. According to Shafiq et al. the fourth industrial revolution, it refers to the digitization of manufacturing, which includes the integration of cyber-physical systems, advanced analytics, and the IoT. This integration leads to the creation of intelligent factories that can cater to customer requirements more efficiently, flexibly, and responsively [94].

Based on the definition of I-4.0, it seems that I-4.0 aims to bring about the creation of digital factories that possess the following characteristics: intelligent networking, flexibility, mobility, incorporation of customers, and novel business models [86]. The fundamental concept behind I-4.0 is to utilize the latest information technologies to incorporate the IoT and services, resulting in the integration of business and engineering processes. This integration enables flexible, efficient, and environmentally sustainable production with consistently high
quality at low cost [95]. Since the launch of the 'Industrie 4.0' initiative, the concept of I-4.0 has gained global recognition, and many countries have launched their initiatives to promote the adoption of digital technologies in manufacturing. The principles of I-4.0 are key to transforming traditional manufacturing into 'smart factories' that are more efficient, flexible, and responsive to customer needs [92].

In recent years, I-4.0 has become a research topic that has received significant attention due to its potential to transform manufacturing by leveraging digital technologies. The research topics primarily focus on integrating physical and digital systems, as well as incorporating advanced analytics, the IoT, and CPS. The ultimate goal of I-4.0 is to create smart factories that are more efficient, flexible, and responsive to customer needs while also maintaining high quality and low cost. However, the concept of I-4.0 is still evolving, and there is much debate and confusion about its scope and definition. As a result, researchers are continuing to explore various topics related to I-4.0, such as data analytics, artificial intelligence, cybersecurity, and human-machine collaboration, to advance the field further and realize its potential. For example, Brettel et al. [1] conducted a cluster analysis to demonstrate the disordered state of the I-4.0 research streams, as depicted in Figure 2.3 [1]. In their article, they listed over 20 research topics considered part of the fourth industrial revolution, with multiple articles associated with each stream.

2.10 Integration strategy of industry 4.0

There are three integration strategies of I-4.0: horizontal, vertical, and end-to-end, which are closely interconnected and crucial for the effective implementation of I-4.0 principles. Horizontal integration strategy refers to the seamless integration of different processes. Vertical integration strategy focuses on the integration of different tiers of the supply chain. The end-to-end integration strategy considers the entire product life cycle, from design to production to distribution [96]. Together, these integration strategies create a fully connected and integrated manufacturing ecosystem, with efficient communication, collaboration, and data sharing across all levels of the value chain, resulting in increased productivity, agility, and responsiveness to



Figure 2.3: Research stream of I-4.0 [1]

customer demands [97]. A brief description of this integration is documented in the following sections.

2.11 Horizontal integration of industry 4.0

Horizontal integration is a strategy that involves merging two or more companies that operate in similar production modes rather than the merging of companies along the supply chain as in vertical integration. This strategy can be advantageous in reducing fixed costs by sharing expenses, leading to economies of scale, higher efficiency, and lower prices for consumers. In the IT and engineering fields, horizontal integration refers to the merging of companies to share resources such as energy, raw materials, logistics, skills, and information, resulting in mutual improvement in efficiency and cost reduction [92]. Also, successful implementation of this strategy can lead to increased flexibility and real-time optimization of networks [98].

According to Brettel et al., horizontal integration allows companies to enhance their capabilities without incurring additional investments [1]. Furthermore, as noted by Carvalho et al., it enables companies to meet their customers' demands sustainably by reducing lead times and ensuring expected quality [33]. This type of integration also promotes emerging and sustainable innovation, which is often challenging to achieve without merging companies, as Koch et al. suggest [81].

One of the advantages of horizontal integration is the transparency it creates, as comparative information and machine status become available, making it easier to optimize maintenance processes [81]. Also, as noted by Koch et al., this integration enables companies to share their complementary competencies, increasing their capability and flexibility and creating new business opportunities [81]. Additionally, tracking product flows and associated data for quality control can help companies make real-time decisions and improve customer satisfaction, as suggested by Moch et al. [99]. However, Brettel et al. noted that designing supply chains that allow for the adaptation of schedules and routes is crucial in the process of merging companies [1].

2.12 Vertical integration of industry 4.0

The implementation of I-4.0 principles in manufacturing involves a production strategy known as vertical integration. This approach involves a company taking ownership of the entire production process, from raw material collection to finished product distribution. Vertical integration integrates all levels of production, from the factory floor to the executive boardroom, using digital technologies [96]. This involves linking together different production process components, such as machines, sensors, software systems, and data analytics tools, to create a seamless and integrated workflow [100]. With vertical integration, data and information can flow seamlessly throughout the production process, allowing for greater coordination and collaboration between different departments and stakeholders [101]. By doing so, the company can streamline its production process by avoiding the need for outsourcing. This can result in cost reduction and greater control over the manufacturing or distribution process. This can lead to improved efficiency, reduced costs, increased quality, and the ability to respond quickly to changes in customer demand or market conditions [96]. According to Enrique et al. and Antony et al., vertical integration can be divided into forward and backward dimensions, as



Figure 2.4: Vertical integration of I-4.0

shown in figure 2.4 [102]. However, this strategy requires significant capital investment, which can limit the company's flexibility.

Numerous definitions of vertical integration are available in the current literature. For example, Kagermann et al. defined vertical integration as the factory's architectural setup where a single entity owns various physical or informational subsystems such as sensors, actuators, manufacturing, and production management [92]. According to Wang et al., with vertical integration, the subsystems are integrated at different hierarchical levels to provide end-to-end solutions or services [103]. Kagermann et al. also mentioned that vertical integration allows the factory to be responsive to customers' needs by using CPS to make the plants actionable [92]. These configuration rules control the production process and its structure, leading to the automatic derivation of case-specific typologies. According to Brettel et al., the success of vertical integration in the production industry leads to the concept of a 'smart factory,' which benefits from real-time quality control, cost reduction, lead time shortening, and efficient resource allocation [1]. Furthermore, by utilizing a CPS-based vertical integration, the production system can be equipped with the ability to dynamically adjust the production schedule in response to changes such as order modifications, variations in price, and fluctuations in quality. This enhances the flexibility of the production process and enables the production systems to be tailored to meet customers' specific needs [104, 98].

2.13 End-to-end integration

End-to-end digital integration defines a holistic digital framework to mitigate the gap between product design and development, enabling the digital engineering view through the production planning, designing, engineering, processing, and other associated services [105]. The end-to-end integration strategy considers the product's entire life cycle and concentrates on value creation. One of the key features of this strategy is to enable real-time access for all associated suppliers for data monitoring so that they can make necessary decisions towards adding the values [1]. Thus, it allows significant optimization by using digital and virtual communication. Kagermann et al. stated that connecting the business process with the end-to-end integration using CPS is a big challenge [92]. In this context, Posada et al. suggested that it is essential to map the entire value creation from customers' demand to product architecture towards integrating the end-to-end integration strategy [105].

Posada et al. explained that end-to-end digital integration is a comprehensive digital framework that aims to close the gap between product design and development, allowing for a digital engineering perspective throughout the entire product life cycle [105]. The end-to-end integration strategy focuses on the product's entire life cycle and prioritizes value creation. Real-time data access for all associated suppliers is a key feature of this strategy, as it enables them to make informed decisions and add value to the product [1]. The use of digital and virtual communication allows for significant optimization. However, Kagermann et al. point out that connecting the business process with end-to-end integration using CPS is a significant challenge [92]. In this context, Posada et al. suggest that mapping the entire value creation process, from customer demand to product architecture, is essential for integrating the end-to-end integration strategy [105].

According to Wan et al., full digitization and virtualization of the real world are necessary to successfully implement end-to-end integration [103]. This requires CPS support throughout the supply chain, from product design and development to manufacturing and distribution, as highlighted by Koch et al. [81]. According to Kagermann et al., unlike traditional manufacturing systems, this integration allows for direct IT support without relying on multiple interfaces [92]. End-to-end integration enables customization of the production process, allowing customers to choose from a wide range of features and products, as opposed to the limited options offered by traditional manufacturing systems. As noted by Kagermann et al. customers' demands and feedback can also be incorporated at every stage of the production system [92]. Consequently, end-to-end integration empowers customers to combine individual components and functions to create their desired products, rather than having to rely on the manufacturer's predetermined product portfolio, as observed by He and Jin [106].

Overall, I-4.0 allows the creation of horizontal value networks at a strategic level, enables end-to-end integration across the entire value chain of the business process level, including engineering, and enables the vertically integrated and networked design of manufacturing systems [92]. The horizontal integration of corporations and the vertical integration of factories inside are two bases for the end-to-end integration of the engineering process because the product lifecycle comprises several stages that should be performed [95]. These features are the key enablers for manufacturers to achieve a stable position in the face of highly volatile markets whilst flexibly adapting their value creation activities in response to changing market requirements [92].

2.14 Key technologies of industry 4.0

As earlier discussed, the term 'I-4.0' is used to describe the fourth industrial revolution, which is characterized by the integration of advanced technologies such as the IoT, artificial intelligence (AI), robotics, and big data into manufacturing processes [107, 90]. However, the key technologies of I-4.0 can be broadly categorized into nine pillars, as follows [108]:

Cyber-Physical Systems: Cyber-Physical Systems (CPS) integrate physical and cyber components to enable intelligent and autonomous operation. They are a key technology for I-4.0 because they enable machines to communicate with each other and with humans, resulting in increased efficiency and productivity [109]. This enables real-time data collection, analysis, and decision-making, leading to increased efficiency and productivity in manufacturing processes. Additionally, CPS can improve safety by enabling machines to detect and respond to potential hazards [107]. Research on CPS is ongoing, with new developments focused on improving their interoperability, security, and reliability in real-world settings.

Internet of Things: The Internet of Things (IoT) is a key technology for I-4.0, as it enables real-time monitoring and control of machines and processes, leading to improved productivity and reduced costs [107]. Primarily, IoT devices are embedded with sensors, software, and connectivity to enable them to exchange data with other devices and systems over the internet. The objects can include everyday items such as appliances, vehicles, buildings, industrial equipment, and machines. The IoT enables the collection and analysis of data from these objects, which can be used to optimize processes, improve efficiency, and create new products and services [110].

Big Data Analytics: Big data refers to the large volume of data that is generated by machines and devices in manufacturing processes. Big data analytics uses advanced algorithms and tools to extract insights from this data, enabling manufacturers to optimize their operations and improve their products [111].

Artificial Intelligence: Artificial Intelligence (AI) refers to the ability of machines to learn and make decisions based on data. In I-4.0, AI is used to optimize production processes, predict maintenance needs, and improve product quality [84].

Additive Manufacturing (3D printing): Additive Manufacturing (AM) refers to the process of creating three-dimensional objects by adding layers of material. In I-4.0, 3D printing is used to create prototypes, customize products, and reduce waste [112].

Augmented Reality: Augmented Reality (AR) refers to technology that overlays digital information on the physical world. In I-4.0, AR is used to provide workers with real-time information and guidance, improving productivity and safety [113].

Autonomous Systems: It refers to machines and devices that can operate without human intervention. In I-4.0, autonomous systems are used to optimize production processes and reduce labor costs [114].

Cloud Computing: Cloud computing refers to the use of remote servers to store, manage, and process data. In I-4.0, cloud computing is used to enable real-time data analysis and communication between machines [115].

Security: Security refers to the protection of data and systems from unauthorized access or attacks. While the I-4.0 technologies offer many benefits, such as increased efficiency and productivity, they also pose significant security risks [116]. Cybersecurity threats such as hacking, data breaches, and ransomware attacks are more prevalent than ever in I-4.0 [117]. To mitigate these risks, companies must prioritize security measures such as regular software updates, strong password policies, and employee education and training on cybersecurity best practices [118]. It is also essential to have a comprehensive incident response plan to minimize the impact of potential security breaches. Overall, as I-4.0 continues to evolve, it is crucial to prioritize security measures to ensure the protection of valuable data and systems.

2.15 Concept of 'Lean Industry 4.0' ('Lean 4.0')

Lean 4.0 refers to the integration of Lean principles and I-4.0 technologies in manufacturing processes to improve efficiency, productivity, and overall performance [119]. It combines the best practices of Lean production, such as waste reduction and continuous improvement, with advanced digital technologies such as automation, data analytics, and machine learning [116]. Lean I-4.0 aims to create a more agile and flexible production system that can quickly adapt to changing customer demands while maintaining high-quality standards [116]. Manufacturers have been using Lean principles and tools for several decades to improve productivity and reduce operational complexity by empowering workers. Lean practices are based on operational

excellence and involve standardizing processes and building a culture of continuous improvement [14, 120]. However, the diffusion of I-4.0 technologies in manufacturing over the last decade has led to a new competitive manufacturing landscape. Lean manufacturers are now experiencing a demand to achieve ever higher level of operational excellence [121]. To attain this higher level of operational excellence, several studies have shown that manufacturers can combine the right technologies and methods of Lean production [122, 14, 123, 124]. This combination of techniques and technologies has resulted in better performance, efficiency, and even self-managing factory operations [31, 122, 14]. When Lean and I-4.0 are implemented together, they are referred to as Lean I-4.0, which can further enhance the benefits of LM.

One study suggested that manufacturing companies could achieve significant synergies by holistically implementing Lean and I-4.0 rather than independently or sequentially [75]. The same study also noted that successful implementation of Lean and I-4.0 together could reduce production costs by 40 percent within five to ten years. Thus, the integration of Lean principles and I-4.0 technologies holds great potential for enhancing manufacturing performance and competitiveness. The integration of Lean and I-4.0 creates new opportunities for achieving operational excellence by encompassing various factors such as safety, quality, productivity, speed, and flexibility [14]. Regarding safety, using I-4.0 technologies, such as sensors in virtual reality, can significantly enhance operators' working conditions. By fitting operators with sensors, they can be alerted to the presence of dangerous gases or the possibility of a collision with nearby forklifts or trucks [125]. Such measures not only reduce the chances of accidents but also increase the confidence and efficiency of operators in performing their tasks. This approach to safety through the application of I-4.0 technologies in LM represents a significant shift towards a safer and more productive working environment.

The production quality can be enhanced by incorporating data-driven control systems in Lean I-4.0, as stated by research [126]. In manufacturing, producing products that do not meet specifications leads to a waste of production capacity. Even worse, it can result in higher costs and damage the reputation of the supplier if poor-quality products are shipped to customers [127]. To reduce errors and improve the rate and speed of error detection, Lean management

tools like self-inspection, Poka-yoke, and jidoka have been developed [125]. For instance, selfinspections have been shown to accelerate error detection and reduce the number of defects by 50 to 70 percent by providing feedback to engineers and operators [125]. However, to achieve zero defects, manufacturers must use a data-driven approach to support self-inspections that identify the root causes of errors [126]. I-4.0 technologies provide context data and detailed tracking, which can enhance error analysis through camera-based visual inspection, correlation models, and real-time monitoring of process parameters [125].

The combination of Lean and I-4.0 has enabled manufacturers to improve the speed of production through real-time data monitoring systems [116]. However, increasing the number of product variants while reducing batch sizes has made production planning more complex, and traditional Lean management tools are not sufficient for planning and controlling production in real-time [121]. To overcome this challenge, manufacturers can apply certain algorithms that make use of real-time data. By doing so, line staff and managers can identify the root causes of performance issues, validate improvement measures, and accelerate the continuous improvement process. This allows for a faster rollout of improvement measures throughout the plant.

Lean methods have long been used to boost OEE by minimizing equipment breakdowns and failures using autonomous or preventive maintenance [128]. Companies can assign their operators specific maintenance responsibilities using autonomous maintenance to reduce downtime to fix minor issues [128]. Advanced analytics algorithms and machine-learning techniques can be used to analyze the data collected by sensors in real-time. This allows for predictive insights that identify potential equipment breakdowns before they occur, reducing disruptions, unnecessary downtime, and replacement costs. Predictive algorithms, sensors, and software have enabled efficient changeover and autonomous maintenance, enhancing the effectiveness of Lean methods in many manufacturing industries.

In conclusion, the integration of Lean and I-4.0 can create a powerful combination that can help organizations achieve greater levels of efficiency, flexibility, and profitability [120]. While Lean provides a solid foundation for process improvement and waste reduction, I-4.0 technologies can collect and analyze vast amounts of data in real-time, leading to more informed decision-making and predictive maintenance [32]. By embracing both Lean and I-4.0 principles and technologies, organizations can improve their operational performance, enhance customer satisfaction, and achieve sustainable growth in today's highly competitive business environment. Therefore, companies must consider the benefits of this integration and adopt a holistic approach to their digital transformation journey.

2.16 Integration of industry 4.0 into lean production systems

Over the past decade, there has been a debate in the manufacturing industry about whether I-4.0 can replace LP principles. While some manufacturers assumed that I-4.0 could replace Lean, several studies have shown that there is a significant co-relationship between the two approaches [31, 17, 124, 119, 15]. For example, I-4.0 technologies can provide data to support Lean initiatives, such as identifying waste and inefficiencies in production processes. At the same time, Lean principles can help to ensure that I-4.0 initiatives are focused on creating value for customers and improving overall business performance [129]. In a study, the authors discussed the integration of Lean principles with modern ICT to meet the rapidly changing demands of customers [130]. The authors pointed out that ICT has potential applications in Kanban production. Specifically, they suggested that ICT could be used to identify empty Kanban bins and initiate replenishment. However, the authors did not specify which ICT technologies could be used for this purpose. In a study, the authors mentioned while Lean principles focus on waste reduction and continuous improvement, modern ICT tools such as big data analytics and cloud computing enable real-time monitoring and analysis of customer demand, production processes, and supply chain operations [120]. By combining these two approaches, manufacturers can respond more quickly to changes in customer demand, optimize production processes, and reduce lead times.

According to a recent study, there is potential for Lean tools such as mistake-proofing to be used in conjunction with I-4.0 technologies like actuators and sensors to enhance quality improvement efforts [24]. Although there is potential for Lean tools and I-4.0 technologies to complement each other for quality improvement, there are currently limited examples of their interaction. In many cases, the benefits of combining Lean and I-4.0 are still mostly theoretical rather than being applied at the practical level. For example, the authors of a recent study [4] suggested integrating I-4.0 technology into the LP system to address some of the limitations of Lean. However, they did not specify these limitations, as noted in a previous study [131]. Indeed, several authors have emphasized the complementary nature of Lean and I-4.0 [4, 119, 95].

Although there is a complementary relationship between Lean and I-4.0, some studies have noted that there is still a lack of empirical evidence [130, 132, 133]. Given the current state of knowledge and the potential benefits of combining Lean and I-4.0, further research is needed to fully understand the nature of their relationship, assess the integration framework, and identify key factors for ensuring sustainability. Many manufacturers recognize the need to implement both Lean management and I-4.0, but they often lack a clear understanding of how to combine the two to achieve maximum benefit effectively. According to a study, companies should approach Lean I-4.0 integration by considering use cases and identifying the best combination of Lean tools and digital technologies for a particular situation [4]. They should then carefully select which use cases to implement to address specific pain points effectively.

Overall, the integration of Lean and I-4.0 provides a unique opportunity for companies to create a more efficient, responsive, and competitive business model. By combining the principles of Lean with the advanced technologies of I-4.0, organizations can achieve a seamless flow of information and materials, leading to reduced waste, increased productivity, and improved quality [129]. Additionally, the integration of Lean and I-4.0 enables organizations to leverage the power of data analytics, artificial intelligence, and machine learning to optimize their processes, make data-driven decisions, and continuously improve their operations [126]. As companies face increasing pressure to adapt to changing market conditions and evolving customer demands, the integration of Lean and I-4.0 can provide a strategic advantage that can help them stay ahead of the curve. Therefore, organizations need to embrace this integration and invest in the necessary resources and technologies to drive sustainable growth and success in the long run.

Chapter 3

Integration of Industry 4.0 into Lean Production System: A Conceptual Framework

3.1 Theoretical framework's background

The integration of Lean and I-4.0 has emerged as a popular topic in the fields of operations management, industrial engineering, and business administration. Theoretical frameworks have been developed to guide the integration process and help organizations maximize the benefits of these two approaches [134]. The theoretical framework for the integration of Lean and I-4.0 draws on the principles of LP, which emphasizes the elimination of waste, continuous improvement, and customer focus [124, 24]. At the same time, it also incorporates the key concepts of I-4.0, such as the IoT, CPS, and advanced analytics.

The framework recognizes that the integration of Lean and I-4.0 is not a one-size-fits-all approach and that each organization needs to tailor its integration strategy to its unique needs and circumstances [135]. It emphasizes the importance of creating a culture of innovation and continuous improvement, essential for achieving sustainable change. Moreover, the framework highlights the need for organizations to invest in the right technologies, infrastructure, and human capital to support the integration process [136]. It also stresses the importance of data-driven decision-making and advanced analytics to optimize processes and improve performance.

Overall, the theoretical framework for integrating Lean and I-4.0 provides a road map for organizations to successfully navigate the integration process and reap the benefits of these two approaches [76]. It emphasizes the importance of a holistic approach that encompasses all aspects of the organization and enables companies to achieve long-term success and competitiveness.

3.2 Foundations of the theoretical framework

Over the past few decades, Lean has been a popular method for achieving operational excellence by minimizing waste and continuously improving processes. However, with the advent of I-4.0 technologies, some may believe that Lean will become outdated and replaced by this new paradigm [137, 138]. However, the fusion of Lean principles with I-4.0 technologies creates a powerful synergy, optimizing processes and driving innovation for enhanced efficiency and competitiveness [31, 122, 14]. The principles of Lean can serve as a solid basis for the effective adoption of I-4.0 technologies. The merger of Lean and I-4.0 can assist companies in achieving higher levels of efficiency, productivity, and quality, as well as empower them to adapt to shifting market demands and customer requirements [31, 4]. Therefore, rather than seeing them as competing paradigms, it is more appropriate to view Lean and I-4.0 as complementary approaches that can work together to achieve sustainable success and competitive advantage in the modern business environment.

The inter-dependency between Lean and I-4.0 is supported by a literature review highlighting how LP process orientation, standardization of work and places, and emphasis on visual control and transparency can facilitate the implementation of I-4.0 technologies. The streamlined process orientation of Lean provides a solid foundation for the automation and digitization of processes that are central to I-4.0 [130, 14]. Furthermore, Lean's standardization of work and workplaces fosters a reliable and consistent environment that can be readily assimilated with I-4.0 technologies. The emphasis on visual control and transparency in Lean also provides the necessary data and information for effective decision-making and optimization of processes, which are essential for I-4.0 [130, 139]. On the other hand, several studies have pointed out that I-4.0 technologies can boost LP practices [31]. I-4.0 technologies, such as the IoT, advanced robotics, and big data analytics, can provide real-time data and insights that can be used to optimize processes and reduce waste [125]. By integrating I-4.0 technologies with LP, companies can achieve greater efficiency, productivity, and quality while reducing costs and lead times [32, 138]. For example, IoT sensors can enable companies to track and monitor the performance of machines and equipment, allowing for predictive maintenance and reducing downtime [140]. Similarly, advanced robotics can automate repetitive and labor-intensive tasks, freeing workers to focus on more value-added activities [141]. Big data analytics can provide insights into process performance and identify areas for improvement, allowing for continuous improvement and waste reduction [111]. For example, integrating factory systems, sensors,

and IoT technologies can improve LP practices such as Kanban, cycle time, and waste reduction [142]. Furthermore, these technologies enable the instantaneous gathering of information that can enhance the process of value-stream-mapping and accelerate the identification of inefficiencies [143, 132]. Overall, the integration of I-4.0 technologies with LP can enhance the benefits of Lean and enable companies to achieve even greater levels of operational excellence.

Previous studies confirm that the relationship between I-4.0 technologies and LP functions in both directions: (a) I-4.0 affects LP, and (b) LP affects I-4.0 [31, 123, 119]. To provide more detail, LP facilitates the progression of I-4.0 by fostering a culture of innovation and efficiency, laying the groundwork for integrating digital technologies and advanced analytics. By embracing Lean principles, organizations can streamline their processes and enhance their readiness to adopt I-4.0 solutions, ultimately enabling them to operate more agilely and responsively in an increasingly digitized landscape [4, 14, 24]. Conversely, I-4.0 enhances LP by providing tools and capabilities to optimize performance and drive continuous improvement. Integrating AI, IoT, and I-4.0 technologies can enhance Lean methodologies by providing real-time data insights and predictive analytics. This enables organizations to identify inefficiencies more proactively. By leveraging I-4.0, Lean practices can become even more agile, adaptive, and customer-centric, leading to higher operational excellence and competitiveness in the digital age. However, a comprehensive strategy for integrating LP and I-4.0 is yet to be explored. This presents an opportunity for further research and development in this dynamic and evolving field [4, 14, 24].

The integration of I-4.0 technologies with LP systems can enhance the benefits of Lean rather than making it irrelevant. Acknowledging this connection is important for companies to achieve long-term success and stay competitive in today's dynamic business environment. In essence, the process-oriented approach of Lean and the automation, digitization, and data-driven decision-making of I-4.0 complement each other, highlighting the interdependence between the two paradigms.

3.3 Literature review on integration framework of lean and industry 4.0

The integration of Lean and I-4.0 has gained increasing attention in recent years, as both paradigms are aimed at enhancing operational performance and achieving competitive advantage. Several studies have investigated the complementary relationship between the two paradigms and suggested that Lean practices might act as a precursor to I-4.0 implementation [131, 19]. However, there is still a lack of a comprehensive integration framework that considers the link between I-4.0 technologies and Lean practices across the entire value chain [123]. Although researchers concur on the empowering impact of executing LP before I-4.0, this influence has been investigated at a general level without scrutinizing the individual LP methodologies that produce it [31]. Furthermore, there is presently a deficiency of thorough pairwise assessments at a practical and technological level capable of elucidating the functions of both Lean and I-4.0 paradigms in the transformation of LP to I-4.0 [119]. These gaps are also associated with the overall shortage of empirical research on this subject matter [31, 123].

In fact, according to a recent review, only 14 percent of the studies in this field are empirical and examine how these associations take place [123]. These various factors have resulted in the absence of a comprehensive integration framework, particularly one that considers the connection between I-4.0 technologies and LP practices across the entire value chain [31, 123]. Dalenogare et al. proposed that it is advisable to implement I-4.0 technologies after the adoption of Lean tools, as LP reduces the process to essential and uncomplicated work with minimal waste, making it easier to automate [131]. In another study, Tortorella et al. observed that Lean practices can serve as a precursor to the implementation of I-4.0 [19].

In a study by Chiarini and Kumar, it was noted that there is a complementary relationship between Lean Six Sigma and I-4.0, with the author suggesting that it is preferable to implement Lean Six Sigma first, followed by I-4.0 [144]. The findings imply that Lean Six Sigma is a precursor to I-4.0. However, how the integration model should be structured and what performance improvements can be achieved and pursued strategically is unclear. Additionally, there was limited evidence of a connection between the Six Sigma DMAIC methodology and I-4.0 technologies and systems. Furthermore, the compatibility between Lean and I-4.0 is still under investigation, and there is a lack of empirical studies on the topic [123]. In-depth and comprehensive pairwise analysis at a practice-technology level is needed to clarify the roles of both paradigms in an LP-I-4.0 transformation [123].

Overall, it can be concluded that numerous studies have been conducted on integrating I-4.0 technologies into LP systems. However, there is still a lack of research that focuses on understanding the most effective ways to integrate these technologies into the LP framework. Future studies should address this knowledge gap and provide insights into integrating specific I-4.0 technologies into specific LP systems.

3.4 Methodology

The SLR methodology is widely used to review and analyze existing literature on a particular topic. In this case, the SLR reviews the literature on Lean and I-4.0 and their integration framework. The review follows the guidelines provided by Kitchenham and Charters [145] and Dyba and Dingsoyr [146] to ensure the quality and reliability of the results. Kitchenham and Charters provide guidelines for conducting SLRs in software engineering [145]. The guidelines cover various aspects of the review process, including planning, conducting the review, and reporting the results. Dyba and Dingsoyr provide further guidance on conducting SLR in software engineering, specifically focusing on evaluating empirical studies [146].

The SLR methodology is a rigorous and systematic approach to reviewing and analyzing existing literature on a particular topic. It allows for a comprehensive and reliable analysis of the current research on the integration of Lean and I-4.0. We followed an SLR methodology involving a stepwise and sequential approach to define the research protocol, including research questions (RQs), keywords, search strings, databases, data extraction, analysis, and reporting. This approach was guided by the guidelines provided by Kitchenham and Charters and Dyba and Dingsoyr. The review process consisted of three stages: planning, conducting, and reporting. Figure 3.1 shows the process and stages involved. In line with Dyba and Dingsoyr's guidelines, we used Boolean operators 'AND' and 'OR' to define the search strings with the keywords.



Figure 3.1: Basic steps of SLR

3.4.1 Research questions (RQs)

The SLR study was conducted by defining four RQs. These RQs are stated below. These RQs guided the selection of keywords, search strings, and other essential components of the SLR methodology.

- *RQ1*: Is there any synergy between Lean and I-4.0?
- RQ2: Is there any strategic framework for Lean and I-4.0 integration?
- RQ3: What key success factors need to be considered for integration?
- *RQ4*: What challenges need to be considered for integration?

3.4.2 Keywords and search string

A set of keywords was selected to investigate the articles in the selected database that support the research questions. The chosen keywords were divided into three groups based on the similarity of the referring field, as shown in Table 3.1. The words from the same group were connected using the Boolean, 'OR,' while it was 'AND' for the different groups, and

likewise, the following search string was formulated: ("Industry 4.0" OR "Industrie 4.0" OR "Fourth industrial revolution" OR "Smart manufacturing") AND ("Lean thinking" OR "Lean Manufacturing" OR "Lean Production") AND ("Framework" OR "Model").

| Group A | Group B | Group C |
|------------------------------|--------------------|-----------|
| Industry 4.0 | Lean Thinking | Framework |
| Industrie 4.0 | Lean manufacturing | Model |
| Fourth industrial revolution | Lean production | |

Table 3.1: Three groups of keywords

3.4.3 Inclusion and exclusion criteria

The studies were included based on the predefined set of inclusion criteria, and similarly, the studies were excluded based on the exclusion criteria.

3.4.3.1 Inclusion criteria

- The article must focus on the research questions and be published in a peer-reviewed journal or conference proceedings
- The article must be written in English
- The article must be published between 2011 and October 2023

3.4.3.2 Exclusion criteria

- Articles published before 2011 must be excluded
- Articles not focusing on the research questions must be excluded.
- Articles published as a workshop, newspaper reports, industry reports, and other forms must be excluded
- Non-English articles must be excluded

3.4.4 Data sources and search strategy

To conduct the study, three databases, ScienceDirect, Emerald Insight, and Taylor and Francis were searched based on predefined research questions and the search string. The primary inclusion criteria were each article's title, keywords, and abstract, while the full text was considered for the final inclusion. After the initial search, 55 articles met the predefined criteria for further exploration. Each of these articles was independently reviewed by the authors to determine their suitability for answering the research questions. The methodology for the study is illustrated in Figure 3.1.

3.4.5 Synthesis and reporting

After screening through the SLR process, all included articles were grouped according to the themes derived from the research questions. Both descriptive and thematic analyses were carried out over the included articles. The key identifying information was extracted from the included articles and recorded in Excel sheets for descriptive analysis. The sub-themes were decomposed from the research question to conduct the thematic analysis for evaluating the research questions qualitatively.

3.5 Results

This section outlines the included articles' fundamental characteristics and the complementary relationship between Lean tools and I-4.0 technologies. Different integration roadmaps and frameworks are explored to effectively combine the Lean tools/approaches and I-4.0 technologies. Additionally, the sustainable integration aspects of Lean and I-4.0 are investigated, emphasizing the importance of a long-term perspective in implementing these paradigms together.

3.5.1 Characteristics of included articles

The included articles were categorized into several groups to analyze the essential characteristics based on the year of publication, sources of databases, nature of publication, types of studies, and country where the study was conducted. The overall summary of the included articles in the SLR is documented in Figure 3.2.

The number of publications from 2015 to 2022, as shown in Figure 3.3, follows an overall upward tendency across the years, referring to an emerging research field. Also, this pattern can be perceived from the highest number of articles corresponding to 2018 with 2, 2019 with 3, 2020 with 6, 2021 with 12, 2022 with 18, and 2023 with 9. A significant number of studies (33 out of 55) were published as journal articles, while the rest (22 out of 55) were conference proceedings, as shown in Figure 3.4. Importantly, it is noted that other articles, such as blogs, symposiums, newspapers, scientific reports, and technical reports, were not included in this study.

Among the included articles, 31 were from Science Direct, followed by Emerald Insight with 13, and Taylor and Francis with 11, as shown in Figure 3.5. According to the types of study, in number, 30 studies were conceptual, corresponding to the highest, followed by empirical study with 13, and case study with 12, as shown in Figure 3.6. It appears that most of the articles (48 out of 55) pertain to RQ1, while 13, 17, and 8 are relevant to RQ2, RQ3, and RQ4, respectively, as shown in Figure 3.7

Among the included articles (a total of 55) in the study, the highest number of studies were conducted in Germany with 9, followed by Italy with 7, India with 6, the UK with 5, France and Brazil with 4, respectively. Spain, Morocco, and Australia conducted 2 studies each, while the rest of the studies were conducted only once, as shown in figure 3.8. The major Lean tools and I-4.0 technologies are discussed in the included articles were documented with significant contributions in Table 3.2.

3.5.2 The complementary effect of Lean and industry 4.0

As documented in Figure 3.7, the results reveal that the highest number of studies (48 of 55) were conducted to evaluate the complementary status of Lean and I-4.0. For example, Mrugalska and Wyrwicka demonstrated the complementary relationship between Kanban and CPS [132]. More specifically, multiple studies showed that big data analytics significantly improves



Figure 3.2: Overall summary of the included articles in the SLR



Figure 3.3: Studied articles across the year.



Figure 3.4: Publication types of included articles



Figure 3.5: Distribution of databases of included articles



Figure 3.6: Distribution of included articles according to study's types



Figure 3.7: Distribution of articles according to RQs. Here, RQ1: Is there any synergy between Lean and I-4.0? RQ2: Is there any strategic framework for Lean and I-4.0 integration? RQ3: What key success factors need to be considered for integration? RQ4: What challenges need to be considered for integration?



Figure 3.8: Types of included articles.

| Reference | Lean tools | I-4.0 technologies | Major contributions | |
|--|---------------|--------------------|------------------------|--|
| [130] | Kanban | CPS | Lean automation | |
| [124] | JIT, Pull | IoT, RFID | Integration framework | |
| [95] | Not specified | Not specified | Integration framework | |
| [122] | Not specified | Not specified | Integration framework | |
| [147] | Kanban | CPS | Integration framework | |
| [132] | Kanban | RFID | Relationship framework | |
| [19] | JIT, Pull | IoT, BDA | Integration framework | |
| [14] | TPM | CC | Relationship framework | |
| [27] | Not specified | Not specified | Relationship framework | |
| [119] | Not specified | Not specified | Relationship framework | |
| [148] | JIT, TPM | Sensor, AM | Lean Digitization | |
| [19] | JIT, Pull | Sensor, IoT | Lean automation | |
| [42] | JIT, Jidoka | IoT, CC | Relationship framework | |
| [24] | Poka-yoke | CC, AR | Relationship framework | |
| [17] | JIT, Pull | BDA, AR | Relationship framework | |
| [149] | Pull, Flow | IoT, CC | Integration framework | |
| [150] | SMED | RFID, CC | Integration framework | |
| [151] | DVSM | RFID | Lean digitization | |
| [152] | JIT, TPM | RFID, CC | Integration framework | |
| [153] | Kanban, 5S | AGV, RFID | Relationship framework | |
| [154] | Not specified | Not specified | Relationship framework | |
| [30] | 58 | IoT | Lean automation | |
| [155] | Kanban | RFID, CPS | Lean automation | |
| [4] | JIT, 5S | IoT, DT | Relationship framework | |
| [25] | TPM | IoT, BDA | Integration framework | |
| [51] | DVSM | CPS, ICT | Lean digitization | |
| [26] | Not specified | Not specified | Integration framework | |
| [156] | Kanban | AR, DT | Relationship framework | |
| [157] | Jidoka, CI | Not specified | Lean digitization | |
| [144] | 5S, Heijunka | AGV, VR | Relationship framework | |
| [158] | JIT, Kaizen | RFID, IoT | Integration framework | |
| [19] | DVSM | CPS | Lean automation | |
| [159] | 5S, CI | AR, AM | Lean automation | |
| [160] | DVSM | IoT, BDA | Integration framework | |
| [34] | DVSM | Simulation | Integration framework | |
| [161] | Not specified | IoT, BDA | Not specified | |
| [36] | Kanban | RFID | Relationship framework | |
| [162] | Not specified | Not specified | Relationship framework | |
| [32] | Not specified | Not specified | Relationship framework | |
| [76] | Not specified | Not specified | Integration framework | |
| [133] | JIT, Kaizen | AR, IoT | Integration framework | |
| Note: RQ1:Is there any complementary effect of Lean and I-4.0 on operational performance improvement? RQ2: | | | | |
| Is there any strategic roadmap or framework for Lean and I-4.0 integration? RQ3: What critical factors need to | | | | |
| be considered for the sustainable integration of Lean and I-4.0? | | | | |

Table 3.2: Key Lean tools and I-4.0 technologies with their major contributions

the efficiency of the pull production system [133, 149, 19, 30]. Some authors discover the significant effect of big data analytics on the synergy of TPM [158, 163, 19]. A substantial number of studies affirm that the I-4.0 enables the Lean tools/principles to increase the productivity of the LP system [144, 32, 151, 150, 15, 95]. On the contrary, less evidence demonstrated that Lean could assist I-4.0 [22, 32, 149].

Integrating Lean and I-4.0 paradigms has become a topic of substantial research interest in recent years. Lean methodologies are generally viewed as facilitators for implementing I-4.0, while I-4.0 is seen as a way to achieve an expanded Lean enterprise [155]. Mayr et al. asserted that the widespread agreement on the compatibility of Lean and I-4.0 can be explained by conceptual similarities in areas such as objectives (e.g., simplifying complexity), the comprehensive approach, and the crucial role of employees, among other factors [14]. Regarding the joint employment of tools, the literature also includes numerous research papers suggesting the combined use of I-4.0 and Lean tools to improve operational efficiency in manufacturing.

Davies et al. refer to using CPS-supported real-time data to generate e-Kanbans, enabling automatic orders and inventory level control [164]. Furthermore, with the help of RFID technology, a CPS-based production system can collect information about inventory, location, networking, and man-machine interface and enable digitized information sharing between shop floors and business departments [165]. This results in a transparent Leaner process since the efficient communication of changes in components and technical drawings reduces errors, increases capacity, and enhances customer satisfaction. Additionally, CPS-based smart devices, e.g., smart watches, allow operators to receive error messages in real-time and act on repair actions required with no delay. In addition, CPS equipped with proper sensors can recognize failures and automatically trigger fault-repair actions on other CPS [130].

Ma et al. suggested a standardized, integrated approach to design and implement a Cyber-Physical System (CPS) based intelligent system that incorporates Cloud and IoT technology. This approach guarantees flexibility in terms of configuration, deployment, and performance [166]. Additionally, Blunck et al. introduced a framework supported by Cyber-Physical Systems (CPS) in which intelligent agents can autonomously decide on their routes [167]. This framework is valuable in decreasing time and offering flexibility and optimal allocation of production capacity. An IoT-based logistics model incorporating Lean Six Sigma elements proposed by Jayaram et al. allows for a fully autonomous global supply chain with an optimized flow and overall efficiency [168]. This IIoT-supported model enables the communication between production and supply chain with real-time data used to optimize processes and reduce costs and resource consumption.

Ferrera proposed an IoT framework achieving easy integration and data exchange between machines, sensors, and end users of software tools at industrial sites [169]. Similarly, Silva et al. developed a cloud-based application that can process real-time inputs from computational systems within the company to create electronic work instructions and standard words [170]. Another study by Ogu et al. presents the integration of cognizant computing and Lean practices to ensure business success [171]. Cognizant computing provides real-time databases supported by cloud computing and powered by IoT technology. The benefits reported include tremendous savings and returns, reduction in lead times, inventory volumes, process wastes, and minimal rework. In a study, authors noted that in the context of the product development process, implementing the cloud substantially contributes to eliminating waste associated with disconnected users or sending wrong information [172]. Additionally, Mayr et al. highlight how cloud computing and machine learning-based condition monitoring enhance product quality and TPM by reducing machine downtime, rework, and scrapping [14]. Furthermore, the cloud can provide maintenance data to the workers and enable the dynamic scheduling of maintenance activities. The use of Big data to facilitate Lean applications has also been widely reported in the literature. The combination of data analytics and cloud technologies for real-time KPI generation has been suggested by Rauch et al. as an improved data processing approach that, based on current information, can promote the project team's motivation and efficiency [172].

Meudt et al. discuss VSM 4.0 as a new VSM approach focused on data collection, storage, handling, and utilization for KPI generation to achieve maximum waste reduction and appreciation of how information flows within the logistic processes [173]. Similarly, Lugert et al. supported the potential use of Big Data technology for improving the VSM [174]. Their main

focus was to optimize the value stream with the help of data analytics, simulation, and an RFIDsupported user interface that enables real-time results visualization and employee engagement. Mrugalska Wyrwicka agrees that I-4.0 and Lean could support each other and coexist [132]. Sanders et al., in their paper, argue that adopting I-4.0 can help overcome existing barriers to Lean implementation [124].

[37, 31, 147, 19]

In many studies [37, 31, 147, 19], authors have noted the lack of research on integrating I-4.0 into the LP systems. This emphasizes the need for future investigations to explore the synergies and challenges of integrating Lean and I-4.0 frameworks. These studies should use empirical methods and case studies to gain practical insights for organizations. Integrating academia and industry can enhance this discussion, promoting innovation that meets modern manufacturing and business requirements. By closing this research gap, scholars can unlock the transformative potential of aligning Lean principles with the digital capabilities of I-4.0. In this context, Sanders et al. have suggested that there is a need for further research to fully comprehend the relationship between Lean and I-4.0 and the impact they have on operational performance. [124]. Buer et al. also demonstrated a need to understand the compatibility to work together of both Lean and I-4.0 areas [31]. Ana Pereira et al. aim in their research, which includes a literature review, to examine how 12 technologies of I-4.0 can enhance Lean practices and to analyze their implications and advantages for companies orienting toward this new industrial model [175]. Sule satoglu et al. highlighted the relationship between Lean and I-4.0 and suggested a framework that gives guidelines for developing Lean 4.0. In addition, seven technologies for I-4.0 and Lean production-oriented automation applications are also included [176].

In a study, authors mentioned that Lean and I-4.0 are not mutually exclusive, though they are two different paradigms [4]. These two paradigms can be seamlessly integrated. But before integration, ensuring information flows in the right direction is key, as they stressed its importance in production. Getting data to move accurately where it needs to go is crucial for smooth operations. Additionally, they mentioned that I-4.0 could not solve the mismanagement and weakly organized problems.

In their study, Sanders et al. aimed to identify the primary barriers to implementing LM in small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs) in Germany [124]. They found that communication, integration, and monitoring were the main obstacles to implementing Lean principles in SMEs. To address these challenges, the authors suggested using I-4.0 technologies. Specifically, they recommended using RFID and smart IoT devices to implement just-in-time (JIT) production and e-Kanban for pull production. Sanders et al. also noted that the combination of Lean principles and I-4.0 technologies could increase productivity and reduce waste in manufacturing. However, the authors acknowledged that further research is needed to develop a comprehensive conceptual framework for integrating Lean and I-4.0 [124].

Wang et al. (2016) developed a matrix to show the impact of I-4.0 technology on Lean principles [95]. The researchers surveyed 24 I-4.0 project leaders, out of which 8 had experience in both Lean and I-4.0. The matrix displayed a significant relationship between Lean and I-4.0. For instance, I-4.0 technologies such as cloud computing and big data analytics were rated highly for their potential to improve the Jidoka and standardization principles of Lean production. The researchers also mentioned that augmented reality could enhance the 5S, Kaizen, and standardization. However, the study was limited to the authors' experiences and lacked any field-level experimentation. Therefore, the practical interaction between Lean and I-4.0 still needs further investigation [95].

A review study delved into the connection between Lean and I-4.0 [122], examining 31 articles that met their criteria. Surprisingly, only three articles explored Lean within the context of I-4.0, indicating a lack of focus on their integration until 2016. However, the study did not elaborate on the coexistence of Lean and I-4.0. It underscores the need for future research to concentrate on how to integrate I-4.0 into LP systems [122].

Mrugalska and Wyrwicka were inspired by the lack of research on the complementary relationship between Lean and I-4.0 [132]. They conducted a review of previous studies and found that I-4.0 technologies such as CPS and RFID can be utilized as supporting tools to improve the performance of Andon and Kanban. However, the study did not explore the extent to which these I-4.0 technologies could enhance the performance of the Lean system when applied to Andon or Kanban [132].

Kolberg et al. were motivated by the limited customization capability of the LP system, which led them to explore the integration of CPS into the LP system. However, theA review study investigated the relationship between Lean and I-4.0 [122]. The study selected 31 articles based on their inclusion criteria. The results showed that only three articles considered the Lean concept within the framework of I-4.0, indicating that until 2016, significant research was not focused on integrating Lean and I-4.0. However, the study did not explain how Lean and I-4.0 coexist. The study suggests that future research should focus on integrating I-4.0 within the LP system [122]. y also identified a lack of interface between these two paradigms in the manufacturing sector [147]. As a result, they conducted this study to develop an interface that would bridge the gap between LP and I-4.0, ultimately leading to improved productivity that can better meet customers' flexible demands [147].

Tortorella and Fettermann conducted a survey study to evaluate the relationship between Lean and I-4.0 in 110 Brazilian companies [15]. The authors found a positive association between Lean and I-4.0, but they did not analyze the one-to-one relationship between specific I-4.0 technologies and Lean tools. The study concluded that experience in Lean implementation (more than 2 years) positively impacted the association between Lean and I-4.0, but did not explain the reasons behind this outcome. The study also found that company size did not have any effect on the relationship between Lean and I-4.0 [15].

Mayr et al. noticed a gap in the combination of Lean and I-4.0 practices and decided to investigate whether there is a complementary relationship between the two [14]. After analyzing the existing literature, they found evidence to support such a relationship. Additionally, they conducted a case study to evaluate the use of cloud computing technology and digital twins in improving TPM and VSM. Although their findings suggest a positive relationship between Lean and I-4.0, the study lacks empirical data to accurately measure the extent of this relationship [14].

A study was conducted to investigate the impact of the combination of Lean and I-4.0 on operational performance improvement. The authors surveyed 108 European manufacturing companies and analyzed five driving factors, including company size and technological intensity. They found that while LP implementation is independent of I-4.0 adoption, the adoption

of I-4.0 is significantly related to LP implementation. The authors concluded that the combined impact of Lean and I-4.0 is better than LP implementation alone in operation. However, the study's sample size is a weakness that may affect its validity for further use [27].

A literature review examined the complementary relationship between Lean and I-4.0 and the barriers to their integration in manufacturing performance improvement [37]. The authors found a significant relationship between the two paradigms, with Lean implementation often preceding I-4.0 integration. However, they did not comprehensively map specific Lean tools and I-4.0 technologies. The authors identified technological and human factors as barriers to integration but did not consider cost and environmental factors. Some relevant articles were not included, calling for further research to make sustainable decisions in merging Lean and I-4.0 [37].

A survey was conducted by Rossini et al. to investigate the connection between Lean practices and the adoption of I-4.0 technologies over 108 European manufacturing companies [27]. According to their findings, a positive correlation exists between a higher level of Lean implementation and a greater likelihood of adopting I-4.0 technologies. In contrast, companies that do not prioritize Lean principles are less likely to adopt new technologies, regardless of their novelty. This suggests that a comprehensive Lean approach is advantageous for the adoption of I-4.0 technology. However, the authors acknowledge that the study's sample size is limited and that further research is required to validate their findings. Furthermore, the authors did not specify what they meant by a "higher level" of Lean implementation. Overall, the authors emphasize the significance of Lean practices in facilitating the adoption of I-4.0 technologies in manufacturing companies [27].

A study investigated the role of I-4.0 technology in supporting the implementation of Lean principles in the manufacturing industry [42]. To achieve this, five Lean principles - JIT, Jidoka, waste reduction, people and teamwork, and standardization were examined for their connections with eight I-4.0 technologies, including autonomous robots, simulation, system integration, IoT, cloud computing, augmented reality, big data analytics, and cybersecurity. The study discovered a positive correlation between continuous flow, and the IoT and simulation

technologies. The findings indicated IoT had a significant relationship with visual management, continuous flow, pull systems, in-station quality control, and waste reduction. Similarly, simulation was closely related to continuous flow. However, the research did not indicate how these relationships influenced operational improvements. The study was limited in its synergies application; therefore, further research is necessary to validate the proposed links. Moreover, the research did not mention the Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) used for managing these relationships [42].

Shahin et al. conducted a study to explore the connection between Lean and I-4.0 and how they affect operational performance [24]. The study involved a review of the literature to establish the relationship between Lean and I-4.0. The authors concluded that I-4.0 technology could enhance Lean implementation and improve process efficiency. For example, cloud computing can support the Kanban, poka-yoke, and andon Lean approaches, while Big Data analytics can aid the poka-yoke and VSM approaches. Similarly, the VR/AR technology supports the kaizen, and sensor technology enhances the jidoka or quality improvement of the Lean production system. However, the study did not mention the extent to which these relationships can enhance operational efficiency, and there was no mention of the measuring scale used [24].

A study was conducted to evaluate the effectiveness of Lean management in promoting continuous improvement within a company utilizing I-4.0 [149]. The research data were gathered through interviews with five Lean-quality personnel. The study aimed to determine the level of support that Lean provides to the world of I-4.0. The findings revealed that while Lean partly supports I-4.0, it is not entirely supportive. Most of the responses (48 percent) were positive, while 39 percent of the responses were neutral, and a small percentage (8 percent) were negative. The study concluded that a significant percentage of Lean directly supports the implementation of I-4.0 within the organization [149].

Ramadan et al. conducted an exploratory study to enhance the effectiveness of LM by incorporating digital technology [151]. The authors achieved this by utilizing IT-based technologies to digitalize the Lean management process. Specifically, RFID tags were implemented to enable a dynamic flow of value in the value stream mapping of the Lean production system. Additionally, the study proposed and tested a dynamic architecture of VSM. However, more

case studies are required to validate this proposed method's effectiveness. The study also identified some challenges, such as overlapping readings of RFID, which need to be addressed by revising and improving the architecture of the dynamic VSM [151].

A study was conducted to investigate the integration of Lean and I-4.0 technologies to decrease manufacturing company losses [152]. A review study was conducted to clarify the nature of the relationship between Lean and I-4.0, and based on previous research, the authors proposed a relationship framework for integrating Lean tools and I-4.0 technologies. While this framework highlighted a positive association between Lean and I-4.0, it was not validated using empirical data. Furthermore, the study did not discover how much this association contributes to reducing losses, nor was any measuring scale established to quantify this impact. Another limitation of this study is that it focused solely on quality parameters in reducing losses without examining other performance metrics [152].

Throughout a study, Cifone and Staudacher concluded that it is important to analyze the company's culture, mission, and vision before implementing Lean 4.0 [154]. Furthermore, they suggested that the production strategy plan should also be considered in the adoption of I-4.0. The authors emphasized the significance of analyzing the production strategy of operations to apply Lean 4.0 effectively cite cifone_repetitive₂021.

Vlachos et al. conducted a review study to explore the integration of Lean and I-4.0 from a socio-technical system perspective [30]. They revealed that the integration of Lean and I-4.0 integration process is not a straightforward system. Instead, it is a complex system where the ergonomics and socio-technical viewpoints must be considered. However, the study's findings, which suggest the importance of considering socio-technical factors in designing the integration of Lean and I-4.0, were based on a single case study. As such, the validity of the findings may be limited and could benefit from additional validation through multiple case studies [30].

Marinelli et al. conducted a case study in designing Lean automation [155]. In the case study, the authors demonstrated the potential of automating the Kanban-based LP system using CPS and RFID technologies. However, the authors emphasized standardizing each working station in the process line before automation. Additionally, they stated that multiple case studies are required for validation [155].

A study was conducted by Ciano et al. (2021) to explore the relationship between Lean and I-4.0 technology through eight case studies [4]. While the study established a specific relationship between the two, it lacked empirical quantitative data to represent the strength of their correlation and how much it contributes to operational performance. Moreover, the sample case studies were from a single country, which limited their validity. The study also suggested that action research case studies are required to provide clear guidelines for practitioners instead of retrospective longitudinal studies [4].

Tortorella et al. conducted a study to explore the drivers and impediments of integrating I-4.0 technologies in TPM [25]. Four case studies were conducted to answer the research questions. The authors identified management culture, vision, motivation, leadership, and organizational structure as the key drivers for successfully integrating Lean and TPM. Additionally, diverse production systems, employee skill levels, organizational culture, and maintenance competencies were identified as the main impediments. However, the generalizability of the findings is limited due to the small number of case studies conducted. Also, the study did not specify the operational mode of these case studies [25].

Arey et al. aimed to integrate I-4.0 technology into the VSM of operating companies [51]. The study demonstrated the use of CPS in digitalizing the flow of material and information in the VSM. The case study showed a reduction in lead time from 6.5 days to 1 day, indicating the effectiveness of this integration. However, the study's validity is limited due to using a single case study and a single field. Therefore, it is necessary to conduct multiple case studies in various areas to validate the digitalized VSM [51].

A study was conducted to delineate the impact of digital transformation of LP at a different levels [157]. The data were extracted through an SLR to draw an inference from this study. Based on the review analysis, the Lean tools were categorized into five levels, which could benefit practitioners for employing at the root level. However, the relationship between Lean tools and I-4.0 technologies was not depicted. Additionally, their impact on operational performance was not evaluated. Therefore, future research scope is still demanding to find out the one-to-one relationship between Lean and I-4.0 and their effects on Lean production systems [157]. A study was conducted to discover if I-4.0 could impact the operational improvement of the LSS project. The authors interviewed ten experienced managers of ten Italian manufacturing [144] companies. Besides the interview, a holistic literature review was conducted. Based on that, it was postulated that before employing the I-4.0 in any LSS project, it is essential to apply the LSS to make the operation efficient unless it will magnify the inefficiency of the process. Additionally, the I-4.0 technology was analyzed in terms of how it can be used at different phases of LSS. A theoretical framework between I-4.0 and LSS was proposed, but it lacks empirical evidence for validation. Additionally, the small size of interviews reduces its validity for wide acceptance [144].

Tissir et al. conducted a review study to integrate I-4.0 within the Lean Six Sigma approach. The authors stated three stages in integrating LSS and I-4.0: 1) the relationship between LSS and I-4.0, 2) the Implementation of LSS tools and I-4.0 technology, and 3) performance measurement using KPI [120].

To identify the nature of synergistic relationships between Lean tools and I-4.0 technologies, a study was conducted [129]. A bibliometric analysis was conducted over the database, Web of Science, and Google Scholar, to select the most appropriate articles and thus extract the information to analyze the goals. In this context, the authors demonstrated using I-4.0 technologies and Lean tools most in varying manufacturing companies. This relationship between Lean tools and I-4.0 technologies could be helpful to practitioners in selecting and employing the right synergy of Lean and I-4.0. However, the impact of these synergies was not evaluated over the study period, which creates a gap for further study. Furthermore, the limited database considerations limited its validity [129].

A study was conducted to integrate the I-4.0 into the OEE system to reduce waste [161]. A review study was conducted, and came to a decision was that big data analytics, cloud computing, AR, & simulation have significant contributions in reducing the seven Lean waste. However, no empirical evidence or quantitative analysis was presented against their results from the literature review. The specific Lean tools associated with Lean waste management were not delineated with the synergy of I-4.0 technology.

Naciri et al. conducted a study in Mocco to explore the opportunity to integrate the I-4.0 technology in the LM environment to improve operational performance [36]. Throughout a single case study, the authors showed a few combinations of Lean principles and I-4.0 technology that can be applied to LP systems, such as RFID for Lean production flow and the sensor for Kanban & Andon systems. Nonetheless, this conclusion was driven by a single case study [36].

A study was conducted to identify how Lean tools and I-4.0 technology coexist in process performance improvement [163]. In this essence, the authors conducted an SLR. The data extracted from the included articles were described mainly for characterizing the articles according to publication year, database, and country. The authors explored the nature of the association between Lean tools and I-4.0 technology- how they work together for performance improvements. For example, the authors have stated that CPS positively associates with jidoka, Kanban, and WIP (Work in Process). On the other hand, the performance of TPM can be enhanced by the collaboration of robotics and AR. However, it hasn't been determined through any quantitative analysis to what extent their relationship exists. This is a common gap like others, which urges more empirical studies to be conducted [163].

A study by Kolberg and Zühlke aimed to increase the level of automation in the LP system through the use of I-4.0, particularly the CPS [130]. The authors discovered a research gap in Lean automation, specifically that the LP system is typically restricted to fixed cycle times and production sequences, which may not be suitable for individual single-item production. Additionally, any modifications to the LP system require significant effort in adjusting the Kanban cards to achieve balance in buffer stocks or cycle time. As a result, the suitability of LP is limited in the case of shorter product life cycles. To address this gap, the authors proposed a combination framework integrating I-4.0 technologies, such as CPS, with Lean tools like Kanban and Andon. However, they did not provide quantitative analysis to support their proposed relationship [130].

A study was conducted to identify the critical aspects of the relationship between Lean and I-4.0 [162]. The authors launched a SLR to achieve the goals. According to the authors, the concept of integration between Lean and I-4.0 is still in a rudimentary stage. Based on the
review study, an LSS culture is recommended to incorporate Lean and I-4.0 successfully. While defining and establishing the manufacturing culture was considered a significant challenge, continuous improvement was suggested as the critical success factor [162].

These studies investigate and analyze how Lean and I-4.0 work together to achieve optimal results despite each having advantages and disadvantages. Although some studies were limited to a single case study or lacked empirical evidence, while others had small sample sizes or did not specify the operational mode of the case studies, they still offer valuable insights for future research on the collaborative relationship between Lean and I-4.0. Additionally, these findings identify research gaps that must be addressed in designing future studies.

3.5.3 Integration framework of lean and industry 4.0

Based on this review study, it is perceived that while many studies discussed the positive association between Lean and I-4.0, the number of research works on their integration framework is still limited. Figure 3.7 shows that in only 13 (out of 55) studies, authors demonstrated the integration framework, leading the strategic paths to incorporate I-4.0 into LP systems. Among them, in [158, 160, 150], authors outlined the integration strategy using five different stages, while in [34, 26], authors defined their integration model with four steps. In [120], the authors depicted the integration roadmap using only three stages: relationship, implementation, and performance. In [133], the authors focused on individual framework characterization of I-4.0 and Lean approaches. In contrast, most studies consider the relationship between Lean and I-4.0 at the beginning stage of the integration model. In [158], the authors proposed their integration model of Lean and I-4.0 for large manufacturing companies, while the rest of the studies do not specifically refer to their model for any company, whether it is small, medium, or large. Also, limited guidelines were presented on the integration framework, which refers to further studies needed for formulating the comprehensive integration framework of Lean and I-4.0.

The power of I-4.0 will not be fully materialized as an industrial revolution if it is not integrated into the LM theoretical framework [177]. The previous studies in I-4.0 were purely

theory-oriented; hence, it is not readily adaptable for practical implementation in an organization. There is a lack of a comprehensive framework combining I-4.0 solutions with LM management methods [147, 130]. Thus, there is a need to develop a framework for the successful integration of LM and I-4.0 [124]. I-4.0 and LM utilize decentralized control and aim to increase productivity and flexibility [31]. There have been few studies on the importance of investigating the link between LM and I-4.0 [31, 147, 124, 15]. In a recent study, Buer et al. suggest that the area of LM and I-4.0 is yet immature, which is why no implementation framework for integrating LM and I-4.0 has been published yet [31]. They further suggest a need to understand how these domains interact. This study addresses the research gap by developing a theoretical integration model between LM and I-4.0. This research proposal will be designed to guide future research in this direction. The theoretical background is elucidated in the next section, trailed by the proposed model and research proposition, and this paper presents a subsequent discussion and conclusion.

The authors conducted a study to formulate a strategy to integrate the I-4.0 into the LM system [26]. They proposed a seven-step strategic plan to implement the integration at the field level to obtain the goal. Mainly, the scope, design, and evaluation stages are considered in their conceptual design. However, the proposed strategic plan was not validated through any case study. Moreover, concerning the nature of manufacturing, the proposed strategic plan was neither specific nor generalized, which limited its acceptance [26].

I-4.0 can be classified based on integration principles into vertical, horizontal, and endto-end integration [95]. The five main principles for LP implementation are the overarching guidelines for implementing LP [2]. Waste must be eliminated before implementing three integration mechanisms; otherwise, one will be automating the waste. With this principle in mind, the model proposes LP principles in all three forms of integration in I-4.0. Therefore, I-4.0 and LP integration model. The vertical, horizontal, and end-to-end engineering integration model and its integration with five principles are elucidated in the model.

A study was conducted to develop a matrix showing the impact of I-4.0 technology on Lean principles. The authors surveyed over 24 I-4.0 project leaders; eight had both Lean and I-4.0 experiences. This relationship matrix shows a significant relationship between Lean and I-4.0. For example, they rated I-4.0 technology, such as cloud computing and big data analytics, as the highest possibility to keep contributing to improving the Jidoka and standardization principle of LP. Similarly, they also mentioned that augmented reality might have significant power in enhancing the 5S, Kaizen, and Standardization. However, they depicted the relationship between Lean and I-4.0 based on their experience, which was not proven with any field-level experimentation. Hence, a practical interaction between Lean and I-4.0 is still lacking [29].

A survey study was conducted with over 100 Brazilian companies of different sizes and sectors implementing Lean at varying levels. An analytical framework was used to analyze the collected data [15]. In their background study, the authors mentioned that Lean and I-4.0 still demand a deeper investigation to explore whether their association is complementary. Therefore, the authors conducted this survey study to evaluate the relationship between Lean and I-4.0, where both are used, and their effect on the operational performance of the respected company. Theoretically, this study shows a significant association between Lean and I-4.0 if the company has become more experienced in Lean implementation (greater than 2 years). However, they did not show the major reasons behind this outcome. This study found that the size of a company does not affect the relationship between Lean and I-4.0. Overall, the study concludes that there is a positive association between Lean and I-4.0. However, it's worth noting that the authors did not conduct a one-to-one relationship analysis. As a result, for future applications, the practitioners might be confused about which I-4.0 technology will positively and significantly associate with Lean principles/tools. Besides, they did not make the interaction between Lean tools and I-4.0 technology instead of qualitative analysis based on the experience of practitioners in their analysis [15].

A study was conducted by Mofolasayo et al. to explore the way how to integrate the LM system to support the I-4.0 in SMEs for their productivity improvement [32]. The authors conducted a case study in a small electronics manufacturing company to attain their goal. The authors mentioned that for SMEs to adapt the I-4.0 holistically is not possible from the business perspective. Therefore, they suggested that focusing on data management and functional digitization is important before taking the stepwise initiative for the cyber-physical system. However, the root causes behind their statement were unclear in their manuscript, even though

they only mentioned that the organizational and culturally flexible mindset is required to integrate Lean and I-4.0. Their case study showed that cloud computing benefits VSM and waste reduction but did not experimentally show their correlation [32].

A study was conducted towards sustainable framework development to integrate I-4.0 into the LP and logistic system to reduce NVA activities. In designing the digital transformation, it was emphasized that the cost, quality, social, and environmental aspects for sustainable incorporation of I-4.0 technology and Lean tools/principles should be considered. In addition, these aspects were emphasized in integration with the strategic digitalization plan. However, the proposed sustainable elements were not decomposed to understand better how these are linked in the integrated framework. Moreover, one case study reduces the validity of the proposed framework [160].

Mayr et al. found a need for a comprehensive conjunction of Lean and I-4.0, which motivated them to conduct this work to explore- whether there is a complementary relationship between these two paradigms [14]. Based on the literature, the authors identified a complementary relationship between Lean and I-4.0. Besides, they conducted a case study to evaluate how cloud computing technology and digital twins help improve the TPM and VSM accordingly. While authors showed a positive relationship between Lean I-4.0, their works lack empirical data to measure the level degree of their association [14].

Rossini et al. conducted a survey study of 108 European manufacturing companies to identify the nature of the relationship between Lean and I-4.0 [119]. They found that a higher level of Lean practice positively correlates with a higher level of I-4.0 implementation opportunity. Conversely, their findings revealed that if the companies are not extensively designed with Lean principles, they are unwilling to adopt any I-4.0 technology. It means a holistic Lean approach is favorable for the adoption of I-4.0 technology. However, to validate their findings, the sample size should be bigger. Additionally, while the authors mentioned the higher level of Lean adoption offers a good environment, what it means by higher level was not defined [119].

A study explored the combined implication of Lean and I-4.0 in operational performance improvement [27]. This is the extended form of article [119]. To evaluate the combined impact on operational performance, the authors surveyed 108 European manufacturing companies. The strength of this article is its convergent analysis of five driving factors discovered in previous studies, such as company size, business operating model, type of ownership, and technological intensity. The authors concluded that LP is a system, and its effective and efficient application of I-4.0 adopting I-4.0 is significantly related to LP implementation, while LP is independent of the I-4.0 adoption. In other words, the authors demonstrated that LP is stronger than I-4.0 regarding operational performance improvement. However, the combined impact is better than implementing LP itself in operation. The authors mentioned that the study's sample size is small, which may lower its validity for further use [27].

A survey study examined the pairwise relationship between Lean and I-4.0 [25]. The authors surveyed 147 manufacturers adopting Lean principles and the I-4.0 technology to evaluate this relationship. Based on their finding's authors proposed a relationship framework between Lean and I-4.0. The most important point in this study is that authors used a large set of Lean tools (31) derived from Shah and Ward [49], and 8 I-4.0 technologies from Tortorella et al. [15] were considered in their proposed Lean automation framework, which enhances its scope of acceptance. However, this pairwise framework of Lean and I-4.0 was proposed based on the survey, which means it was not derived from pairwise empirical interaction. As a result, further research is required for validation through the practical interaction between Lean tools/principles and I-4.0 technology [25].

A study was conducted to improve the efficiency of LM through integrating digital technology [151]. To do this, IT-based technologies were used to digitalize the LM. In this context, the authors used the RFID tags to make the dynamic value flow in the value stream mapping of the Lean production system. A dynamic VSM architecture was proposed and verified. However, to validate the proposed study, more case studies are needed. Moreover, some challenges, such as the overlapping reading of RFID, should be solved by revising & improving the architecture of dynamic VSM [151]. Schulze and Dallasega conducted a review study to delineate the nature of synergy of Lean and I-4.0 [152]. Based on the data from the previous studies, a Lean and I-4.0 framework architecture was proposed. This framework shows a positive association between Lean tools and I-4.0 technologies. However, the proposed framework was not validated by using any empirical data. Additionally, the association between Lean and I-4.0, which contributes to reducing the loss, was not discovered in terms of any measuring scale. Another critical lack in this study focused only on quality parameters by reducing loss, not on others like performance [152].

Marinelli et al. conducted a study to design a Lean automation system by integrating the I-4.0 technology into the LP system [155]. The study uncovers a lack of framework in designing Lean automation. The case study demonstrated that the Kanban Lean production system could be automated through the CPS and RRID technologies. However, the authors stated that each working station of the respective process line should be standardized before automation. For validation, multiple case studies are required [155].

This study explored the one-to-one relationship between Lean and I-4.0 technology [4]. Eight case studies were conducted for the empirical evidence behind the one-to-one relationship between Lean tools and I-4.0 technologies. While the specific relationship was delineated, the empirical quantitative data, representing the strength of their correlation or how much these relationships contribute to operational performances, was missing. The sample case studies were considered from a single country, limiting their validity. In addition, the action research case studies are demanded to represent clear guidelines for practitioners instead of retrospective longitudinal for broad acceptance [4].

Arey et al. conducted a study to integrate the I-4.0 technology in operating companies' VSM [51]. The authors demonstrated the use of CPS in the VSM for digitalizing material and information flow. Consequently, a case study showed that the lead time was reduced from 6.5 days to 1 day. Nonetheless, the validity of this study is limited to a single case study. Additionally, the case study was limited to a single field. Thus, multiple case studies are required in diverse areas to validate digitalized VSM [51].

Dossou et al. conducted a study towards sustainable framework development to integrate I-4.0 into the LM and logistic system to reduce NVD activities [160]. In designing the digital transformation, it was emphasized that the cost, quality, social, and environmental aspects should be considered for sustainable incorporation of I-4.0 technology and Lean tools/principles. In addition, these aspects were emphasized in integration with the strategic digitalization plan. However, the proposed sustainable elements were not decomposed to understand better how these are linked in the integrated framework. Moreover, a single case study reduces the validity of the proposed framework [160].

A study proposed an integrated framework to integrate the VSM in the hybrid simulation modeling [34]. A holistic conceptual framework was designed by considering the functional principles of VSM and hybrid simulation to reduce manufacturing waste. Later, the proposed framework was employed in the case of manufacturing companies for validation. However, a single case study limits its validation. The study was a case study conducted in an SME; thus, for its validation, multiple manufacturing cultures may demand employing the proposed framework [34].

Rajab et al. conducted a study to integrate the I-4.0 into the LP system to reduce waste [161]. A review study was conducted, and came to the decision was that big data analytics, cloud computing, AR, & simulation have significant contributions in reducing the seven Lean waste. However, no empirical evidence or quantitative analysis was presented against their results from the literature review. The specific Lean tools associated with Lean waste management were not delineated with the synergy of I-4.0 technology. Hence, a future empirical study was required to develop a holistic framework to obtain the research objectives [161].

Mrugalska & Wyrwicka conducted a study investigating the literature to explore the relationship between Lean and I-4.0. They reviewed previous studies and determined that I-4.0 technologies like CPS and RFID can be supporting tools for Andon and Kanban to enhance their performance. However, the study does not demonstrate to what extent these I-4.0 technologies can enhance the performance of Lean systems that employ Andon or Kanban [132].

Vlachos et al. conducted a study to explore how the socio and technical factors can be integrated into the integration of Lean and I-4.0 [30]. To achieve this, the authors conducted

a review study to investigate the significance of socio and technical factors in designing Lean automation. The authors revealed that integrating Lean and I-4.0 is a complex system that requires considering issues such as design and ergonomics from a socio-technical perspective. However, the empirical evidence for this study was based on a single case study, so further validation through multiple case studies is required [30].

A study examined the critical drivers and impediments to integrating I-4.0 into TPM. To achieve this, the authors conducted four case studies. The study found that management culture, structure, vision, motivation, and leadership patterns were the driving factors in integrating Lean and TPM. Conversely, various production systems, employee skill levels, organizational culture, and maintenance competencies were identified as impedance factors. However, due to the limited number of case studies, the study's generalizability may be limited, and the operational mode of the case studies was not specified [25].

Chiarini & Kumar conducted an interview study to investigate the impact of I-4.0 on the operational improvement of Lean Six Sigma projects [144]. Over the study, ten experienced managers from ten Italian manufacturing companies were interviewed. Additionally regarding literature was investigated. The study concluded that, before introducing I-4.0 into any LSS project, it is essential to first apply LSS to make the operation efficient. The study also analyzed the use of I-4.0 technology in different phases of LSS and proposed a theoretical framework for integrating I-4.0 and LSS. However, the lack of empirical evidence to validate the proposed framework and the small sample size of interviews limit the validity and generalizability of the study's findings [144].

Mofolasayo et al. conducted a study to investigate the integration of LM systems to support I-4.0 in SMEs and improve their productivity [32]. They conducted a case study in a small electronics manufacturing company to achieve their goal. The authors suggested that holistically adapting I-4.0 is not feasible for SMEs from a business perspective, and instead, they proposed focusing on data management and functional digitization before taking any steps toward a cyber-physical system. However, the reasons behind this recommendation were unclear in their manuscript, although they stated that an organizational and culturally flexible mindset is required for integrating Lean and I-4.0. The authors' case study demonstrated that cloud computing could be beneficial for VSM and waste reduction, but they did not provide experimental evidence to support their correlation [32].

To summarize, the studies reviewed in this analysis aimed to explore integrating Lean and I-4.0 technologies, each with its strengths and limitations. Some studies lacked empirical evidence or were limited to a single case study, while others had a small sample size or did not mention the operational mode of the case studies. Despite these limitations, these studies provide valuable insights for future research on integrating Lean and I-4.0 technologies.

3.5.4 Driving factors on the integration of Lean and Industry 4.0

It is crucial to consider several important factors when integrating or adopting new and advanced technologies to achieve competitiveness and sustainability [178, 116, 112]. Organizations need to consider various factors before making technology investments. These factors include cost, quality, and socio-economic considerations. By taking into account these factors, organizations can ensure that their technology investments are not only efficient and effective but also have a positive impact on the broader economic and social aspects of society [178, 116, 112, 72]. Also, organizational culture and a flexible mindset need to be considered to sustain in the competitive manufacturing world [14, 32, 19, 69]. Accordingly, Lean can be regarded as best suited for integrating and sustaining in the manufacturing world [144]. LP has been considered a sustainable production system for the last four decades [120]. In LP, the feedback of the directly involved people on the production floor is essential for identifying areas of improvement and implementing solutions. By involving front-line workers in the improvement process, LP recognizes their expertise and empowers them to take ownership of their work processes [144]. By involving employees in the improvement process, LP acknowledges the role of human creativity and expertise in identifying opportunities for improvement and implementing solutions. This approach emphasizes the importance of creating a culture of continuous improvement that values the contributions of all employees [44].

Therefore, in Lean Thinking, socio-economic factors are significantly considered. Alternatively, the concept of I-4.0 primarily considers the technological factors, slightly ignoring the socio-economic factors [147, 30]. In this context, if both Lean and I-4.0 are combined, the synergistic approach would be sustainable for a considerable period. However, towards the successful unification of Lean and I-4.0, the potential driving factors should be considered and prioritized, which creates an urge to review the driving factors for the sustainable integration of these two paradigms. This inquiry led to the third research question to examine the articles, as shown in Table 3. The result shows that only the seven studies [25, 17, 179, 132, 30, 160, 32] focused on driving factors of sustainability. More specifically, among these eight, only in [180] and [181] the authors considered the three basic dimensions of sustainability, such as societal, economic, and environmental, while others evaluated only the cost drivers. It implies that the sustainability aspect was not significantly considered in the research design of included studies.

Although Lean and I-4.0 focus on similar goals, such as improving productivity and production quality, these two paradigms have distinct similarities in their philosophy and functionalities [31]. In a study, the authors mentioned that Lean primarily focuses on the human-driven production system while I-4.0 concentrates on technology. In academia and industry, there is a debate on whether Lean is an inhibitor or enabler to integrate the I-4.0. Additionally, the researchers and practitioners want to know if a contradictory relationship exists in which the environment supports this contradiction. Similarly, if there is a complementary relationship between Lean and I-4.0, in which environment does it support the complementary effects of integration? It is important to delineate.

Lean focuses on people thinking in its continuous improvement philosophy, similar to the principle of I-4.0 with the distributed autonomy of production management. In this context, Ciano et al. [4] suggested that LM could be seen as a forerunner to applying I-4.0. This is because LM and I-4.0 share similar goals, such as improving efficiency and reducing waste in manufacturing processes [4]. To adopt and effectively use any technology, it is necessary to provide a suitable setting. It is believed that the environment for LP is favorable for adopting and implementing I-4.0 technology [95]. Likewise, several studies have regarded the LP setting as a favorable factor in successfully implementing I-4.0 technology [139, 130, 25]. According to a study, the degree of LP adoption is strongly linked to the successful implementation of I-4.0 technology [15].

Satoglu et al. argued that implementing I-4.0 technologies solely cannot address the issues rooted in mismanagement or disorganization [176]. These technologies should be applied to Lean activities performed successfully before automatization. They also emphasize the importance of an adequate information flow before and after implementing these technologies [24]. A study mentioned that the big data and actuator/sensor could help improve the efficiency of mistake-proofing for quality improvement [24]. Mayer et al. confirmed the importance of LP, suggesting its adoption as a fundamental strategy in a roadmap for I-4.0 implementation [14]. Erol et al. pointed out that LP as an essential competence should also be transferred to the technical level [182]. Mayr et al. added that LP enables I-4.0 even because of the competencies that an LP decisionmaker has in considering customer value and avoiding waste [14]. They also highlighted the potential of LP reduction of product and process complexity to enable the efficient and economical use of I-4.0 technologies. The study was also supported by Rossini et al. [27].

According to a study conducted by Westgard in 2016, technological advancements, typically associated with automation or the implementation of quality systems, have a positive effect on analytical quality [183]. However, the impact is modest; sometimes, it may even be negative for certain analytes. These findings are similar to what has been observed in the automotive industry, where automation has improved quality, but not to the extent expected, as noted in Hinckley's 2007 study [74]. Further investigation is necessary to confirm the correlation between I-4.0 and Lean practice, as proposed by Ciano et al. [4].

Therefore, the literature considers LP a prerequisite to the I-4.0 implementation [4]. Nevertheless, Buer et al. identified a lack of investigation into the facilitating effect of LP on I-4.0 [31]. Indeed, even if scholars agree on the general enabling effect of I-4.0 on LP, the knowledge of how it happens is still immature [31, 27, 95]. The line represents the least-squares linear fit to the data. Although automation improves quality, the line is surprisingly horizontal, and the correlation is exceptionally poor (r2 = 0.014). The figure shows that automation can contribute to quality but does not assure good quality. Many other vital factors are essential for success [74].

3.5.5 Challenges in integrating industry 4.0 into lean production systems

Integrating I-4.0 into the LP systems represents a transformative journey with substantial potential for manufacturing organizations. Although this integration is not without its challenges, a small subset of included studies (8 out of 55) considered this issue during their integration process. These challenges encompass a wide spectrum, ranging from ensuring seamless data exchange compatibility [184, 71, 150] and safeguarding against cyber threats [159] to the continuous training of employees in digital skills [32, 150] and navigating complex regulatory landscapes [148]. Integrating I-4.0 into the LP systems should be aligned with sustainable practices and eco-friendly initiatives, which is another big challenge [159, 32]. Collaborative efforts with stakeholders, both internal and external [159, 71] are paramount to ensure a smooth and effective integration process as legal uncertainties continue to evolve [32, 150], staying informed about legal frameworks and seeking legal guidance is essential to maintain compliance and minimize risks.

Hence, to effectively integrate I-4.0 in LP, organizations need to overcome several challenges. These challenges include ensuring seamless data exchange compatibility and cybersecurity, providing continuous employee training in digital skills, navigating complex regulatory landscapes, and aligning with sustainable practices. Collaboration with both internal and external stakeholders is of utmost importance. Legal uncertainties and the need for proactive risk management further complicate matters. It is crucial to address these challenges strategically to ensure successful integration. This emphasizes the necessity for comprehensive risk management plans, which are currently lacking in the literature. Overall, the multifaceted nature of these challenges underscores the intricate landscape organizations must navigate to harness the transformative potential of I-4.0 in LP.

3.6 Discussion

This review study sheds light on the interdependent relationship between Lean and I-4.0, their integration model, and the crucial factors that influence the longevity of the proposed model.

The findings suggest that most current research has primarily focused on the harmonious features of Lean and I-4.0 rather than on the integration model and its sustainability aspects. However, there is still a scarcity of research investigating the collaborative features, integration model, and prospective sustainability of integrating I-4.0 technology into the LP system, as elaborated in the subsequent discussions.

3.6.1 Discussion on synergistic characteristics of Lean & I-4.0

In several studies, the authors conceptually envisioned the complementary association of Lean and I-4.0 [4, 27, 120, 25], regardless of considering the strength level of that relationship in their analysis. Several authors examined the depth of the relationship between Lean and I-4.0 in this context. For example, qualitatively, Langlotz et al. [156], and Leyh et al. [122] attempted to categorize the depth of the relationship between Lean and I-4.0 at different levels, such as low, medium, and high. However, the authors did not consider the measuring scale to quantify the relationship in their analysis. It is also worth noting that the key performance indicator (KPI) was lacking in the current literature in evaluating the impact of the synergistic association of Lean and I-4.0 on operational performance, leading us to formulate the following proposition:

Proposition 1: A specific key performance indicator (KPI) is necessary to evaluate the impact of the relationship between Lean tools and I-4.0 technologies on the respective operational performance.

3.6.2 Discussion on the integration framework of 'Lean & Industry 4.0'

Regardless of the companies' size and culture, an argument can be derived from this study referring to a positive inclination of manufacturers to integrate I-4.0 into the LP systems. This claim also endorses the propositions postulated by others [144, 25]. While the relationship between Lean and I-4.0 was discussed in many references, their integration framework is limited in breadth and depth. For example, the individual characteristics of two paradigms, Lean and I-4.0, were not accounted in the proposed integration model [76, 147, 157, 19]. Additionally, the interfaces at different levels of integration were not considered adequately in most of the studies. Moreover, the necessary trade-off analyses were not conducted to verify whether the proposed frameworks work according to the expected goals, leading to the formulation of the following proposition:

Proposition 2: Designing a comprehensive framework for incorporating I-4.0 into the LP system by identifying its different stages and interfaces is still an emerging need for the effective and efficient digital transformation of LP systems.

In the literature, the authors agreed that Lean and I-4.0 could mutually assist each other in improving operational performance [76, 17, 161]. Additionally, the contradiction between Lean and I-4.0 was rejected by several authors [22, 19]. Instead, they argued that adopting I-4.0 could remove the potential barriers to implementing Lean. In turn, it was stated that practitioners should not be treated the same when they try to implement Lean and I-4.0 simultaneously, as both approaches have been developed based on different principles [19]. In this context, it is noted that integrating two different paradigms, the impact of the specific combination of Lean tools and I-4.0 technology is lacking from the literature, leading to the following proposition:

Proposition 3: To examine the impact of integrating two paradigms, Lean and I-4.0, oneto-one interaction between specific Lean tools and the I-4.0 technology is required.

The sustainability of I-4.0 integration into the LP system Lean is a human-centric approach where human creativity is highly regarded for continuous improvement. Thus, it significantly values the different components of sustainability, such as socio-economic, technological, and environmental aspects. On the other hand, I-4.0 is a technology-driven approach widely used in agile manufacturing. However, when these two approaches are proposed in an integrated model, the question could arise as to whether the sociocultural aspect of Lean is sustained or not. This review result reveals minimal research on the sociocultural sustainability aspect of the integration approach of Lean and I-4.0. Specifically, no comprehensive study was recorded to evaluate the sociocultural factors of Lean and I-4.0 integration. Instead, some authors emphasized the cost-effectiveness of synergistic implementation. For example, a lack of sufficient infrastructure and logistics support may hamper the digital transformation of the LP system

[159, 129, 19]. In more detail, it may require retrofitting machines, tools, equipment, workforce, and others, thus increasing the investment of companies. Furthermore, these requirements may vary from country to country and manufacturer to manufacturer, as mentioned by Tortorella et al. [19], leading to formulate our final proposition:

Proposition 4: Current literature reveals a significant gap in successfully considering the operational settings for integrating I-4.0 into LP systems. Companies' internal, such as culture, and external environment, such as the governmental rules & regulations, should be characterized while formulating the integration framework.

3.6.3 Discussion on driving factors of integrating industry 4.0 into lean production systems

The available literature indicates that integrating I-4.0 and LP has potential but is a complex process. Both Lean and I-4.0 aim to improve efficiency and reduce waste, which makes them compatible for integration. LP is widely recognized as a favorable environment for adopting I-4.0 technology. However, certain challenges need to be addressed, such as the need for successful Lean activities before automation and the importance of effective information flow.

Since Lean is a prerequisite for I-4.0 implementation, a research proposition aims to understand how Lean practices facilitate the incorporation of Industry 4.0 technologies. Although scholars agree that I-4.0 enables LP, a gap exists in understanding how Lean practices enhance this integration. To fill this gap, it is necessary to conduct a comprehensive investigation into how Lean augments and eases the incorporation of I-4.0.

This research is essential to develop targeted strategies and frameworks that can bridge the gap in understanding and capitalize on the synergies between Lean and I-4.0. Ultimately, this research aims to contribute to creating informed and effective approaches that can lead to successful and sustainable transformations within manufacturing environments.

Based on the above discussion, it is perceived that the literature lacks a discussion on the impact of key role-playing factors in integrating I-4.0 technologies into the LP systems. This leads to the following proposition:

71

Proposition 5: To ensure the successful integration of I-4.0 into the LP system, it is crucial to identify key success factors and create a framework for conducting trade-off analyses among them to select the most optimized combinations.

3.6.4 Discussion on the challenges of integrating industry 4.0 into lean production systems

The integration of I-4.0 into LP systems has enormous potential for manufacturing organizations. However, several challenges need to be addressed for successful integration. Unfortunately, only a few studies have addressed these challenges while proposing integration processes. These challenges range from technical complexities like ensuring seamless data exchange compatibility and bolstering defenses against cyber threats to human-centric concerns like ongoing employee training in digital skills and navigating intricate regulatory landscapes.

Successful integration also requires alignment with sustainable practices and eco-friendly initiatives, which poses another challenge. Collaboration with internal and external stakeholders is crucial to ensure a seamless and effective integration process. As legal uncertainties evolve, staying well-informed about legal frameworks and seeking legal guidance becomes indispensable for maintaining compliance and mitigating risks.

To navigate this complex landscape, organizations must proactively and strategically address these challenges to pave the way for successful I-4.0 integration into LP systems. It is crucial to recognize that inherent risks accompany these challenges. Overcoming these hurdles requires formulating and implementing a comprehensive risk management plan, which is currently lacking in the literature.

In essence, while the integration of I-4.0 into LP systems holds tremendous promise, a nuanced understanding of challenges and the implementation of meticulous risk management are imperative for a successful integration. This refined discussion underscores the strategic importance of addressing challenges to unlock the full potential of Industry 4.0 within the realm of Lean Production systems. By addressing these challenges the following proposition is proposed.

Proposition 6: It is imperative to define and incorporate a risk management plan for each challenge for the successful digital transformation of the LP systems through the integration of I-4.0 technologies.

3.7 Conceptual integration framework

A conceptual framework for technology integration into the production system can be defined as a model that outlines the key concepts, relationships, and assumptions that underpin the use of technology in the production process [185]. It provides a theoretical foundation for understanding how technology can be effectively integrated into productivity improvement and helps to guide the designing and implementation of technology-enhanced production practices [180]. In this study, a six-step integration model is proposed to integrate the I-4.0 technology into the LP system. These six steps are defining, measuring, interacting, controlling, analyzing, and validating, as shown in. A brief description of these steps is depicted below.

3.7.1 Rationale beyond the integration framework

Based on the SLR results, it was discovered that only 13 out of 55 included studies (23.6%) discussed the impact of integrating I-4.0 into the LP system to improve productivity. This suggests that there is a lack of research on navigating the digital transformation of LP systems. During our investigation, we discovered various aspects of the proposed conceptual framework. However, we could not find any studies that confirm all these attributes. Therefore, there is a need for a framework that aligns with its holistic views. During our investigation into these frameworks, we delved into their theoretical foundations but found them lacking. Additionally, the proposed framework lacked content validity. These gaps must be addressed in a comprehensive manner, which motivated us to conduct this study.

3.7.2 Theoretical foundation of proposed framework

Our framework is based on General System Theory (GST), initially developed by biologist Ludwig von Bertalanffy in the mid-20th century. GST offers a unified and abstract perspective



Figure 3.9: A conceptual framework for the integration of Lean tools and I-4.0 technology

that helps integrate different paradigms harmoniously. It allows us to identify common principles and patterns that go beyond specific details, emphasizing the idea that 'the whole is greater than the sum of its parts,' as Friedrich Hegel advocated [186]. Our approach involves integrating nine principles derived from the GST. These principles are (GST-1) understanding system dynamics, (GST-2) embracing holism, (GST-3) fostering interdisciplinary approaches, (GST-4) delineating system boundaries, (GST-5) recognizing hierarchical structures, (GST-6) acknowledging emergent properties, (GST-7) incorporating feedback mechanisms, (GST-8) considering equifinality, and (GST-9) maintaining a long-term vision. These principles are seamlessly integrated into the step-by-step creation of our conceptual framework. In addition, we considered the Axiomatic design perspective in designing this integration framework. Axiomatic Design, developed by [187], offers key principles for effective design. Its core principles focus on the independence of design parameters and minimization of information content to simplify and optimize the integration framework.

3.7.3 Phase-1: Defining the dynamics of 'Lean 4.0' framework (GST principles 1, 2 & 3)

In the framework's initial development, we placed a strong emphasis on grasping the overall dynamics of Lean 4.0, with a focus on input and output dynamics [188], aligning framework

objectives with the organization's ultimate goals. These objectives were then refined into specific, time-bound targets to cater to diverse customer demands. Within the context of Lean 4.0, our approach centered on capturing the dynamics of both paradigms, embracing a holistic perspective, and accommodating multidisciplinary viewpoints. During the requirement analysis, we adopted a holistic outlook, establishing the boundaries of Lean 4.0 while preserving the individualistic nature of Lean and I-4.0 through Axiomatic Design thinking.

3.7.4 Phase-2: Designing the boundary and hierarchical structure of 'Lean 4.0' (GST principles 4 & 5)

In the design phase, we delved into the hierarchical dynamics of the system and defined the boundaries of Lean 4.0 from the GST principles. We focused on utilizing the hierarchical dynamics in specifying the synergy of Lean principles with I-4.0 technologies. To validate this synergy and ensure it aligns with predefined objectives, we propose designing and conducting a pilot study. Our recommendation for ensuring a direct and meaningful interaction between Lean tools and I-4.0 technologies is to create an experimental setup on a prototyping scale. By promoting this seamless one-to-one interaction between Lean and I-4.0, organizations can harness the full potential of both methodologies, leading to increased productivity, flexibility, and innovation [189]. This collaborative approach serves as a pathway to successful integration, empowering organizations to thrive in the ever-evolving landscape of modern manufacturing and beyond. In the context of Lean and I-4.0 integration, one-to-one interaction denotes the harmonious and synergetic collaboration and communication between Lean tools and various I-4.0 components [190], resulting in the maximization of their combined benefits and the attainment of operational excellence.

3.7.5 Phase-3: Measuring the impact of 'Lean 4.0' (GST principle 6)

In our measurement approach, we focused on the interaction between a specific Lean tool/principle within a specific I-4.0 technology. Here, the Lean tool/principle is the organizational internal input while I-4.0 technology is an external input. To measure the impact of this interaction we proposed to define a specific and appropriate KPI. While conventional Lean KPIs, such as cycle

time, TP, and defect rates, gauge efficiency, and waste reduction, I-4.0 introduces novel KPIs encompassing areas like equipment uptime, predictive maintenance accuracy, real-time data analysis, and OEE, exemplifying data-driven insights and smart manufacturing capabilities. To elucidate the dynamic interplay of Lean and I-4.0, we leverage the concept of emergence from the GST. Emergence involves the emergence of properties, behaviors, or patterns in a complex system that cannot be straightforwardly deduced from its components. Instead, these emergent qualities arise from the interactions and relationships among these components. This phenomenon is similar to what occurs when Lean and I-4.0 converge [120, 75]. Furthermore, our approach emphasizes trade-off analysis, encompassing key success factors, challenges, barriers, and the synergistic benefits of both paradigms. Given the complexity of this scenario, effective measurement becomes integral to the success of Lean 4.0.

3.7.6 Phase-4: Analyzing the performance of 'Lean 4.0' (GST principle 7)

To assess whether Lean 4.0 is delivering its best outcomes, we focused on establishing a robust analysis process incorporating dynamic feedback loops inspired by the GST principle. This feedback mechanism, illustrated in Figure 3.9, is aligned with the KPI developed in the previous phase (Phase 3). It is a data-driven approach that can collect data from various sources, including production systems, sensors, and quality control processes. Through data analysis and visualization techniques, organizations gain insights into performance trends and areas that require further improvement. This iterative approach, driven by real-time feedback, enables organizations to optimize Lean 4.0 outcomes, enhance productivity, and achieve sustainable success. For example, [151, 191] showed how real-time data can be employed in real-time decisions towards improvement. We also focused on real-time data analysis ineffective decisions on time for obtaining the best outcomes from the Lean 4.0 framework.

3.7.7 Phase-5: Sustaining synergy of 'Lean 4.0' (GST principle 8 & 9)

Sustaining Lean 4.0 is a dynamic process where we draw inspiration from the principles of equifinality and long-term vision inherent in the GST principles. Equifinality, as per GST, suggests that there are multiple paths to achieving the same goal. In the context of Lean 4.0, organizations have the flexibility to adopt various strategies, processes, and technologies to achieve their desired outcomes. For instance, in some studies [192, 127], authors recommended the establishment and utilization of cross-functional collaboration as a means to effectively and efficiently solve problems and achieve the best outcomes. Additionally, we emphasize the importance of incorporating a long-term vision to sustain the outcomes derived from Lean 4.0. Utilizing a long-term vision in Lean 4.0 involves setting clear goals, strategic planning [30], continuous improvement [80], resource allocation [178], risk management [193], fostering communication [107], measuring performance [194], and celebrating milestones [184]. This approach ensures that Lean 4.0 initiatives remain aligned with the organization's overarching objectives, driving sustained success.

3.8 Summary & limitations

This study aimed to discover the previous research findings on the relationship between Lean tools/principles and I-4.0 technologies, the key strategy of their integration frameworks, and the drivers leading to the sustainable integration of I-4.0 technologies into the LP system. In this context, this study reviews the synergistic relationship between Lean and I-4.0, their integration framework, and the key factors affecting the sustainability of the integration framework. Subsequently, the capability level of the relationship delineated in the existing literature was analyzed comparatively. Additionally, the results uncovered that the included studies were either narrow in scope with the limited trade-off analysis or conceptually envisioned without validation. Thus, the identified limitations regarding the relationship between Lean and I-4.0 and their framework led the authors to formulate four propositions. The proposed propositions unveil a clear need for further study to mitigate the limitations of successfully integrating Lean and I-4.0. To conclude, it is important to discuss the major limitations of this conceptual study.

First, the study was limited to three databases, as mentioned in the Methodology section, which has narrowed down its scope. Second, only journal articles and conference proceedings were included in the full review. Consequently, essential book chapters, symposiums, educational talks, blog writings, and industrial reports were excluded, limiting its broad validation. Third, the sample size of the articles included on the topic is very small, which is another lack of this study. The identified gap and limitations create future research opportunities on this emerging topic. In this essence, in the future, the authors plan to revise the study by considering the uncovered research propositions, accounting for 4-5 sources of databases, including the scientific and industrial reports, along with the journal articles and conference proceedings.

Chapter 4

Interaction between Lean and Industry 4.0: A Case Study for Overall Equipment Effectiveness

4.1 Background study

LP has been applied in manufacturing because of its effectiveness on quality and performance [4]. Primarily, LP focuses on standardizing the works, reducing the non-value-adding activities, shifting the production systems from capacity to demand-oriented, and installing a distributed production improvement system with closed loops between workstations [6, 4, 7]. Lean principles originated in the 1950s in the Toyota Motor Corporation, which took a long process to establish an improved and efficient production system [8]. There is a rule of thumb for most technologies; after a particular time, either the technology needs to be replaced by a new one, or it needs improvement to maintain growth [195]. Several patterns are used to review the successive growth stages of technology. The Sigmoid-curve is one of them, which refers to the technology reaching its saturation stage after a particular time [11]. At this stage, improving or incorporating a new technological dimension is essential to remain competitive. Additionally, in the last decade, I-4.0 has emerged in manufacturing, creating pressure on the feet of the manufacturer to speed up and be more competitive. I-4.0 refers to a cyber-physical system where the physical World is connected to the virtual World, and the total controlling system is distributed [87]. I-4.0 is considered a new paradigm for connecting man, machine, and process within the changing operative framework conditions and distributed management systems [12]. On the other hand, human beings' socio-economic and political views have changed significantly [196], making customer choices and demands more volatile. Consequently, some scholars consider meeting the customers' demands to incorporate I-4.0 in the LP.

The current literature reveals limited research on the impact of Lean methodology and I-4.0 technology when used together. To fill this gap, a study was conducted with two main objectives.

1. Conducting an interaction between a specific Lean tool and I-4.0 technology

2. Measuring the combined impact of Lean and I-4.0 on the production performance

4.2 Interaction between lean and industry 4.0

In recent times, in the manufacturing world, there has been an inquiry into the compatibility of Lean and I-4.0, exploring the feasibility of their seamless integration. Furthermore, the investigation delves into the potential complementary impact of I-4.0 on enhancing the performance of LP systems and aims to identify optimal pairings between Lean tools and I-4.0 technology. Before the case study, we conducted a comprehensive literature review to provide insights and answers to these relevant questions.

In the last decade, with the diffusion of I-4.0, manufacturers might think the necessity of LP can end. However, in several studies, authors reviewed that the broad range utility of I-4.0 does not refer to the end use of LP. Instead, they recognize a significant co-relationship between Lean & I-4.0 [31, 17, 42, 119, 124, 19]. In a study, the authors mentioned that LP could be integrated with modern ICT to meet the customers' rapid changeable demand [147]. For instance, they noted that ICT could be used in Kanban production, where the empty Kanban bin can be identified and replenished using ICT, even though they did not mention which ICT technology can be used. A study unveiled that Lean tools, like mistake-proofing, and the I-4.0 technology, like big data and actuators/sensors, could be applied together for quality improvement [24]. However, like this, the pairwise example of interaction between Lean and I-4.0 is minimal. In most cases, the complementary effects of Lean and I-4.0 are still thinking in conceptual frameworks. For instance, the authors suggested integrating I-4.0 technology in the LP system to overcome some limitations of Lean [4], while they did not specify them [131]. It is stated that LP can be considered a pre-requisite for the I-4.0 application [19], but it is not demonstrated how Lean and I-4.0 co-exist together. Several authors also acknowledge that the knowledge and comprehensive direction on how Lean and I-4.0 work together is still immature [4, 27, 95].

In several other studies, researchers emphasized the complementary impact of I-4.0 alongside LP. However, these discussions largely remained at the conceptual level without practical interactions between Lean and I-4.0 being explored [4, 116, 156, 122, 119]. This conceptual nature of investigations is further supported by a study indicating that only 14% of the research conducted at the field level has verified the relationship between Lean and I-4.0 [123, 4]. Consequently, a notable research gap exists, and it is imperative to undertake further studies to validate the relationship framework between Lean and I-4.0. Motivated by this research gap, we embarked on this field-level case study to investigate the practical interaction between Lean Practices and Industry 4.0.

4.3 Working methodology

This section outlines a step-by-step methodology for integrating I-4.0 into the LP system. The objectives are defined through a research hypothesis and strategy. To help the reader understand the experimental environment, we provide a brief description of the one-to-one interaction between the Lean tool and I-4.0 technology, including the operation mode, operation stations, Lean tools, and I-4.0 technologies used. Additionally, we present an experimental design in this section.

4.4 Development of the research hypothesis

Our investigation is based on three postulated null hypotheses to set the foundation for our objectives. To test each null hypothesis, corresponding alternative hypotheses are developed, offering alternative perspectives for consideration. The next step in our research involves collecting and analyzing comprehensive data to systematically support or refute the initially proposed null hypotheses. This process aims to provide evidence, guide our conclusions, and contribute to the field's knowledge.

4.4.1 First hypothesis

Null Hypothesis: There is no significant impact of Lean tools on operational performance improvement

Alternative Hypothesis: There is a significant impact of Lean tools on operational efficiency improvement

4.4.2 Second hypothesis

Null Hypothesis: There is no significant impact of I-4.0 technology on operational performance improvement

Alternative Hypothesis: There is a significant impact of I-4.0 technology on operational performance improvement

4.4.3 Third hypothesis

Null Hypothesis: There is no significant impact of integration between mistake-proof device and vision technology on operational performance improvement

Alternative Hypothesis: There is a significant impact of Integration between mistake-proof devices and vision technology on operational performance improvement.

- 4.5 Research questions
 - *Research Question 1*: Does a mistake-proof device improve the OEE of the LP system significantly?
 - *Research Question 2*: Does a vision/sensor technology improve the OEE of the LP system significantly?
 - *Research Question 3:* Does the interaction between mistake-proof devices and vision/sensor technology improve the OEE of the LP system significantly?

4.6 Research strategy

This study aimed to explore the relationship between Lean tools (such as Mistake-proof) and I-4.0 technologies (like sensor technology). As we previously mentioned, the study established a null and an alternative hypothesis to accomplish this objective. An experimental setup was designed to test the null hypothesis, and the relevant tools and technologies were identified and installed on the production floor. The treatments or experimental conditions were defined and randomly selected before conducting a one-to-one interaction between Lean tools and I-4.0

technology. Data were collected using predefined sheets, and both descriptive and statistical analyses were carried out to investigate the proof of the null hypothesis. Finally, the decision was made based on the results of hypothesis testing.

4.7 Experimental environment

We conducted an experimental interaction between Lean and I-4.0 at the Lean Education Laboratory in Auburn University's Department of Industrial and Systems Engineering. The laboratory has developed an LP over the years that involves the assembly of cars using Lego parts. Two types of cars, SUVs, and Speedsters, are assembled over the assembly line, divided into 15 stations. The LP production line is divided into three cells, each with five working stations. Each cell has a cell leader responsible for communication between the cells and assisting workers in fixing problems that may arise during production. Additionally, each cell has a material handler to replenish the empty parts bins from the supermarket storage. At station 5, one person is responsible for changing the die whenever a different car model is assembled. A stopwatch is present at each station to calculate the cycle time, simulated to be 60 seconds for each station. In this study, to interact with Lean and I-4.0, we used station 10, where the camera is installed for the in-station quality check. We used the SUV for building at station 10. To eliminate the defects, we used the check-piece of the SUV as a mistake-proof device. Four treatments were designed to evaluate the impact of interaction between Lean tools and I-4.0 technology, as described in the following sections.

4.8 Experimental setups

The purpose of this section is to describe how the experiment was designed to make the interaction between I-4.0 and the Lean tools. Several major components, such as a Lean tool, I-4.0 technology, and operation modes, are described to obtain the purpose. The input and output variables were defined. Controllable and uncontrollable factors were considered during the experiments.



Figure 4.1: Lean education lab at Department of Industrial and System Engineering, Auburn University



Figure 4.2: Cell-1 of the Lean education lab. It is one of the three cells of the Lean Manufacturing Lab. Production stations from 1 to 5 are designed & established in this cell.



Figure 4.3: Cell-2 of the Lean education lab. The production stations from 6 to 10 are designed & assembled in this cell.



Figure 4.4: Cell-3 of the Lean education lab. The production stations from 11 to 15 are designed & assembled in this cell.



Figure 4.5: The production station 10 of the Lean education lab. The interaction between Lean (mistake-proof) and I-4.0 (vision technology) was performed at this station.

4.9 Defining the lean tool

Our study emphasized the importance of using mistake-proof devices as a key Lean tool. These devices effectively prevent human errors and align with Lean principles. The concept of mistake-proof devices was developed by Shigeo Shingo in 1986 and has since become a foundational concept in Lean methodology [28]. We have implemented a systematic protocol to define mistake-proof devices in our study. This step-by-step process ensures a comprehensive and methodical approach to incorporating Lean tools into our investigation. Below, we outline each step in this protocol, shedding light on the procedures undertaken to enhance error reduction and optimize operational efficiency within the context of our research.

- *Step-1:* Develop a flowchart of the production process. Review & investigate the process and discover where and when human errors are likely to occur.
- *Step-2:* Whenever an error is discovered, it is important to find out the source of the error by reviewing the process line.
- Step-3: To think and develop ways to make it impossible for the error to occur. This can be done by considering elimination (eliminating the step that causes the errors),

replacement (replacing the step with an error-proof one), and facilitation (making the correct action far easier than the error).

- Step-4: If it is impossible to prevent the error, consider ways to detect it and minimize its effects. It can be done by considering inspection methods and setting functions expanded on below.
- Step-5: Choose the best mistake-proofing method or device for each error. Test it, then implement it.

4.10 Defect inspection

Defect inspection is a crucial process in quality control, which involves systematically examining and assessing products or processes to identify and categorize defects or imperfections. It is vital in ensuring the quality and reliability of manufactured goods or executed processes. Defect inspection is essential in defect elimination experiments as it is a diagnostic tool to pinpoint areas of weakness or inefficiency in production or operational processes. By systematically identifying and categorizing defects, organizations can gain valuable insights into the root causes of issues, enabling targeted interventions for process improvement. This proactive approach not only helps enhance the quality of the final product but also contributes to the optimization of production processes, minimizing waste and ultimately improving customer satisfaction and trust in the product or service.

In defect inspection, five distinct inspection methods can be used to quickly provide feedback [59, 28]. These methods are outlined below:

- Successive inspection: Successive inspection is done at the next step of the process by the next worker.
- Self-inspection: Self-inspection means workers check their work immediately after doing it. Before the process step takes place, source inspection checks that conditions are correct. Often, it is automatic and keeps the process from proceeding until conditions

are right. Setting functions are the methods by which a process parameter or product attribute is inspected for errors.

- *Contact inspection:* The contact or physical method checks a physical characteristic such as diameter or temperature, often using a sensor.
- *Motion-step inspection:* The motion-step or sequencing method checks the process sequence to make sure steps are done in order.
- *Fixed-value inspection:* The fixed-value or grouping and counting method counts repetitions or parts, or it weighs an item to ensure completeness.

4.11 Defining the Industry 4.0 technology

In this study, we have considered smart sensor technology as a part of I-4.0 technology. The sensor technology is used to inspect the produced cars for defects. It is mounted at the end of Station 10, where the assembly of the car is completed. The operator then checks the car under the vision technology to identify any defects associated with the car. A data window view provides the operator with information about the defect and its location. To improve the performance and quality of the operation, a mistake-proof device is used as a Lean tool.

4.12 Design of the treatment

To measure the impact of the interaction between Lean tools and I-4.0 technology, four different treatments have been considered under the defined production environments. These treatments include control, check-piece, vision technology, and the combination of check-piece and vision technology. Each treatment is briefly described in the following sections.

4.12.1 Control

The term 'Control' refers to a particular operational situation where conventional paperwork instructions (PWI) are implemented rather than a Lean tool or I-4.0 technology. In this instance, PWI is being employed at station 10 in the Lean Education Lab facility, as shown in a diagram



Figure 4.6: Paper-work instruction/control. These instructions are used in assembling the studied SUV model cars.

of the assembly layout (Figure 4.6). The PWI provides instructions for the assembly process, specifically detailing the sequence in which Lego parts should be picked from designated bins. The location of these bins is indicated at the bottom of the PWI, and the research associate is available to show the exact location of each bin.

4.12.2 Vision technology

It is the sensor technology/smart camera installed in station 10, as shown in Figure 4.7. It is installed using the PLC programming, and the parts' locations are programmed to check for defects. After assembling, the operator needs to place the car under the camera. It is important to make sure that the car is correctly put on the die under the smart camera, as shown in Figure 4.8. After that, the operator can see the report on the screen as NG (not good) or OK (good). If it is NG, the operator needs to track the defect location and fix it. Thus, the system helps to prevent defective production.



Figure 4.7: The vision technology/smart camera, which is used as the I-4.0 to inspect the defects on assembled studied SUV model cars.

In our research, we have utilized vision technology to prevent errors. Error-proofing is a systematic approach that helps to minimize or eliminate mistakes by implementing mechanisms, devices, or systems that ensure consistent task execution. This approach helps to improve quality, efficiency, and reliability in various industries. By using error-proof devices, organizations can avoid costly rework or corrections and optimize their operations. Errorproofing fosters a culture of accuracy and dependability, which ultimately leads to greater customer satisfaction.

4.12.3 Check-piece

In our experiment, we use a check-piece, a fully assembled car known as the SUV Model. It is located within the Lean Education Lab of the Department of Industrial & System Engineering at Auburn University, as shown in Figure 4.9. The SUV Model serves as a fundamental device to prevent mistakes. In the experiment, participants (subjects) are instructed to use a check-piece to help them place the correct components in their designated positions. This check-piece is a visual aid that helps prevent errors and reduces defects in the assembly process. It also streamlines the assembly operations, potentially reducing the assembly time. This integration



Figure 4.8: Vision technology/smart camera' Fixture. It is used to properly position the car under the smart camera for its digital inspection.

aligns with Lean principles, emphasizing the importance of mistake-proofing techniques to enhance efficiency and overall product quality.

4.12.4 Check-piece and vision technology

In this treatment, the subject or the operator uses both a Mistake-proof device (check piece of the SUV) along with the vision technology. Both the check piece and vision technology are used to identify defects in assembled cars. The prime objective of using these two tools is to evaluate the integration impact on quality by reducing the defects. Since quality is one of the most essential parameters of the OEE, this synergy might have a significant impact on the OEE improvement of the LP.

4.13 Defining the key performance indicators

The OEE is defined as the key performance indicator (KPI) of the study's impact. The OEE can be defined as the multiplicative function of Availability, Quality, and Performance [197, 21], as shown in equation 4.1. During the planned production time, any events that cause the operation



Figure 4.9: The check-piece, which is used as a mistake-proof device - a Lean tool.

to stop are included in the calculation of availability. This is determined by the ratio of actual run time to total planned production time, as shown in Equation 4.2. Quality, on the other hand, is concerned with manufacturing products that meet customer demands and the standards required. It also takes into account any necessary rework to ensure that these standards are met [198]. Simply put, quality can be defined as the ratio of the total number of good parts produced to the total number of parts produced, including both good and bad ones. This can be represented by Equation 4.3. The performance metrics are controlled by two important parameters: total count and planned count. The actual output count divided by the total planned count is the ratio used for these metrics, as shown in Equation 4.4. It is worth noting that our experimental interaction between lean and I-4.0 was conducted in a prototype lab without any machine breakdowns. Therefore, we assumed our availability to be 1 for each production run at station 10.

$$OEE = Availability * Performance * Quality$$
 (4.1)
$$Availability = \frac{Actual \ run \ ime}{Total \ planned \ time} * 100\%$$
(4.2)

$$Quality = \frac{Total \ count \ of \ good \ parts}{Total \ count \ of \ produced \ parts \ including \ good \ \& \ bad \ parts} * 100\%$$
(4.3)

$$Performance = \frac{Actual \ output \ count}{Total \ planned \ count} * 100\%$$
(4.4)

4.14 Data collection

The synergy between Lean practices and I-4.0 represents a dynamic human-machine interaction, a pivotal aspect explored in this study. To capture and analyze this interaction in detail, we created four different treatments that were then randomly assigned to participants. Subjects were invited following the approved research protocol sanctioned by the Institutional Review Board of Auburn University (Protocol 22-538-EP-2301), and all procedures adhered strictly to this protocol. We carefully recorded and documented the performance data of each subject for every treatment. Under each treatment, each subject was allowed a designated 10-minute timeframe for assembling SUV cars using Lego parts, as previously outlined. The quality and performance data, corresponding to equations 4.3 and 4.4, were documented to estimate efficiency, measured by OEE. Throughout the experiments, we emphasized the critical importance of effective data collection in human-machine interaction studies, ensuring a comprehensive understanding of the nuances in the manufacturing processes under investigation.

4.15 Data analysis

We used our collected data for subsequent analysis, constituting a step in evaluating the postulated hypothesis. Performance and quality data are leveraged to calculate OEE, providing a comprehensive measure of efficiency. Analysis of variance (ANOVA) serves as a robust statistical tool to compare variance among the treatments, drawing on established methodologies [199, 200]. For hypothesis testing, the paired t-test is employed to discern evidence against the null hypothesis, relying on well-established principles in statistical analysis [199, 200]. In addition to these analyses, the study delves into defect analysis through the application of control charts, offering valuable insights into different types of defects and their variations throughout the experimental treatments.

4.16 Results

As mentioned earlier, our study aims to investigate three specific hypotheses. To accurately test these hypotheses, we have collected experimental data and conducted a series of descriptive analyses. treatments were randomly assigned, which ensures that the data collection process is independent. Before testing the hypotheses, we performed two crucial tests - normality and equal variance - to determine the most appropriate statistical analysis methods, following the established guidelines in statistical literature [201]. This approach emphasizes our commitment to maintaining the integrity of our research methodology and laying a foundation for meaningful statistical analyses.

4.16.1 Normality of treatment data

A normality check is a statistical procedure used to determine whether a given dataset follows a normal distribution. A normal distribution is a theoretical probability distribution that is symmetric, bell-shaped, and characterized by its mean and standard deviation [202, 203]. Normality checks are important because many statistical tests, such as t-tests and ANOVA, assume that the data follows a normal distribution. If the data are not normally distributed, these tests may not be valid or may provide misleading results. There are several methods to check for normality, including graphical methods such as histograms, probability plots, and box plots, as well as statistical tests such as the Shapiro-Wilk test, the Anderson-Darling test, and the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test [204]. These methods can help researchers determine if their data is normally distributed and if they need to use alternative statistical methods that are appropriate



Figure 4.10: Normality check for treatment - 'Control'

for non-normal data. In this study, we used histograms and probability plots to check for normality. Based on these plots, it was determined that the data collected from the four treatments (Control, Lean, I-4.0, and 'Lean & I-4.0') are normally distributed.

The Figures 4.10 and 4.11, serve as representations of the normality check conducted for the treatment labeled 'Control.' Likewise, Figures 4.12 and 4.13 are indicative of the treatment labeled 'Lean.' Furthermore, Figures 4.14 and 4.15 pertain to the 'Industry 4.0' treatment, while Figures 4.16 and 4.17 are associated with the treatment 'Lean Industry 4.0.' These visual representations are integral to our analytical approach, providing insights into the distribution and characteristics of the data for each treatment. The normality checks are crucial in ensuring that the data conforms to the assumptions required for subsequent statistical analyses, reinforcing the reliability and validity of our findings.

4.16.2 Descriptive analysis of treatment's outcomes

We conducted a variance analysis on four different treatments to identify any significant variations and potential outliers in the data. To achieve this, we recorded the mean, standard deviation, and confidence interval of the OEE scores for each of the four treatments, as depicted in Table 4.1. We recorded 48 run scores (N) for each treatment and calculated the standard



Figure 4.11: Distribution fit for treatment - 'Control'



Figure 4.12: Normality check for treatment - 'Lean'



Figure 4.13: Distribution fit for treatment - 'Lean'



Figure 4.14: Normality check for treatment - 'Industry 4.0'



Figure 4.15: Distribution fit for treatment - 'Industry 4.0'



Figure 4.16: Normality check for treatment - 'Lean & Industry 4.0'



Figure 4.17: Distribution fit for treatment - 'Lean & Industry 4.0'

deviation to determine the variability of the scores. To evaluate the central tendency of the scores, we reported the mean scores and confidence intervals of the OEE metrics. In addition, we created a boxplot of the OEE scores for each treatment to visually identify any differences, as depicted in Figure 4.18.

| Treatments | N | Mean | SD | C.I. |
|-------------------------|----|-------|-------|----------------|
| 'Control' | 48 | 72.54 | 20.92 | (66.47, 78.62) |
| 'Lean' | 48 | 77.09 | 20.31 | (71.20, 82.99) |
| 'Industry 4.0' | 48 | 80.06 | 15.73 | (75.45, 84.68) |
| 'Lean and Industry 4.0' | 48 | 77.64 | 17.76 | (71.71, 82.33) |

Table 4.1: Analysis of variance of the studied treatments

4.16.3 Analysis of variance of four treatments

We aimed to conduct this analysis to investigate whether there were any significant differences among these four treatments. We conducted a one-way ANOVA. The results of the ANOVA showed that the p-value (0.286) was greater than the predetermined significance level of 0.05, as shown in Table 4.2, indicating that there were no significant differences among treatments.



Figure 4.18: Box plot of studied four treatments. It is noted that individual standard deviation is used to calculate the intervals.

This suggests that none of the treatments had a statistically significant impact on the outcome variable compared to the control group.

| Sources | DF | Sum of SS | Mean Sq. | F-Value | P-value |
|---------|-----|-----------|----------|---------|---------|
| Level | 3 | 1382.00 | 460.81 | 1.27 | 0.286 |
| Error | 188 | 68247.00 | 363.01 | | |
| Total | 191 | 69629.00 | | | |

Table 4.2: One-way ANOVA for four treatments

The ANOVA results show no statistical significance, indicating that we do not need any further comparison tests. This means that none of the treatments are significantly different from each other. Moving forward, we will focus on the next phase of our analysis, which involves testing our initial hypothesis. In the upcoming subsection, we will gather critical statistical information that will form the basis of our hypothesis testing and enhance our understanding of the underlying dynamics.

4.16.4 Equal variance

It is important to ensure equal variances when conducting statistical tests that compare data between two groups. To assess equal variance, an equal variance test is conducted. This step is crucial in determining whether the variances of two treatments are statistically equivalent [205]. This test holds particular significance in statistical analyses, such as t-tests and ANOVA, where the assumption of equal variances is fundamental to the validity of results.

Additionally, the process of decision-making based on the equal variance result is crucial for accurate statistical inferences. If the variances are found to be equal, it provides a strong foundation for confidently applying parametric tests like t-tests and ANOVA while assuming their validity. However, if the variances are significantly different, alternative non-parametric tests may be considered. This nuanced approach ensures that the chosen statistical tests align with the underlying characteristics of the data, ultimately facilitating more reliable and informed decision-making based on the outcomes of the equal variance assessment.

4.16.5 Equal variance tests for treatments - 'Control' & 'Lean'

After analyzing the bar plot and probability distribution graph, it has become apparent that both the 'Control' and 'Lean' treatments exhibit a normal distribution. To corroborate this observation, Bonett and Levene's tests were executed for the aforementioned treatments.

The outcomes for treatments 'Control' and 'Lean' are presented in Table 4.3, illustrating that both Bonett (p=0.891) and Levene (p=0.835) p-values comfortably exceed the 0.05 threshold. This consistency is visually evident in Figure 4.19.

The higher p-values signify that a two-sample t-test is warranted to rigorously evaluate the significance between these treatments. This approach ensures a robust and statistically sound assessment of their respective impacts, contributing valuable insights into the comparative effectiveness of the 'Control' and 'Lean' treatments.

| Test | Treatments | n | df | Mean | SD | Test statistics | P-value |
|--------|------------|----|----|-------|-------|-----------------|---------|
| Bonett | Control | 48 | 47 | 72.54 | 20.92 | 0.02 | 0.891 |
| | Lean | 48 | 47 | 77.09 | 20.31 | | |
| Levene | Control | 48 | 47 | 72.54 | 20.92 | 0.04 | 0.835 |
| | Lean | 48 | 47 | 77.09 | 20.31 | | |

Table 4.3: Equal variance tests ('Control' Vs. 'Lean')



Figure 4.19: Equal variance test (Bonnet & Levene) for treatments- 'Control' & 'Lean'

4.16.6 Equal variance test for treatments-'Control' & 'Industry 4.0'

To determine whether there was equal variability between the 'Control' and 'Industry 4.0' treatments, we conducted Bonett and Levene's tests, and we present the results concisely in Table 4.4. Notably, both Bonett (p=0.173) and Levene (p=0.230) p-values exceed the 0.05 threshold, as visually corroborated in Figure 4.20.

The high p-values suggest that there is not a significant difference in variability between the 'Control' and 'Industry 4.0' treatments. This indicates that we can use a two-sample t-test to thoroughly examine and distinguish their respective significant impacts on each other. This will provide useful insights into how effective each treatment is compared to the other.

| Test | Treatments | n | df | Mean | SD | P-value | |
|--------|--------------|----|----|-------|-------|---------|-------|
| Bonett | Control | 48 | 47 | 72.54 | 20.92 | 1.86 | 0.173 |
| | Industry 4.0 | 48 | 47 | 80.06 | 15.73 | | |
| Levene | Control | 48 | 47 | 72.54 | 20.92 | 1.46 | 0.230 |
| | Industry 4.0 | 48 | 47 | 80.06 | 15.73 | | |

Table 4.4: Equal variance tests ('Control' Vs. 'Industry 4.0')



Figure 4.20: Equal variance test (Bonnet & Levene) for treatments- 'Control' & 'Industry 4.0'

4.16.7 Equal variance tests for treatments-'Control' & 'Lean & Industry 4.0'

To assess the equality of variance between the two treatments, Control and Lean & Industry 4.0, we conducted both Bonett and Levene's tests. The test results are presented in Table 4.5. The results indicate that both Bonett (p=0.464) and Levene (p=0.776) exceed the significance level of 0.05. These findings are visually reinforced in Figure 4.21.

Based on the higher p-values that exceed the significance level, we can confidently conclude that the variability in both treatments is not significantly different. This finding supports the feasibility of conducting a two-sample t-test to evaluate the impact of both treatments. The test will determine whether one treatment significantly outperforms the other in terms of OEE improvement at Station 10, where the study took place.

| Test | Treatments | n | df | Mean | SD | P-value | |
|--------|---------------------|----|----|-------|-------|---------|-------|
| Bonett | Control | 48 | 47 | 72.54 | 20.92 | 0.56 | 0.464 |
| | Lean & Industry 4.0 | 48 | 47 | 77.76 | 17.76 | | |
| Levene | Control | 48 | 47 | 72.54 | 20.92 | 0.08 | 0.776 |
| | Lean & Industry 4.0 | 48 | 47 | 77.76 | 17.76 | | |

Table 4.5: Equal variance tests ('Control' Vs. 'Lean & Industry 4.0')



Figure 4.21: Equal variance test (Bonnet & Levene) for treatments- 'Control' & 'Lean & Industry 4.0'

4.16.8 Evidence for hypothesis-1

In order to evaluate the hypothesis, we performed a Welch t-test to compare the mean scores of the 'Control' group and the 'Industry 4.0' group for the outcome variable, OEE. The t-value we obtained was -1.08, calculated with 47 degrees of freedom, resulting in a p-value of 0.282, as shown in the table 4.6.

The obtained p-value is higher than the significance level of 0.05 that was set earlier, indicating that there is no significant difference between the treatments. Therefore, we cannot reject the null hypothesis, and it can be concluded that the 'Lean' treatment does not lead to a statistically significant increase in operational OEE compared to the 'Control' group.

Treatments df Mean SD **T-value** P-value n Control 48 47 72.54 20.40 -1.080.28248 77.76 Lean 47 17.76

Table 4.6: Two sample t-test ('Control' Vs. 'Lean')

4.16.9 Evidence for hypothesis-2

A Welch t-test was conducted to compare the mean scores of the control treatment (M = 72.54, SD = 20.92) and I-4.0 treatment (M = 80.06, SD = 15.73) on the outcome variable, the OEE. The t-value was -2.11 with 47 degrees of freedom, and the p-value was 0.038, as shown in Table 4.7, which is less than the significance level of 0.05. These results indicate a statistically significant difference between the treatments. According to our test results, we fail to reject our null hypothesis (*'There is no significant impact of Lean tools on operational performance improvement'*). This means that there is a significant difference between the control and I-4.0 treatments in terms of improving operational OEE at station 10. After analyzing the data, we can conclude that the I-4.0 treatment resulted in a statistically significant increase in operational OEE when compared to the control group.

Table 4.7: Two sample t-test ('Control' Vs. 'Industry 4.0')

| Treatments | n | df | Mean | SD | T-value | P-value |
|------------|----|----|-------|-------|---------|---------|
| Control | 48 | 47 | 72.54 | 20.40 | -2.11 | 0.038* |
| Lean | 48 | 47 | 80.20 | 15.73 | | |

4.16.10 Evidence for hypothesis-3

We used a two-sample t-test to compare the mean scores of the treatments, 'Control' (M = 72.54, SD = 20.4) and 'Lean & Industry 4.0' (M = 77.64, SD = 17.76) for the outcome variable, OEE. The t-value obtained was -1.12 with 47 degrees of freedom and a p-value of 0.267, shown in Table 4.8, which is higher than the significance level of 0.05.

With the higher p-value, we fail to reject the null hypothesis, suggesting no significant difference between 'Lean & Industry 4.0' and 'Control' treatments in improving operational OEE at station 10. In conclusion, it can be inferred that the 'Lean & Industry 4.0' treatment did

not result in a statistically significant improvement in operational OEE compared to the Control treatment.

| Treatments | n | df | Mean | SD | T-value | P-value |
|------------|----|----|-------|-------|---------|---------|
| Control | 48 | 47 | 72.54 | 20.40 | -1.12 | 0.267 |
| Lean | 48 | 47 | 77.64 | 17.76 | | |

Table 4.8: Two sample t-test ('Control' Vs. 'Lean & 'Industry 4.0')

4.16.11 Analysis of variance of order levels of treatment - 'Industry 4.0'

The study found that the 'Lean' and 'Lean & Industry 4.0' treatments have no significant impact over the 'Control' in terms of OEE. We found only the 'Industry 4.0' treatment significantly improves OEE over the control. However, each treatment has four levels (first, second, third, and fourth). Now, the question is, is there any significant difference among these order levels? To respond to this question, we conducted a one-way ANOVA to determine if order level significantly impacted the OEE improvement. Since other treatments do not significantly improve OEE, we excluded those from this analysis.

A one-way ANOVA was performed on the control treatment to investigate whether different order levels significantly impacted OEE improvement. The results, as shown in Table 4.9, indicate that the p-value (0.240) exceeds the 95 percent confidence level of 0.05. This suggests no significant impact of the order level of the control treatment on OEE improvement.

| Sources | DF | Sum of SS | Mean Sq. | F-Value | P-value |
|---------|----|-----------|----------|---------|---------|
| Level | 3 | 1089.00 | 362.90 | 1.45 | 0.240 |
| Error | 44 | 10988.00 | 249.70 | | |
| Total | 47 | 12077.00 | | | |

Table 4.9: Analysis of variance for order level of treatment-'Industry 4.0

For further investigation, we conducted a Tukey post hoc test to see if there is any significant difference between order levels. For this, we conducted the Tukey LSD grouping comparison analysis, and the results are documented in Table 4.10 and 4.11. The results reveal that between the order levels, there is no significant difference in keeping over the OEE improvement. For a more detailed analysis, we conducted a Tukey post hoc test to identify any significant differences among the order levels. Using the Tukey LSD grouping comparison analysis, the results are presented in the tables 4.10 and 4.11. According to the findings, there is no statistically significant difference observed between the various order levels when considering OEE improvement. This analysis provides valuable insights into the consistency of OEE enhancements across different order levels within the 'Industry 4.0' treatment. It contributes to a more nuanced understanding of the impact of order levels on OEE improvement.

| Order level | Ν | Mean | SE | 95 % C.I. |
|-------------|----|-------|-------|----------------|
| 1st | 12 | 76.79 | 13.10 | (67.60, 85.99) |
| 2nd | 12 | 74.42 | 19.36 | (65.22, 83.61) |
| 3rd | 12 | 83.13 | 18.62 | (73.93, 92.32) |
| 4th | 12 | 86.29 | 10.29 | (77.10, 95.49) |

Table 4.10: A Tukey LSD model summary for order-levels of 'Industry 4.0'

| Order level | Ν | Mean | Grouping |
|-------------|----|-------|----------|
| 1st | 12 | 76.79 | А |
| 2nd | 12 | 74.42 | А |
| 3rd | 12 | 83.13 | А |
| 4th | 12 | 86.29 | А |

Table 4.11: A Tukey LSD comparison for order-levels of 'Industry 4.0'

4.16.12 Demographic impact on subject's performance

We invited 48 subjects to participate in our study and categorized them based on their age, gender, education, geographic location, and experience with lego parts. We conducted a statistical analysis to determine if these demographic factors affect the subject's performance. To evaluate these factors, we used multiple regression analysis. All the factors we studied are categorical variables, while our target variable is the OEE, which is a quantitative variable. The results, presented in Table 4.12, indicate that Gender, age, education level, and experience with Lego parts did not significantly influence performance. However, the subjects' geographic origin exhibited a noteworthy impact. Specifically, participants from the USA demonstrated significantly superior performance compared to their Asian and European counterparts (p < 0.05). This implies that the location of origin is a factor influencing performance in Legorelated tasks. The findings highlight the nuanced interplay between demographic factors and task performance, underscoring the importance of considering geographical distinctions in future analyses. In conclusion, while certain demographic variables show no discernible effect, geographic origin emerges as a key determinant, emphasizing the need for a more nuanced understanding of diverse influences on task performance.

| Terms | Coefficient | SE | t-value | p-value |
|--|-------------|-------|---------|---------|
| Gender (Reference level: Female) | | | | |
| Male | 0.052 | 0.054 | 0.95 | 0.348 |
| Age (Reference level: 19-29 years) | | | | |
| 30-39 years | -0.095 | 0.08 | -1.17 | 0.251 |
| 40-49 years | -0.117 | 0.118 | -0.99 | 0.333 |
| 50-60 years | -0.280 | 0.153 | -1.83 | 0.077 |
| Country (Reference level: Asia) | | | | |
| USA | 0.112 | 0.054 | 2.06 | 0.048* |
| Europe | 0.031 | 0.090 | 0.34 | 0.737 |
| Education (Reference level: Associate) | | | | |
| Bachelor | -0.196 | 0.101 | -1.94 | 0.061 |
| Graduate | -0.190 | 0.116 | -1.65 | 0.110 |
| High school | -0.041 | 0.099 | -0.41 | 0.684 |
| Master | -0.038 | 0.104 | -0.37 | 0.713 |
| PhD | -0.080 | 0.174 | -0.46 | 0.650 |
| Experience with lego (Reference level: Expert) | | | | |
| Some | -0.125 | 0.065 | -1.91 | 0.064 |
| None | -0.125 | 0.050 | -2.49 | 0.018* |

Table 4.12: Demographic impact on subject's performance

4.17 Discussion

During our discussion, we aimed to answer some important questions related to the manufacturing community. One of the areas we explored was the role of Lean tools in improving instructional paperwork. We also examined whether I-4.0 is more effective on its own or when combined with Lean in improving performance. Based on our research findings, the following subsections provide detailed answers to these questions.

4.17.1 Which is more efficient, the mistake-proof (Lean) device or the control (paperwork instruction)?

To explore the efficiency comparison between the mistake-proof (Lean) device and the control (paperwork instruction), we conducted a hypothesis test by comparing the mean scores of the 'Control' group and the 'Industry 4.0' group for the outcome variable, OEE.

As indicated in Table 4.6, the results suggest that Lean does not significantly impact the subject's performance. In the context of our research, this implies that the mistake-proof device, representing Lean in this scenario, does not lead to a statistically significant increase in operational OEE compared to the 'Control' group, which relied on paperwork instructions. Based on our statistical analysis, there is no clear evidence to suggest that the mistake-proof (Lean) device is more efficient than the control (paperwork instruction) in influencing operational OEE. However, a closer look at the analysis of variance, presented in Table 4.3, reveals that subjects using the Lean tool experienced an increase in their average performance.

Our findings highlight the complexity of real-life assembly lines or manufacturing floors, which vary in modes and designs. The effectiveness of tools and technology is contingent on these parameters, which were not accounted for in our research. Therefore, we recommend conducting a pilot-scale analysis of tool and technology performance before their final installation. This approach ensures a more accurate understanding of their impact in diverse operational settings.

4.17.2 Does the implementation of 'Industry 4.0' have a significant impact on enhancing worker's performance?

Our analysis examined the relationship between Lean and I-4.0 and how they contribute to worker performance. At first, we thought that Lean tools would not have a significant impact, but our findings were more complex than we initially expected.

After examining the data, we discovered that combining I-4.0 with Lean resulted in a notable improvement in operational OEE at station 10. This suggests that using Lean principles alongside advanced I-4.0 technologies can positively affect worker performance. Our research highlights how important it is to explore the interaction between different methodologies and technologies in a manufacturing context. While in this study using Lean alone may not have a statistically significant impact, combining it with Industry 4.0 can lead to better overall efficiency.

In summary, our study demonstrates that integrating Lean and I-4.0 can significantly improve worker performance, especially in complex manufacturing environments. This knowledge can help refine strategies and tailor approaches for optimal performance.

4.17.3 To what extent does the synergy between 'Lean' and 'Industry 4.0' lead to a significant improvement in worker performance?

In our case study, we aimed to gather valuable information by conducting a hypothesis test, specifically exploring the impact of the synergy between Lean and Industry 4.0 on Overall Equipment Efficiency (OEE). Our hypothesis posited that the combination of Lean and Industry 4.0 would lead to higher OEE.

However, our analysis presented a higher p-value, which led us to fail to reject the null hypothesis. This indicates that there is no statistically significant difference between the 'Lean Industry 4.0' treatment and the 'Control' treatment in terms of improving operational OEE at station 10. In simpler terms, our statistical results do not provide enough evidence to support the idea that the collaborative approach of Lean and Industry 4.0 resulted in a significant improvement in OEE compared to the Control treatment.

This finding highlights the importance of critically examining the synergy between Lean and Industry 4.0 within the specific context of Station 10. While the combined treatment may have potential benefits, our analysis suggests that, in this instance, it did not lead to a statistically significant enhancement in operational OEE.

It's crucial to note that the absence of statistical significance in this particular case does not discount the potential effectiveness of the 'Lean Industry 4.0' approach in other contexts or scenarios. Manufacturing environments are diverse, and the impact of different strategies can vary based on factors such as processes, infrastructure, and workforce dynamics.

In conclusion, our study results suggest that, for station 10 in this specific case, the 'Lean & Industry 4.0' treatment did not yield a statistically significant improvement in operational OEE compared to the Control treatment. This emphasizes the need for careful consideration of the unique characteristics of each manufacturing scenario when implementing strategies aimed at enhancing operational efficiency. Further research and context-specific analysis may uncover additional insights into the potential benefits of synergizing Lean and Industry 4.0 methodologies.

4.17.4 Does a person's demographic background have an impact on their performance?

Demographic factors are often evaluated in studies that involve human subjects. In our analysis, we also took into account the impact of these factors. To do this, we conducted a survey of our 48 participants, where we collected information about their gender, age, country of origin, education, and experience with lego. Finally, we performed a multiple regression analysis to assess how these factors influenced the participants' performance, which we measured using OEE.

According to the statistical analysis conducted, most demographic factors did not significantly affect task performance. The results, as presented in Table 4.12, refer that gender, age, education level, and experience with lego parts were non-significant contributors to variations in OEE. This means that these factors do not play a discernible role in predicting or explaining the subjects' performance in the LEGO task.

111

The study found that apart from gender, age, education level, and experience, the geographical origin of the participants also affects task performance. The research revealed that participants from the United States performed significantly better than their Asian and European counterparts, with a significance level of p ; 0.05. Hence, the study suggests that the regional location of origin plays a crucial role in determining performance in Lego-related tasks. Therefore, it is essential to consider regional differences while analyzing and interpreting task performance data.

To sum up, the study found that certain demographic factors, such as gender, age, education, and Lego experience, did not have a significant impact on task performance. However, the study identified geographic origin as a factor affecting performance. This highlights the need for a more nuanced understanding of the various factors that influence task performance. The study's findings suggest that future analyses should consider geographic distinctions, emphasizing a context-specific approach when evaluating performance in Lego-related tasks.

4.18 Summary of the study

This study aimed to address the research gap in the current literature regarding the lack of one-to-one interaction between Lean and I-4.0. It was designed to evaluate the impact of a specific Lean tool and a specific I-4.0 technology, both individually and combined, on OEE improvement. Statistical analysis was carried out to test the significance of the individual and combined impact of Lean and I-4.0 on OEE. The results showed that I-4.0 had a significant impact on OEE, while Lean and Lean & I-4.0 did not.

However, the study is limited by certain constraints, which should be taken into account by researchers in similar fields in their future research. For example, the study analyzed variance to examine the impact of the order of treatments assigned to the subject on performance. It was found that the third and fourth orders had a significantly higher impact on OEE. The subject's experience can influence this effect. We assumed that as the subjects gained experience in assembling the cars during the first and second orders, their performance would be enhanced in the fourth order. However, to validate this assumption, we require experimental data, which calls for additional research. This study is limited to the subject recruitment process. We invited

a total of 48 subjects while the first 24 were without offering any motivation. In the second half, we invited 24 subjects with motivation. However, we did not find any statistically significant difference in the performance of the subjects who were motivated compared to those who were not motivated.

Although the study has certain limitations, its findings are significant in understanding the relationship between Lean and I-4.0 and their impact on OEE. The results offer valuable insights to industries and organizations striving to optimize their operations and enhance efficiency. In conclusion, exploring the one-to-one interaction between Lean and I-4.0 and its implication for OEE improvement provides valuable knowledge to increase operational efficiency and productivity across different industries.

Chapter 5

Impact of a balanced workflow in productivity and efficiency improvement

5.1 Introduction

The manufacturing industry is constantly changing and requires a strategic response to keep up with the dynamic nature of processes, technologies, and market demands [112, 161, 163]. Organizations need to adapt and thrive amidst this dynamism. Two crucial considerations emerge in this context: efficiency and productivity of processes. Efficiency is a measure of how well a system or activity converts inputs into valuable outputs while minimizing waste and maximizing productivity. Efficient processes are characterized by optimal use of resources, reduced costs, minimal errors, and timely completion of tasks. Manufacturers are always aiming to obtain higher efficiency. The literature says that higher efficiency can be achieved through Lean methodologies [158, 160]. Lean is a structured approach that focuses on eliminating waste, improving efficiency, and enhancing overall processes are not only efficient but also agile enough to respond to evolving market demands. Lean's emphasis on continuous improvement aligns seamlessly with the dynamic nature of modern manufacturing, making it a fundamental strategy for process optimization in dynamic environments [9, 181].

On the other hand, productivity refers to the measure of the efficiency with which resources are utilized to generate output or achieve specific goals. It is often expressed as the ratio of output to input in a given time period. Productivity is a crucial metric for evaluating the efficiency and effectiveness of processes, systems, or individuals [206, 207]. While Lean focuses on streamlining and optimizing processes, I-4.0 introduces advanced technologies like Simulation, IoT, AI, and real-time data analytics to improve efficiency. These technologies automate tasks, provide predictive analytics, and enable intelligent decision-making, thus improving process efficiency. Combining Lean and I-4.0 technologies becomes a strategic imperative as Lean creates a foundation for efficient processes, and I-4.0 technologies provide the tools for digitalization and smart manufacturing practices to amplify this efficiency [208, 209]. This collaborative approach ensures that organizations optimize their processes with Lean while also future-proofing their operations by leveraging the transformative capabilities of I-4.0 in the manufacturing landscape.

Technological advancement offers multiple alternatives for similar purposes. Among these options, manufacturers need to choose the best alternative. In this essence, simulation emerges as a valuable tool to conduct trade-off analyses among different combinations of options in a virtual environment rather than through physical installations [178, 209]. This approach is advantageous as it facilitates cost-effective decision-making while minimizing potential financial risks associated with direct implementation [208, 210]. Simulation, in the context of industrial processes or manufacturing, involves the creation of a computer-based model that mimics the behavior of a system [211, 210]. This model enables manufacturers to analyze and evaluate the performance of various alternatives under simulated conditions. By employing simulation, manufacturers can assess factors such as production efficiency, resource utilization, and overall system performance without the need for costly physical prototypes or installations.

The dynamic nature of simulation modeling permits organizations to adapt integration strategies to changing conditions and evolving requirements. Simulation not only provides a cost-effective and controlled environment for experimentation but also serves as a strate-gic decision-support tool for mitigating risks and fine-tuning the integrated system before its real-world implementation [208, 210]. In essence, it becomes a catalyst for refining and op-timizing the integration strategy to align seamlessly with the intricacies of dynamic industrial landscapes.

In the literature, several authors demonstrated the application of simulation modeling in trade-off analysis of different production strategies within the manufacturing floors, allowing visual representation of complex systems [212, 213]. Simulation modeling can be effectively used to explore the intricacies of workflows, enabling a shared perspective on the current state

115

of operations and potential areas for improvement. The authors demonstrated how organizations can use simulation models to validate and refine constant improvement initiatives, ensuring that changes positively impact efficiency without causing unintended consequences elsewhere in the system [210, 214]. Thus, simulation allows stakeholders to observe the virtual manufacturing environment, offering insights into the alignment and potential modifications required for the coexistence of different strategic paradigms [210, 209]. It identifies interdependencies, enabling decision-makers to foresee challenges, mitigate risks, and optimize the overall system's performance. Through this visual and dynamic representation, simulation serves as a catalyst for informed decision-making [210, 213], ensuring a strategic and harmonious integration of different paradigms [76, 215].

In order to address the limitations of physical experimentation and bridge the gap between theoretical concepts and real-world industrial applications, the study has turned to simulation or computer modeling. By simulating extensive production scenarios virtually, it is possible to emulate the intricacies of a production environment on a scale that mirrors real-world complexities. This approach provides a versatile platform for testing and iteratively refining the integration framework. The simulation model is instrumental in validating the conceptual framework in a virtual setting, offering a cost-effective and efficient means to simulate the interactions between I-4.0 and LP within the expansive scope of large-scale industrial operations.

We drew motivation from literature, which highlights simulation's efficacy in closely replicating system performance. The focus remains on exploring efficient and balanced workflows that can enhance productivity. Our goal with DES is to thoroughly analyze workflow dynamics and provide insights for optimizing productivity through an efficient operational framework.

This contribution is the extended case study of the previous two studies, as we demonstrated in Chapters 3 & 4, respectively. In short, in Chapter 3, we proposed a conceptual framework to integrate Lean and I-4.0. In Chapter 4, we demonstrated validation of the proposed framework by implementing it in the Lean Education Automotive Lab. However, the validation process was limited to a small number of subjects. Therefore, in this study, we aimed to extend the validation process to increase the number of replications under different scenarios. More specifically, the study aims to validate the proposed integration framework of 'Lean 4.0' by examining the variability of its performance under a large number of replications and different scenarios using DES. Additionally, it aims to conduct a comparative analysis of eight different layouts of workflow and to identify the most efficient one followed by the subject.

5.2 Literature review

In this section, we will discuss the successful application of DES in the context of Lean digitization. Our focus will be on examining empirical evidence regarding the effectiveness of DES in improving manufacturing processes. The literature consistently highlights DES as a powerful and influential tool for enhancing various aspects of manufacturing operations. For instance, separate studies have demonstrated that DES modeling can be used to evaluate and improve the productivity of manufacturing floors by optimizing the use of resources [216, 217]. One important application of DES modeling in manufacturing is process optimization. By utilizing DES, the entire production process can be modeled to identify bottlenecks, inefficiencies, and opportunities for improvement. Manufacturers can optimize workflows, reduce cycle times, and enhance overall productivity by evaluating different Lean methodologies and scenarios, such as VSM or Kanban [17, 129].

DES plays a vital role in the field of Lean layout design, enabling proactive identification of issues and optimization of performance. Its efficient implementation can significantly enhance the overall productivity and efficiency of the process [218]. Through meticulous DES of real-world scenarios and nuanced analysis of variable interactions, DES serves as an indispensable tool for refining the intricacies of Lean layout design [218, 211]. Effective utilization of DES provides a competitive edge in manufacturing production, distinguished by insights derived from a comprehensive evaluation of dynamic factors, leading to a higher level of operational effectiveness within Lean methodologies [126, 219].

Manufacturers can visualize and test various layout configurations in a virtual environment. They can observe the impact on material flow, operator movement, and workstation utilization by simulating different layouts. This allows for designing a Lean layout that minimizes waste and maximizes operational efficiency. Inventory management is another crucial aspect where DES comes into play. By simulating various inventory management strategies, such as JIT inventory or Kanban systems, manufacturers can analyze the effects of inventory levels on production, inventory holding costs, and stock-outs [220, 221]. This enables them to find the right balance between inventory and production needs.

Workforce optimization is also enhanced through DES modeling. Manufacturers can assess workforce productivity and efficiency by incorporating workforce behaviors and capabilities into the DES. It helps to identify skill gaps, training requirements, and workforce allocation to optimize human resources within the Lean digitized environment. DES is instrumental in managing change during Lean digitization initiatives. Manufacturers can assess the impact on various departments, processes, and stakeholders by simulating the effects of implementing these changes across the organization [222, 223]. This allows for a smoother transition and effective change management. In addition, DES can analyze equipment utilization within the Lean digitized environment. By simulating different scenarios, manufacturers can identify underutilized resources and optimize equipment allocation to minimize idle time and maximize production output. DES models also facilitate performance measurement by collecting realtime data during manufacturing. Manufacturers can monitor KPIs related to Lean digitization efforts, enabling data-driven decision-making and continuous improvement [224, 225].

In the realm of manufacturing, the integration of robotics is another area where DES plays a significant role. Simulation models validate frameworks that introduce robots into LP systems [210, 221]. These simulations provide insights into how robotic automation affects tasks like material handling, assembly processes, and quality control. These frameworks can be optimized before implementation by evaluating the impact on efficiency and waste reduction. Integration frameworks involving automation and conveyor systems also benefit from DES validation. These frameworks strive to integrate automated material handling systems seamlessly with Lean principles to minimize waste and optimize production flow. Simulation models allow for a thorough evaluation of how these systems impact overall efficiency, identifying potential bottlenecks or areas of improvement. Another vital aspect is integrating digital Kanban systems, which are validated using DES. Kanban systems are crucial to LP for managing inventory and ensuring a smooth production process [226, 181]. Through simulations, integration frameworks that digitize these systems can be tested to guarantee that signals for inventory replenishment remain synchronized with production needs. When considering incorporating predictive maintenance technologies into LP, DES plays a key role in validating the integration frameworks. By modeling the impact of predictive maintenance on production schedules and equipment uptime, simulations help assess how these technologies can be seamlessly integrated without disrupting the efficiency gains achieved through Lean practices. Furthermore, DES is applied to validate integration frameworks that enable data-driven decision-making within Lean environments [227, 228]. By simulating real-time data analytics and their impact on production planning, waste reduction, and overall process optimization, these frameworks can be fine-tuned for optimal outcomes [229, 230].

In LP, integrating technologies that offer real-time monitoring and visualization is becoming increasingly important. Integration frameworks that align LP with agile manufacturing principles are also subject to DES validation. Simulations evaluate how these frameworks manage dynamic changes in production demand while adhering to Lean ideals of waste reduction and continuous improvement [210, 231]. Quality management is a critical aspect of LP, and integration frameworks involving Lean principles and quality management systems are validated using DES [229, 210]. These frameworks can be evaluated through simulations to ensure that quality control processes seamlessly complement production flow. DES finds application in validating integration frameworks that target energy efficiency within LP. These frameworks integrate energy-saving technologies while maintaining Lean efficiency. Simulations provide insights into how these measures impact production processes and energy consumption.

On the manufacturing floor, workflow standardization is a challenging task. Inappropriate workflow can lead to waste and decreased productivity and quality. However, the use of DES can help by virtually simulating various workflows, without the need for investments in time and money. By modeling and analyzing complex processes with a focus on dynamic events, DES is a useful tool for improving workflow balancing. It considers various factors such as processing times, delays, and resource constraints. This helps identify inefficiencies in workflow structure, which can be proactively optimized for a more balanced workflow. DES also optimizes resource allocation by simulating different scenarios to determine the optimal distribution of tasks among resources. This minimizes idle time and enhances overall resource

utilization for a more efficient workflow. DES is also adaptable to changes in workflow conditions dynamically, allowing stakeholders to examine how the workflow responds to changes and ensuring the system remains balanced under varying conditions. DES provides a visual representation of workflow dynamics, enabling stakeholders to observe the flow of tasks, identify bottlenecks, and comprehend the overall balance of the system. This contributes to informed decision-making for workflow improvement and facilitates ongoing efforts for workflow enhancement and efficiency through continuous scenario analysis. For example, in a study [232], authors endeavored to assess the efficiency of various strategies to optimize the operations of a body shop system while keeping costs under control using DES modeling. The authors analyzed the current system and identified areas of concern that led to suggested solutions. Upon implementing the proposed changes, the body shop TP increased by 2.6 percent, while uptime rose by 79.5 percent, and scrap was reduced by 0.3 percent. These improvements resulted in an impressive return on investment of 497 percent. The study aimed to address the facility manager's needs and priorities, with the primary objective of improving the body shop's efficiency. In a case study [233], authors applied the DES model to overcome shortcomings in planning construction processes while using each technique alone or with Building Information Modeling (BIM). This approach results in a more efficient integration with BIM models, providing a comprehensive framework for planning that takes into account constraints on equipment and labor. The use of DES in conjunction with takt time optimizes supply chain management, enabling JIT implementation based on optimal time, equipment, and labor. The results, demonstrated in a small building context, suggest wider applicability across diverse construction processes, promising reductions in time, cost, waste, and energy consumption while optimizing resources.

In all these cases, DES proves invaluable by providing a virtual environment for exploring balanced workflow and testing integration frameworks of technology and LP principles. Having a balanced workflow is essential for businesses to remain competitive and productive. On the other hand, an effective and efficient integration framework is essential to allow new and emerging technologies into the production floors. In our case study, we observed eight different workflow layouts that had varying cycle times. However, we noticed that our sample size was

very small (n=12). As a result, we needed to replicate the subject's behavior and extend it to a larger set of data. To do this, we used the DES model to explore a balanced workflow and determine whether such a workflow could significantly improve productivity and efficiency.

5.3 Research questions and hypotheses

We conducted this study with two research questions, as defined below.

RQ1: How does the implementation of a balanced workflow impact throughput?

RQ2: How does implementing a balanced workflow impact cycle time reduction?

To explore the answers to the above-mentioned research questions in a scientific way, we develop two hypotheses. Then, we gathered data to prove whether these hypotheses were true or false and made our decision.

Hypothesis-1: The implementation of a balanced workflow does not have a significant impact on the throughput improvement.

Hypothesis-2:The implementation of a balanced workflow does not have a significant impact on cycle time reduction.

5.4 Methodology

In this section section, we outline the basic steps that we followed in constructing the DES model. We break down the various components of the entire working procedure into steps to provide a comprehensive view of the system. Additionally, we highlight the assumptions underpinning our model, offering insights into its foundational principles. In the following subsections, we demonstrated how we executed our study toward obtaining a balanced and efficient workflow by applying the DES model.

5.4.1 Working procedures

In Chapter 3, we proposed an integration framework. Consequently, we tested the proposed framework in the Lean Education Lab in Chapter 4. We defined the Lab manufacturing environment as a manufacturing organization. Primarily, we validated the 'Control' phase of the framework, where the invited subject assembled the SUV cars using Lego parts. The subjects followed a paperwork instruction in picking and placing the Lego parts during the assembly. There were 18 Lego parts showing the picking and placing sequence in the paperwork instructions. Their picking and placing sequences were recorded. In this study, we watched the recorded videos and calculated the time each subject took to pick and place Lego during their assembling process.

The study was driven by the research question - does the sequence of workflow impact the subject's performance? To respond to this question, we were motivated to conduct this study. The required data were pulled from the study as demonstrated in Chapter 4. We invited 48 subjects to perform in assembling SUV cars under four different treatments (described in Chapter 4). Using 'Industry 4.0' was one of the four treatments. However, in this study, we only used the data from the treatment - 'Industry 4.0'. We randomly used 12 (out of 48) subjects' performance data, which information was used to mimic their performance using the DES model. The employed steps are depicted in Figure 5.1, providing a visual representation of the working procedures.

Model Development: Build a detailed DES model in Simio that represents the integration framework and its processes. Define the entities, resources, and logic of how Lean and I-4.0 components interact and work together.

Input Data Collection: Gather relevant data on process times, equipment capabilities, and other parameters required for the DES model. This data will be used to replicate real-world scenarios accurately.

Input Data Collection: Scenario Definition: Define the scenarios to be simulated, representing different operating conditions and integration strategies. This may include workload variations, machine breakdowns, or different integration framework configurations.



Figure 5.1: Basic steps of DES modeling

Input Data Collection: Model Calibration: Calibrate the DES model to match real-world performance by adjusting parameters and validating against historical data or observed behavior.

Performance Analysis: Simulate each defined scenario and collect performance data. Analyze the results to assess the integration framework's effectiveness in achieving desired objectives, such as efficiency gains, waste reduction, or quality improvements.

Sensitivity Analysis: Conduct sensitivity analysis to understand how parameter changes impact the integration framework's performance. Identify critical factors and potential bottlenecks.

Optimization and Improvement: Use the insights gained from the DES to identify areas for optimization and improvement. Make changes to the integration framework based on DES results to enhance performance.

Validation Report: Document the entire performance validation process, including the DES model, input data, scenarios, results, and improvement recommendations, in a comprehensive validation report.

Feedback and Stakeholder Review: Present the validation report to stakeholders for feedback and review. If necessary, incorporate their input into further refining the integration framework and DES model.

Continued Monitoring and Iterative Validation: Continuously monitor the real-world implementation of the integration framework and iteratively validate the DES model as changes or updates are made to ensure its accuracy and relevance.

5.4.2 Discrete event simulation modeling

Although we introduced the DES in the previous section, we will now outline its basic features. DES modeling is a powerful technique used to represent and analyze complex systems, operations, or processes dynamically [229, 212]. It involves modeling systems as they change over time due to discrete events, which occur at specific points in time and trigger state changes or interactions. Unlike continuous DES, which uses continuous variables for time representation, DES focuses on event-driven modeling, advancing the DES to the next relevant event

when an occurrence takes place. This approach optimizes computational resources and allows decision-makers to explore various scenarios and understand system behavior under different conditions.

The roots of DES can be traced back to the early 20th century when early applications were seen in the military for tactical scenario analysis [212, 234]. However, its widespread adoption came with the development of digital computers during the mid-20th century, making it feasible to perform complex DES in a relatively short time. Over the years, DES has found applications in diverse fields such as manufacturing, logistics, healthcare, finance, and telecommunications, proving particularly useful in studying complex systems where analytical solutions are impractical. Developing a DES model involves formulating a conceptual model of the system, specifying entities, events, resources, and their interactions [9, 235]. This conceptual model is then translated into a computer program using specialized DES software or programming languages. The DES model allows for experimentation by varying input parameters or system configurations to analyze the impact of different scenarios and optimize system performance. By using DES, decision-makers can make informed choices based on the DES results.

As technology advances, the accuracy and performance of DES models are expected to improve further, making them an indispensable tool for solving real-world problems and gaining insights into the behavior of complex systems. Its versatility and ability to handle dynamic, event-based systems continue to ensure its relevance and importance across various industries and domains.

5.4.3 Simio software for DES modeling

Simio is a simulation software developed in 2005, offering powerful tools for DES and agentbased modeling (ABM) [236, 237]. Its unique combination of DES and ABM allows users to create comprehensive models of complex systems. Simio uses an object-oriented approach, simplifying model development and promoting re-usability. Its intuitive drag-and-drop interface and 3D animation enhance the visualization of models, aiding in better understanding and analysis. The software offers optimization and analysis tools, enabling users to evaluate scenarios and make data-driven decisions for system improvement. Simio supports integration with external data sources and cloud-based collaboration, making it a versatile tool used in various industries and academia for teaching DES concepts. Its popularity stems from its user-friendliness and ability to tackle intricate real-world problems.

In the context of our study, we have chosen Simio as the simulation software due to its unique advantages over other platforms. Simio has a user-friendly interface and robust modeling capabilities, which allows for a seamless integration of object-oriented programming and simulation modeling. It is highly flexible and efficient, making it the perfect fit for our specific needs and providing a comprehensive representation of complex systems. Furthermore, Simio's extensive support for integration with other technologies and its ability to conduct detailed analysis make it the ideal choice for our research objectives, making it a preferred option over alternative simulation software platforms.

5.4.4 Current workflow

The study was conducted at the Lean Education Laboratory, which follows a standard workflow shown in Figure 5.2. The workflow involves using 18 Lego parts to build an SUV car at station 10. Across 15 stations, a total of 237 Lego parts are used to build a single car. Our study was conducted at station 10, where the 18 Lego parts are identified with part numbers, as shown in Figure 5.2. A flow of parts is also shown in the work instructions. It is assumed that the subject will follow the given workflow layout according to paperwork instructions. However, in our investigation, we found that the subject naturally followed their consumed instruction, although the given paperwork guided them. In this essence, we were motivated to explore how many workflow layouts are followed by subjects. Also, we intended to estimate the efficiency of the following workflows in terms of TP and efficient cycle time/TIS. Based on these, we postulated two hypotheses as we demonstrated in the previous 'Research and Hypotheses' section.

We conducted an investigation assuming that the participant would carefully follow the given instructions. Our aim was to examine whether the subject adhered to the prescribed directions outlined in the workflow or deviated from them during the Lego assembly. If any deviations are identified, we will analyze whether there is a better competitive balance workflow



Figure 5.2: Current workflow instructions of 'Lean Education Laboratory'

that maximizes the TP while minimizing the cycle time or time in the system (TIS). This investigation will help us evaluate the practical adherence and procedural efficacy of the established workflow at station 10 within the Lean Education Laboratory.

5.4.5 Strategy followed by subjects in assembling

In our study, we aimed to uncover the overall strategy followed by the subjects. We discovered that the subjects initially followed the given workflow instructions. They were provided with four car buildings in their practice demonstration session and were later given 10 cars to build for each treatment, resulting in a total of 40 cars over the four treatments. However, as they progressed, they deviated from the given workflow instructions and started following a sequence that they found comfortable. Despite this, they were able to complete the car-building process, which we represented as an entity in the Simio model, at station 10. Once the assembly was completed, they checked the car under the smart camera instruction and corrected any missing or misplaced parts before placing them in the completion tray. This ensured that all parts were good, which was another assumption we demonstrated in building our DES model. The strategy followed by the subjects is illustrated in Figure 5.3.



Figure 5.3: The strategy followed by subjects in assembling the cars of SUV model

5.4.6 Subjects' adherence to uncovered workflows

We recorded the subjects' performance in assembling the cars and restricted among the researchers according to the research protocol of the Internal Review Board of Auburn University. We watched the recorded videos and observed the workflow of each subject in assembling the cars. Among a total of 48, we watched and observed 12 subjects' performance randomly under the treatment of 'Industry 4.0'. We have observed eight different sequences, each assigned with a unique number from S1 to S8. These sequences vary in the order of picking and placing Lego parts. The workflows are depicted in individual figures. Specifically, Figure 5.4 corresponds to S1, Figure 5.5 corresponds to S2, Figure 5.6 corresponds to S3, Figure 5.7 corresponds to S4, Figure 5.9 corresponds to S5, Figure 5.8 corresponds to S6, Figure 5.10 corresponds to S7, and Figure 8 corresponds to S8.

5.4.7 Balanced workflow investigation

In the current workflow layouts, we explored eight different layouts that are widely used by research subjects. Now, the aim is to evaluate the efficiency of eight different workflow layouts to identify the most effective one. To achieve this, we engaged a small group of research subjects who actively participated in assembling SUV cars using Lego, as detailed in Chapter 4, under four distinct treatments. For the purposes of this study, we specifically drew upon the performance data from the 'Industry 4.0' treatment. The decision to focus on the 'Industry 4.0' treatment was rooted in the assumption that it was found to be significantly more efficient when compared to the other three treatments. Also, it is capable of ensuring zero-defect operation, which means whatever it produces is good in terms of quality. This capability is attributed to the


Figure 5.4: Observed workflow, S1. The number represents the sequence of picking and placing the Lego parts during the assembly.



Figure 5.5: Observed workflow, S2. The number represents the sequence of picking and placing the Lego parts during the assembly.



Figure 5.6: Observed workflow, S3. The number represents the sequence of picking and placing the Lego parts during the assembly.



Figure 5.7: Observed workflow, S4. The number represents the sequence of picking and placing the Lego parts during the assembly.



Figure 5.8: Observed workflow, S5. The number represents the sequence of picking and placing the Lego parts during the assembly.



Figure 5.9: Observed workflow, S6. The number represents the sequence of picking and placing the Lego parts during the assembly.



Figure 5.10: Observed workflow, S7. The number represents the sequence of picking and placing the Lego parts during the assembly.



Figure 5.11: Observed workflow, S8. The number represents the sequence of picking and placing the Lego parts during the assembly.

integration of smart vision technology, enabling the detection of defects during the production process.

Since we operate with a single station where each worker can build one car at a time, we created eight different simulation models to represent eight different workflows. Under the given setup with a single working station, it is essential to note that each worker or subject is capable of assembling one car at a time. Upon completion, the subject proceeds to pull another car from the preceding station. In light of this operational context, we developed eight distinct DES models, each corresponding to a unique workflow (S1-S8). Our evaluation criteria focused on assessing their efficiency in terms of TP and Total TIS. Subsequently, we conducted a thorough analysis of their performance, employing these metrics to identify the most efficient and balanced workflow. The ensuing subsections delve into a detailed demonstration of the performance characteristics inherent in the defined workflows.

5.4.8 Measuring scales/measurements in simulation modeling

We measured three metrics to assess the DES outcomes in exploring the most efficient workflow. These metrics are analysis of variance, Throughput (TP), and Cycle time (CT), provide valuable insights into the performance and dynamics of the simulated system.

5.4.9 Aalysis of variance

For the analysis of variance, we employed one-way Analysis of Variance (ANOVA). This statistical method is utilized to evaluate whether statistically significant differences exist among the means of eight independent layouts within the workflow. One-way ANOVA enables us to assess variations between multiple groups and determine if these differences are beyond what could be expected by random chance.

In the context of our study, this technique serves as a robust tool to examine the efficiency and performance disparities among distinct workflow layouts. By statistically evaluating the mean differences, we gain valuable insights into the impact of layout variations on the outcomes, contributing to a more comprehensive understanding of the system's dynamics and aiding in the identification of optimal workflow configurations.

5.4.10 Throughput (TP)

Throughput, a key performance metric in DES modeling, plays a pivotal role in evaluating the effectiveness of the Simio model. TP represents the rate at which a system can produce its desired output, reflecting the efficiency and productivity of the modeled processes. It is an essential parameter as it directly impacts resource utilization, system capacity, and overall performance. The valid TP equation 5.1 is often defined as:

$$Throughput(TP) = \frac{Total \ Output}{Simulation \ Time}$$
(5.1)

This equation quantifies the efficiency of the system by calculating the ratio of total output to the simulation time. Evaluating TP allows us to gain insights into how well the simulated workflows are functioning, identifying potential bottlenecks, resource constraints, or areas for improvement. By incorporating TP analysis into our evaluation of the Simio model, we can make informed decisions aimed at optimizing system performance and ensuring that the simulated processes align with real-world expectations.

5.4.11 Time in System (TIS)

The TIS refers to the total time an entity spends within the simulation model from the moment it enters the system until it exits. In the steady state, the TIS is the average queue time and the service time. Mathematically, the TIS can be estimated by employing Little Law's equation [238]:

$$W = W_q + E(S) \tag{5.2}$$

Here, in the steady state, W: The average time in the system (TIS); W_q : The average queue time in the system; E(S): The average service time for entities;

As indicated by Equation 5.2, during a steady-state scenario, the Total TIS is determined by the average time entities spend in the system. This includes both service times and waiting times at each station, whether examined individually or collectively across the entire system. Nevertheless, in our specific case study, the entity experiences no queue time; thus, W_q is effectively zero for our investigation.

5.4.12 Cycle time (CT)

CT represents the average time that an entity takes for a system or process to complete one full cycle or iteration. It is a broader measure, including processing time, wait time and other delays. In other words, CT is the average TIS, which can be estimated the CT by employing the following equation.

$$CT = \frac{Total \ time \ spent \ by \ all \ entities}{Number \ of \ completed \ cycles}$$
(5.3)

The analysis, as per Equation 5.3, suggests that the average TIS for the entity aligns with the CT, representing the duration required for a full cycle. In the context of our specific case study, this complete cycle entails the entire assembly process of an SUV car, using Lego parts.

5.4.13 Model assumptions

A set of assumptions has been defined that serve as foundational premises, shaping and influencing the anticipated outcomes of the model. These assumptions encapsulate the fundamental conditions and parameters considered during the modeling process and provide a framework for understanding and interpreting the subsequent predictions and analyses. In essence, the following set of assumptions are defined.

- We assumed an infinite availability of materials during the simulation runs to ensure no shortages occurred in the production process.
- We assumed that the production station has only one worker, which means the server capacity is one. Therefore, as soon as one entity is assembled, another one will be assembled.
- We assumed the model entities entering into the queue by following the 'first in, first out' ranking rule
- We assumed that the processing time used in the model derived from the distribution of the subject's performance.
- We assumed that manufacturing production would be uninterrupted by equipment breakdowns or maintenance during the simulation.
- We defined the warm-up period as 100 minutes.
- The run time for the experiment was determined to be 550 minutes.
- The experiment for all workflow models was run for 1000 replications under a single scenario.

5.5 Model developments

This section outlines the process of developing the DES model by using data from an empirical study, as presented in Chapter 4. The objective was to verify whether the DES model replicated the behavior of subjects during the assembly of an SUV using Lego parts. Model testing is crucial to evaluate the extent to which the observed outcomes supported or contradicted the real performance of subjects. Our next step was to conduct experiments with more replications and assess if the results were consistent with our proposed hypothesis - 'A balanced workflow has no impact on cycle time reduction of a manufacturing floor.' The Simio environment was used to develop the DES model through several steps, which are demonstrated below.

First, in the simio software, we created a data table using object instance and object type properties. We utilized the 'object type property' column to refer to particular instances of objects. Additionally, for each object instance's specific location in the facility, we employed two real properties - one denoting the x location and the other representing the z location, as illustrated in Figure 5.12. We used object instance properties to depict the model entity, resource, source, servers, and sink, as depicted in Figure 5.13. Each server represents a specific Lego assembly station and its processing time is the time to pick and place a part.

Second, we created a data table for the model entity called 'Part', referring to the DES model (Figure 5.14). Two columns were created under this table. The first column is for the entity and is denoted as 'Parts'. The second column is for the real property and is denoted as 'Mix', which denotes the probability of source referencing. The entity property column was made as a key column for proper identification.

Third, another table was created, named 'Seq,' representing the part movement in the DES model, as shown in Figure 5.15. This table consists of three columns. The first column is named 'Entity A' and belongs to the 'Foreign Key Property'. It is connected to the 'Parts' column of the 'Part' table. The second column is named 'Sequence' and belongs to the 'Sequence Destination Property'. It refers to the destination of each entity, for example, 'Part A'. The third column is named 'AssembleTime' and belongs to the 'Expression Property'. It represents the processing time of each server.

| Table for component | model nts, as | Column f insta | for object nces | ins | X-locat stances 1 | ion of o , as dep acility | bject bicted in |
|--------------------------|------------------|-------------------|--|------|-------------------------|----------------------------------|--------------------|
| showing in facility view | | | Column for object Z instance's type | | Z-lo | -location of object instances | |
| Z Facility | 8 Process | ses 📲 i | Definitions | 器 Da | ta 📗 | Results | Planning |
| Views < | Model | Component | Part | Seq | Add On Fr | oc / | / |
| | | Object | OType | * | x Loc | z Loc | |
| | +1 | P30L | Server | | -11 | 3.5 | |
| Tables | 2 | P30R | Server | | -11 | 0 | |
| - | 3 | P22L | Server | | -11 | -3 | |
| | 4 | P22R | Server | | -11 | -6 | |
| Data | 5 | P29L | Server | | -11 | 10.5 | |
| Connectors | 6 | P29R | Server | | -11 | 7 | |
| | 7 | P65F | Server | | -11 | -9 | |
| | 8 | P65B | Server | | 4 | 9 | |
| Lookup Tables | 9 | SUB | Server | | -3.5 | 0.5 | |
| | 10 | P15L | Server | | 4 | -7 | |
| | 11 | P15R | Server | | 4 | -3 | |
| Data Tables | 12 | P28L | Server | | 4 | 1 | |
| Rate Tables | 13 | P28R | Server | | 4 | 5 | |
| 23 | 14 | Qcheck | Server | | 12.5 | 0 | |
| | 15 | Sink1 | Sink | | 22 | 0 | |
| Work Schedules | 16 | Source1 | Source | | -17 | 0 | |
| 1 23 | 17 * | Resour | Resource | | -2.5 | -13 | |
| Changeover Matrices | | | | | | | |

Figure 5.12: DES model component are defined in a structured way



Figure 5.13: DES model facility view (workflow sequence - S1)



Figure 5.14: The 'Part' table generation for model entity (PartA) entering into the DES model (workflow sequence - S1)



Figure 5.15: The 'Seq' table generated in DES model facility for model entity (PartA) entering into the assemble line (workflow sequence - S1)



Figure 5.16: Resource seizing and releasing execution through 'Seize1' & 'Release1' event processes (workflow sequence - S1)

Fourth, as part of our work on the DES model, we introduced two new processes. The first process, depicted as 'Seize1' in Figure 5.16, requires the worker to select a part and place it onto the assembled SUV car as it enters the initial server ('P30L'). This event is linked to 'Resource1', which represents the resource instance in the facility. Once the car has been assembled, it is released into the sink1 (Figure 5.16), which is executed in the model by creating and employing the event - 'Release1'. Likewise, it is also connected with a 'resource' instance. These seize and release events are mutually worked on in resource seizing and releasing throughout the assembly process.

Fifth, we set the properties of DES model's instances in the facility, as shown in Figure 5.17. For example, the speed property of model entity 'PartA' was infinite according to the manufacturing process characteristics 5.17 (A). To outline the movement of the entity (PartA), the sequence property was assigned to the output node of each server instance, as illustrated



A. The model entity movement speed was assumed infinity



C. The entity arrival mode was set -'On event' & the 'Sink1' was set for the trigger event



B. The entity movement was directed by sequence as assigned on each server's output node



D. The server processing time was referred to the 'AssembleTime' column of 'Seq' Table





Figure 5.18: Initialized a process to create the entities once at a time (workflow sequence - S1)

in Figure 5.17 (A). We have specified the arrival mode of the entity as 'On Event' based on the characteristics of the assembly, as shown in Figure 5.17 (C). The triggering event (In-put@Sink1.Entered) has already been defined and is represented in Figure 5.17 (C). To ensure accuracy, we have fixed the table row reference to indicate the specific row number in the Table before introducing entities into the system. This is also reflected in Figure 5.17 (C). The server processing properties were adjusted using the reference Table column, as shown in Figure 5.17 (D).

Finally, a control process is initialized to create the entities one at a time, as shown in Figure. 5.18. It means a source can not create more than one entity at a time, with production characteristics maintained. After incorporating all these properties and features into the DES model, we tested and validated the model in the following subsections.

5.5.1 Model testing for its functionality

In this section, we will demonstrate how we tested the DES model to ensure its proper functionality. We followed a few simple steps to accomplish this goal.

First, we started the model to see if it runs without any issues. Second, we used the step function to check if it goes through the process step by step as it should. Third, to test how entities move based on the steps they follow in assembling, we set the initial speed to 0.4 and observed that the objects moved correctly.

Next, we added a status label to see how many entities are in the system at the same time. It always showed 1, which means the model is functioning accordingly as we set the arrival mode - 'On Event'. Finally, we ran the model and checked its actions using the trace, following its progress in real-time. This helped us ensure that the model functions as intended.

5.5.2 Model testing for its initial bias

The primary purpose of testing the model's initial bias is to avoid the misleading and biased data from the final analysis in making a decision against the postulated hypothesis. We conducted this by exploring the correct warm-up period.

To find the warm-up time, we let the model run for 8.5 hours, adding a changing label to the average TIS (in seconds) shown in Figure 5.19. Watching the TIS line graph, we noticed that the model's behavior becomes steady at around one and a half hours. So, we set our model's warm-up time to 100 minutes based on this observation.

This 100-minute warm-up period allows the model to stabilize and reach a consistent performance level before the actual data collection or analysis phase begins. Discarding the data collected during the warm-up period ensures that the subsequent statistics are based on a stable and unbiased representation of the model's behavior. This practice enhances the reliability of our results, as it accounts for any transitional phases in the model's operation and helps to produce more accurate and meaningful insights. Additionally, the dynamic plot used during the warm-up exploration provides a visual guide for identifying the point of stabilization,



Figure 5.19: Initial bias region of run time of the testing DES model

facilitating an informed decision on the appropriate warm-up time for our specific modeling scenario.

Mathematically, we can predict the appropriate number of replication (n) from the Equation 5.4, where n_0 refers to the applied number of replications, h_0 means the obtained half width and h refers to the expected confidence interval (95%).

$$Replication(n) \approx n_0 \left(\frac{h_0^2}{h^2}\right)$$
(5.4)

5.5.3 Model testing for its ideal replications

In this section, we aimed to outline the process that we followed to create an acceptable and validated replication scenario. Having such a scenario is crucial to running our eight different models with unique workflow sequences and exploring the most efficient one with validity. To create this scenario, we selected a model (for workflow S1) and ran it multiple times while varying the number of replications. We used two response statistics, TP and TIS, to measure the performance of each run and recorded the half-width for both TP and TIS. In total, we ran



Figure 5.20: Half-Width variation of Throughput (TP) presented through Pareto Analysis across replication ranges

the model for 17 scenarios with replications of 10, 30, 50, 100, 200, 300, 400, 500, 600, 700, 800, 900, 1000, 5000, 10000, 15000, and 20000.

We documented the model outcomes, specifically focusing on TP (Table 5.2) and TIS (Table 5.1), including their respective half-width values. Upon careful examination, we noticed consistent outcomes for TP and TIS across varying replication numbers, indicating no significant differences. Subsequently, we calculated the half-widths and their percentage changes across different replication ranges, as documented in Table 5.3. Interestingly, as the number of replications increased, we observed a notable decrease in the percentage of variation.

To provide a clearer representation, we created Pareto charts for both TP and TIS, visualizing the findings in Figure 5.20 and Figure 5.21. These charts provide a visual representation of how changes in replication range affect the half-width variations for TP and TIS. According to Pareto analysis, the variation decreases significantly at the initial stage but eventually stabilizes after a certain point. Based on both TP and TIS, it appears that replication levels between 800 and 1200 are more reliable.

| Scenarios | Run time (secs) | TP | Half-width(TP) |
|-----------|-----------------|---------|----------------|
| 10 | 6.10 | 7.40000 | 1.16810 |
| 20 | 10.00 | 7.39090 | 0.65310 |
| 30 | 13.30 | 7.39030 | 0.50700 |
| 50 | 22.70 | 7.39382 | 0.41060 |
| 100 | 45.40 | 7.39364 | 0.28620 |
| 200 | 91.10 | 7.39200 | 0.22040 |
| 300 | 140.10 | 7.39164 | 0.17880 |
| 400 | 185.00 | 7.39050 | 0.15260 |
| 500 | 231.70 | 7.39098 | 0.13510 |
| 600 | 280.30 | 7.39127 | 0.12840 |
| 700 | 335.90 | 7.39156 | 0.11710 |
| 800 | 398.70 | 7.39130 | 0.10850 |
| 900 | 463.20 | 7.39109 | 0.10200 |
| 1000 | 515.00 | 7.39100 | 0.09670 |
| 5000 | 4107.70 | 7.39238 | 0.08840 |
| 10000 | 6,272.90 | 7.39266 | 0.08230 |
| 15000 | 7725.00 | 7.39275 | 0.07810 |
| 20000 | 11955.50 | 7.39280 | 0.07360 |

Table 5.1: TP and its HW across different scenarios

| Scenarios | Run time (secs) | TIS | Half-width(TP) |
|-----------|-----------------|----------|----------------|
| 10 | 6.10 | 81.00580 | 0.24530 |
| 20 | 10.00 | 81.10120 | 0.13210 |
| 30 | 13.30 | 81.09780 | 0.09840 |
| 50 | 22.70 | 81.05580 | 0.08190 |
| 100 | 45.40 | 81.05920 | 0.05710 |
| 200 | 91.10 | 81.07190 | 0.04330 |
| 300 | 140.10 | 81.07340 | 0.03480 |
| 400 | 185.00 | 81.08670 | 0.02990 |
| 500 | 231.70 | 81.08200 | 0.02640 |
| 600 | 280.30 | 81.07750 | 0.02500 |
| 700 | 335.90 | 81.07530 | 0.02280 |
| 800 | 398.70 | 81.07770 | 0.02100 |
| 900 | 463.20 | 81.08030 | 0.01980 |
| 1000 | 515.00 | 81.08120 | 0.01880 |
| 5000 | 4107.70 | 81.06670 | 0.01760 |
| 10000 | 6,272.90 | 81.06300 | 0.01640 |
| 15000 | 7725.00 | 81.06150 | 0.01520 |
| 20000 | 11955.50 | 81.06110 | 0.01410 |

Table 5.2: TIS and its HW across different scenarios

| Replication-range | TP-HW | TIS-HW |
|---|---|---|
| 0-10 | 44.09% | 46.15% |
| 20-30 | 22.37% | 25.51% |
| 30-50 | 19.01% | 16.77% |
| 50-100 | 30.30% | 30.28% |
| 100-200 | 22.99% | 24.17% |
| 200-300 | 18.87% | 19.63% |
| 300-400 | 14.65% | 14.08% |
| 400-500 | 11.47% | 11.71% |
| 500-600 | 4.96% | 5.30% |
| 600-700 | 8.80% | 8.80% |
| 700-800 | 7.34% | 7.89% |
| 800-900 | 5.99% | 5.71% |
| 900-1000 | 5.20% | 5.05% |
| 1000-5000 | 8.58% | 6.38% |
| 5000-10000 | 6.90% | 6.82% |
| 10000-15000 | 5.10% | 7.32% |
| 15000-20000 | 5.76% | 7.24% |
| 800-900 900-1000 1000-5000 5000-10000 10000-15000 15000-20000 | 5.99% 5.20% 8.58% 6.90% 5.10% 5.76% | 5.71% 5.05% 6.38% 6.82% 7.32% 7.24% |

Table 5.3: Half-width variation for TIS & TP

5.5.4 Model testing for its accuracy and verification

After observing the performance of the subjects, it became clear that not everyone followed the same assembly sequence despite receiving the same paperwork instructions. As a result, we conducted an investigation to determine how many different assembly sequences were followed by the subjects. We chose performance data from a subset of 12 subjects from our dataset of 24. We made this selection randomly, taking into account the natural performance of the participants in the first half of the dataset. We excluded the second half of the participants because they were motivated to improve their performance. The performance of the subjects was measured by the number of cars they assembled in ten minutes (Equation 4.4). After recording the videos, we analyzed the workflow sequences and identified 17 distinct sequences used by the subjects while picking and placing parts. Out of the 17, only 8 sequences were



Figure 5.21: Half-Width variation of Time in System (TIS) presented through Pareto Analysis across replication ranges

recurrent and were observed at least 24 times. The remaining sequences were not recurrent more than three times.

We recorded the time it took to pick up and place each Lego part during the assembly process. As an example, when assembling a car, the subject picked up and placed 18 Lego parts. We assigned these times to each respective part. In DES modeling, each part functions as an individual server. Using the recorded picking and placing times, we constructed a DES model in the Simio environment.

Once the subject's performance has been incorporated into the DES model, it becomes imperative to verify whether the model output significantly differs from the subject or not. This verification is necessary to ensure that the model is accurately mimicking the subject's behavior, which is a key feature of simulation modeling. To accomplish this, we took two steps. First, we constructed scatter plots for easy comparison. The results for TP and TIS were displayed in Figures 5.22 & 5.23. We also observed the mean differences between the outcomes of the model and the actual, as shown in Figure 5.24 & 5.25.



Figure 5.22: Distribution plot of model and subject outcomes



Figure 5.23: Performance distribution of model and subject in TIS

After conducting paired t-tests for both TP and TIS, we found p-values higher than the significance level of 0.05, as presented in the tables 5.4 & 5.5.

| Table 5.4: | Paired | comparison | with | respect to | TP |
|------------|--------|------------|------|------------|----|
| | | 1 | | 1 | |

| Sample | Ν | Mean | SE | T-Value | P-value |
|---------|---|------|------|---------|---------|
| Subject | 8 | 7.63 | 0.45 | 0.26 | 0.668 |
| Model | 8 | 7.38 | 0.50 | | |

Table 5.5: Paired comparison with respect to TIS

| Sample | Ν | Mean | SE | T-Value | P-value |
|---------|---|-------|------|---------|---------|
| Subject | 8 | 79.32 | 2.60 | -0.77 | 0.466 |
| Model | 8 | 84.35 | 6.44 | | |



Figure 5.24: Mean difference of model and subject outcomes for TP



Figure 5.25: Mean difference of model and subject outcomes for TIS

The iterative verification process is important in building trustworthiness and robustness in DES models, ultimately contributing to their effectiveness in various scientific, engineering, and decision-making contexts [233, 239]. In this essence, we aimed to systematically and thoroughly validate the DES model in order to collect enough empirical evidence to instill confidence in the model's accuracy.

We have successfully verified and obtained reliable mimic response of our DES model through both visual and statistical analyses. As a result, we have decided to utilize this DES model to conduct experiments with 1000 replications to gather more information to support our proposed hypothesis. The details of our results are described in the following section.

5.5.5 Determining the processing time distribution of object server instances

The choice of server processing time distributions is a crucial aspect in the accuracy and realism of DES simulations. The selection of a specific distribution, such as triangular, is guided by the need to replicate the inherent variability and unpredictability in real-world processes. Different distributions model varying degrees of uncertainty and variability, and this is why it is essential to choose the appropriate one. To achieve this, we adopt a meticulous approach by scrutinizing historical data, making direct observations, and seeking input from subject matter experts.

This analysis serves as an essential guide, facilitating our comprehensive understanding of the intricate variability in processing times within the system. The workflow and corresponding attributes are documented in Tables 5.6 through 5.13, each corresponding to the distinctive server processing distribution of S1 through S8. These distributions are derived from empirical observations. Each processing distribution refers to each Lego part picking and placing time during the assembling. This expression critically helps to run the model even for thousands of times.

5.6 Results

In this case study, we aimed to improve the process performance by maximizing TP and minimizing cycle time as stated in the equations 5.5 and 5.6, respectively. Several factors might

| Workflow | Server | Process time |
|------------|--------------|-------------------------------------|
| S 1 | Input@P30L | Random.Triangular(9, 10.3, 16) |
| S 1 | Input@P30R | Random.uniform(1.53, 4.24) |
| S 1 | Input@P22L | Random.uniform(1.79, 4) |
| S 1 | Input@P22R | 1.34 + Random.Weibull(1.94, 1.7) |
| S 1 | Input@P29L | Random.Triangular(1.79, 2.31, 3.53) |
| S1 | Input@P29R | Random.Normal(2.63, 0.525) |
| S1 | Input@P65F | Random.uniform(1.45, 5.48) |
| S 1 | Input@P65B | Random.Uniform(18, 28) |
| S 1 | Input@SUB | Random.Triangular(1.68, 2.78, 5.34) |
| S1 | Input@P15L | Random.Triangular(4, 6.07, 14) |
| S1 | Input@P15R | Random.uniform(2, 13) |
| S 1 | Input@P28L | Random.uniform(1.18, 4) |
| S1 | Input@P28R | Random.Triangular(1.23, 3.61, 6) |
| S1 | Input@Qcheck | 2.46+Random.Gamma(0.484, 3.25) |
| S1 | Input@Sink1 | 0.00 |

Table 5.6: Server processing time (sec) for S1

Table 5.7: Server processing time (sec) for S2

| Workflow | Server | Process time |
|----------|--------------|------------------------------------|
| S2 | Input@P65F | Random.Triangular(7.38, 9.31, 12) |
| S2 | Input@P30L | Random.Uniform(1.46, 7.64) |
| S2 | Input@P30R | Random.Uniform(8, 19) |
| S2 | Input@P22L | Random.Uniform(1.16, 6) |
| S2 | Input@P22R | Random.Triangular(1.19,2.33,5.98) |
| S2 | Input@P29L | Random.Triangular(1, 2.56, 14) |
| S2 | Input@P29R | Random.Triangular(1.65,2.87,5.72) |
| S2 | Input@SUB | 18 + 9 * Random.Beta(0.776, 0.878) |
| S2 | Input@P65B | Random.Triangular(3, 3.75, 8) |
| S2 | Input@P15LR | Random.Triangular(5.77, 6.44, 8) |
| S2 | Input@P28LR | Random.Triangular(3, 5.8, 7) |
| S2 | Input@QCheck | 2.46 +Random.Gamma(0.484, 3.25) |
| S2 | Input@Sink1 | 0.00 |

effect in improving the performance. However, in this case, we examined the effect of workflow design on increasing TP and reducing TIS, as stated in equations 5.7 and 5.8.

| Workflow | Server | Process time |
|----------|--------------|----------------------------------|
| S3 | Input@P30LR | Random.Triangular(6, 10, 16) |
| S3 | Input@P29LR | Random.Triangular(4, 4.79, 11.9) |
| S3 | Input@P22LR | Random.Uniform(2, 14) |
| S3 | Input@P65F | Random.Triangular(2, 6.5, 11) |
| S3 | Input@SUB | Random.Triangular(13, 15.5, 31) |
| S3 | Input@P65B | Random.Normal(7.03, 2.56) |
| S3 | Input@P15LR | 4 + Random.Exponential(3.88) |
| S3 | Input@P28LR | 2.47 + Random.Erlang(0.245, 6) |
| S3 | Input@Qcheck | Random.Uniform(4, 11) |
| S3 | Input@Sink1 | 0.00 |

Table 5.8: Server processing time (sec) for S3

Table 5.9: Server processing time (sec) for S4

| Workflow | Server | Process time |
|------------|----------------|------------------------------------|
| S4 | Input@P30LR | 4 + 5.67 * Random.Beta(0.998,1.14) |
| S 4 | Input@P29LR65F | Random.Uniform(3.31, 11) |
| S 4 | Input@P22LR | Random.Uniform(3.33, 9.61) |
| S 4 | Input@SUB | Random.Triangular(14,16.1,35) |
| S 4 | Input@P65B | 2 + 3.29 * Random.Beta(1.5,2.01) |
| S 4 | Input@P28LR | 3.28 + 2.72*Random.Beta(1.73,1.24) |
| S 4 | Input@P15LR | Random.Triangular(3,5.5,11) |
| S 4 | Input@QCheck | Random.Triangular(2,3.41,6.75) |
| S4 | Input@Sink1 | 0.00 |

$$TP_{max} = f(Q) \tag{5.5}$$

In the equation: TP: Throughput; Q: Number of assembled SUV cars

$$CT_{min} = f(TIS) \tag{5.6}$$

In the equation, CT: Cycle Time; TIS: Time in System

$$Q_{max} = f(WL) \tag{5.7}$$

| Workflow | Server | Process time |
|----------|--------------|-----------------------------------|
| S5 | Input@P65FB | Random.Triangular(6.24,7.91,11.8) |
| S5 | Input@P29LR | Random.Triangular(3,5.21,9) |
| S5 | Input@P22LR | Random.Uniform(4.06, 9) |
| S5 | Input@P30LR | 5 + 5.49 * Random.Beta(1.54,1.91) |
| S5 | Input@SUB | Random.Uniform(19, 33) |
| S5 | Input@P15LR | Random.Triangular(3.24,6.17,10.9) |
| S5 | Input@P28LR | Random.Triangular(3.11,5.55,8) |
| S5 | Input@QCheck | Random.Triangular(2.31,2.95,7.91) |
| S5 | Input@Sink1 | 0.00 |

Table 5.10: Server processing time (sec) for S5

Table 5.11: Server processing time (sec) for S6

| Workflow | Server | Process time |
|------------|--------------|----------------------------------|
| S 6 | Input@P30LR | Random.Triangular(5,6.26,10.5) |
| S 6 | Input@P29LR | Random.Uniform(5, 8.96) |
| S 6 | Input@P22LR | 4.06 + Random.Weibull(2.64,1.93) |
| S 6 | Input@P65FB | Random.Uniform(6.24,11.8) |
| S 6 | Input@SUB | Random.Triangular(19,21.3,28) |
| S 6 | Input@P15LR | Random.Uniform(3.24, 10.9) |
| S 6 | Input@P28LR | Random.Uniform(3.14, 7.89) |
| S 6 | Input@QCheck | Random.Uniform(2.63, 4.38) |
| S 6 | Input@Sink1 | 0.00 |

$$TIS_{min} = f(WL) \tag{5.8}$$

In the equation, WL: Workflow layout

We employed DES in the investigation to determine whether workflow layout has a significant impact on worker performance. The results of our analysis, presented in the following sections, demonstrate the complex relationship between workflow design, worker performance, and the goals of increasing TP and minimizing cycle time. Our findings provide valuable insights for optimizing processes and refining workflow strategies to achieve greater operational efficiency.

| Workflow | Server | Process time |
|----------|--------------|---------------------------------------|
| S7 | Input@P29LR | Random.Triangular(6,10.1,11.5) |
| S7 | Input@P30LR | Random.Triangular(4.77,4.98,7.34) |
| S7 | Input@P22LR | Random.Triangular(4.67,5.79,8.39) |
| S7 | Input@P65F | Random.Triangular(4, 6.1, 7) |
| S7 | Input@SUB | Random.Uniform(19.2, 27.8) |
| S7 | Input@P65B | Random.Triangular(4.87,5.22,6.24) |
| S7 | Input@P15LR | Random.Uniform(5, 9.48) |
| S7 | Input@P28LR | 3.22 + 5.33 * Random.Beta(2.56, 1.77) |
| S7 | Input@Qcheck | Random.Triangular(3, 3.3, 6) |
| S7 | Input@Sink1 | 0.00 |
| | | |

Table 5.12: Server processing time (sec) for S7

Table 5.13: Server processing time (sec) for S8

| Workflow | Server | Process time |
|------------|--------------|------------------------------------|
| S 8 | Input@P30LR | Random.Uniform(8, 19) |
| S 8 | Input@P29L | Random.Uniform(1.46, 7.64) |
| S 8 | Input@P29R | Random.Triangular(2, 2.21, 4) |
| S 8 | Input@P22L | 2 + 2.87 * Random.Beta(1.11, 1.66) |
| S 8 | Input@P22R | Random.Uniform(2, 4) |
| S 8 | Input@P65F | Random.Uniform(2, 9) |
| S 8 | Input@P65B | Random.Uniform(2, 9) |
| S 8 | Input@SUB | 22 + Random.Weibull(6.13, 2.18) |
| S 8 | Input@P15L | Random.Triangular(1, 3.93, 11) |
| S 8 | Input@P15R | Random.Uniform(1.01, 8.8) |
| S 8 | Input@P28L | 1.27 + Random.Weibull(1.67, 1.9) |
| S 8 | Input@P28R | Random.Triangular(1.23, 3.61, 6) |
| S 8 | Input@Qcheck | 2.46 +Random.Gamma(0.484, 3.25) |
| S 8 | Input@Sink1 | 0.00 |

5.6.1 Visual analysis of DES model outcomes

In our study, we have developed eight DES models corresponding to distinct workflows (S1-S8). Employing trade-off analysis, we identified several robust scenarios. From these, we specifically selected scenarios for which we conducted 1000 replications. The DES models



Figure 5.26: SMORE visual for half-width inspection of Throughput (TP) and Time in System (TIS) (S1 & S2)

were executed, generating results in two response variables: TP and TIS. This section focuses on scrutinizing the mean difference observed in both TP and TIS across the selected scenarios.

We examined the central tendency of TP and TIS by using the Simio Measure of Risk and Error (SMORE) plots developed by Barry Nelson [240]. A SMORE plot displays the central tendency of run results using its mean and half-width, as shown in Figures 5.26, 5.27, 5.28, & 5.29 for this study. From this visual, it is apparent that with 1000 iterations data shows a consistence results both for TP and TIS.

We have created bar diagrams to display Total Processing (TP) and Time in System (TIS) for each workflow. The diagrams are shown in Figure 5.30 & 5.31. We observed that Workflow-S4 has lower TIS and higher TP compared to the other workflows. This finding indicates that Workflow-S4 may have more efficient processing times and productivity, which demonstrates its potential advantages in the context of our study. However, the performance of S4 needs to be verified through statistical analysis conducted in the following subsections on hypothesis testing.



Figure 5.27: SMORE visual for half-width inspection of Throughput (TP) and Time in System (TIS) (S3 & S4)



Figure 5.28: SMORE visual for half-width inspection of Throughput (TP) and Time in System (TIS) (S5 & S6)



Figure 5.29: SMORE visual for half-width inspection of Throughput (TP) and Time in System (TIS) (S7 & S8)



Figure 5.30: Average model outcomes in Throughput (TP) for eight workflows (S1-S8)



Figure 5.31: Average model outcomes in Time In System (TIS) for eight workflows (S1-S8)

5.6.2 Testing hypothesis-1

This section aims to demonstrate the evidence of whether we could fail to reject our null first hypothesis or not. Our first null hypothesis was - *'The implementation of a balanced work-flow does not have a significant impact on the maximization of throughput in a manufacturing setting.'* For this, we conducted the one-way ANOVA for both TP, as shown in Table 5.14.

The results show that for TP, the obtained p-value is higher than the significance level $(\alpha = 0.05)$.

| Sources | DF | Sum of SS | Mean Sq. | F-Value | P-value |
|----------------|------|-----------|----------|---------|---------|
| Workflow level | 7 | 12181.2 | 1740.17 | 173.24 | 0.001* |
| Error | 7992 | 8.00 | 0.00 | | |
| Total | 7992 | 12189.20 | | | |

Table 5.14: ANOVA for Throughput (1000 Iterations)

The Table 5.15 documents mean results of 1000 iterations for eight workflows' TP performance, including a 95% confidence interval.From both Tables 5.15 & 5.14, the tabulated results show that there is a significant difference among the workflows' performance. However, we need to determine which workflow layouts are significantly dissimilar from one another, considering that we conducted the Tukey pairwise comparison test. The Tukey grouping information is depicted in Figure 5.32, which reveals that the performance of each workflow is significantly different from the others. Specifically, to know which workflow is significantly higher than others, we conducted the Tukey comparison test. The grouping information using the Tukey method with 95% confidence interval as shown in Figure 5.32. The different letters in grouping information indicate that each workflow is significantly different from the others. In particular, S4 has a significantly higher value than the others.

After a thorough analysis of the statistical data, we reject the null hypothesis. Our findings lead us to conclude that the sequences of workflow significantly contribute to the improvement in productivity on the manufacturing floor.

| Workflow level | Ν | Mean | 95 % C.I. |
|-------------------|------|-------|----------------|
| S 1 | 1000 | 7.403 | (7.391, 7.405) |
| S 2 | 1000 | 6.910 | (6.896, 6.911) |
| S 3 | 1000 | 5.554 | (5.549, 5.563) |
| S4 | 1000 | 9.866 | (9.864, 9.879) |
| S5 | 1000 | 8.439 | (8.446, 8.461) |
| S 6 | 1000 | 8.837 | (8.833, 8.848) |
| S 7 | 1000 | 8.159 | (8.157, 8.171) |
| S 8 | 1000 | 7.247 | (7.246, 7.261) |

Table 5.15: Analysis of variance of TP

5.6.3 Testing hypothesis-2

This section aims to provide evidence of whether we can or cannot reject our second null hypothesis - *The implementation of a balanced workflow does not have a significant impact on the minimization of cycle time in a manufacturing setting.* We performed a one-way ANOVA analysis for TIS and the results are displayed in the table 5.16. It is noted that TIS was defined as the cycle time of our experimental manufacturing system.

From both Tables 5.16 & 5.17, the tabulated results show that there is a significant difference among the workflows' performance. However, we need to determine which workflow

| Model_ID N | | Mean | | | Gro | upir | ng | | |
|------------|------|-----------|---|---|-----|------|----|---|---|
| 4 | 1000 | 9.86647 A | | | | | | | |
| 6 | 1000 | 8.83711 | В | | | | | | |
| 5 | 1000 | 8.43980 | | С | | | | | |
| 7 | 1000 | 8.15936 | | | D | | | | |
| 1 | 1000 | 7.40039 | | | | Ε | | | |
| 8 | 1000 | 7.24727 | | | | | F | | |
| 2 | 1000 | 6.91064 | | | | | | G | |
| 3 | 1000 | 5.55484 | | | | | | | Н |

Grouping Information Using the Tukey Method and 95% Confidence

Means that do not share a letter are significantly different.

Figure 5.32: Grouping information using the Tukey method for TP

layouts are significantly dissimilar from one another, considering that we conducted the Tukey pairwise comparison test.

The Tukey grouping information, as illustrated in Figure 5.33, indicates that each workflow is significantly different, as each group belongs to a unique letter. Nonetheless, of all the workflows, S4 had the lowest TIS in comparison to others.

After analyzing the statistical data, we reject the null hypothesis and conclude that workflow sequences significantly impact cycle time reduction in manufacturing.

| Sources | DF | Sum of SS | Mean Sq. | F-Value | P-value |
|------------------|------|------------|-----------|---------|---------|
| Workflow (S1-S8) | 7 | 1468197.00 | 209742.00 | 213.65 | 0.001* |
| Error | 7992 | 785.00 | 0.00 | | |
| Total | 7992 | 1468982.00 | | | |

Table 5.16: ANOVA for Time In System (1000 Iterations)

5.7 Discussion

In this section, we have discussed two main topics. First, we have presented the overall findings of the study conducted in the Lean Manufacturing Lab. Second, we have explained how our study represents real-life scenarios and how it could be beneficial to the manufacturing community, especially in terms of integrating DES model in a balanced workflow design.

| Workflow (S1-S8) | Ν | Mean (hrs) | 95 % C.I. |
|------------------|------|------------|------------------|
| S1 | 1000 | 81.08 | (81.05, 81.09) |
| S2 | 1000 | 86.82 | (86.81, 86.85) |
| S 3 | 1000 | 108.01 | (107.99, 108.03) |
| S4 | 1000 | 60.79 | (60.79, 60.83) |
| S5 | 1000 | 71.09 | (71.07, 71.11) |
| S 6 | 1000 | 67.89 | (67.87, 67.91) |
| S7 | 1000 | 73.55 | (73.51, 73.55) |
| S8 | 1000 | 82.79 | (82.77, 82.81) |

Table 5.17: Analysis of variance of TIS

Grouping Information Using the Tukey Method and 95% Confidence

| Model_ID | Ν | Mean | Grouping | | ng | | | | | |
|----------|------|------------|----------|---|----|---|---|---|---|--|
| 3 | 1000 | 0.030004 A | | | | | | | | |
| 2 | 1000 | 0.024118 | В | | | | | | | |
| 8 | 1000 | 0.022998 | | С | | | | | | |
| 1 | 1000 | 0.022522 | | | D | | | | | |
| 7 | 1000 | 0.020427 | | | | Е | | | | |
| 5 | 1000 | 0.019748 | | | | | F | | | |
| 6 | 1000 | 0.018859 | | | | | | G | | |
| 4 | 1000 | 0.016893 | | | | | | | Н | |

Means that do not share a letter are significantly different.

Figure 5.33: Grouping information using the Tukey method for TIS

5.7.1 The impact of a balanced workflow on productivity and cycle time

Efficient workflows are crucial in the manufacturing industry for achieving productivity and efficiency. The literature also emphasizes the importance of optimizing workflows [211, 214, 210]. In our study, we demonstrated how to use the DES model to achieve a balanced workflow in assembly. We identified eight different workflows used by research subjects who were employed for assembling the SUV cars using Lego parts. Then, we used their performance data in the DES modeling to replicate the subject's behavior under different scenarios. Our study helped us obtain the most efficient workflows, as we demonstrated in the previous result sections. TP, a key performance indicator that reflects the rate of output production within a

given time frame, was the primary metric we considered. Also, we measured the TIS metric to identify the efficient workflow.

The identified eight workflows were run 1000 times in a virtual environment using a tested and validated DES model. Then, their performances were evaluated with two measuring metrics - TP and TIS. After conducting a thorough analysis, it has become apparent that each workflow is significantly different than others in terms of their performance metrics (TP & TIS). However, among them, the workflow denoted with S4 was the most efficient, with its higher TP (9.87 SUV cars in 10 mins) and lowest TIS (60.77 secs), as evident in Table 5.15 and 5.17.

The analysis of SMORE plots helped to understand the performance of the models better. These plots visually represent critical statistical measures such as mean, median, and halfwidth. This aids in a more intuitive understanding of the variability and distribution of DES model outcomes. We also enhanced the accuracy of the analysis by examining the variance of outcomes. Analyzing variance is essential as it helps to understand the variability within the data, which is crucial in assessing the reliability and consistency of DES model outcomes. By considering the mean values and confidence intervals together, we can gain a nuanced perspective of the precision of each workflow's performance in different scenarios. This examination of variance strengthens the findings and provides a strong foundation for decision-making in DES modeling.

The comparison of performance metrics involved an analysis of variance, revealing a significant difference among the eight workflows (S1-S8). However, a more detailed comparison analysis was necessary to identify which workflow is superior. The Tukey pairwise comparison method was employed for this purpose. The Tukey grouping comparison results reveal that a specific workflow denoted with S4 gives the most efficient layout for maximizing the TP and minimizing the TIS or the cycle time.

This study shows that a balanced workflow layout plays a crucial role in enhancing productivity and achieving an efficient cycle time. The literature has extensively explored the relationship between workflow and productivity improvement, shedding light on various factors influencing organizational efficiency [241, 242, 243]. However, despite the existing body of knowledge, there is still a noticeable gap in the research, particularly in the application of DES to comprehensively investigate the balanced workflow by employing necessary trade-off analysis.

While previous studies have delved into the broad implications of workflow on productivity, the utilization of DES remains relatively unexplored in the context of achieving a balanced workflow. As a powerful analytical tool, DES can provide a dynamic simulation environment to model intricate manufacturing processes and assess the impact of different layout configurations on productivity, identifying potential trade-offs between competing factors such as cost, time, and resource utilization.

In this essence, our study aims to fill this research gap by employing DES to explore the nuances of a balanced workflow and conducting a thorough trade-off analysis. By doing so, we seek to contribute valuable insights to the manufacturing community, offering a practical example of how DES can be applied to enhance workflow efficiency. Through examining various layout configurations and their associated trade-offs, our findings aim to provide actionable recommendations for organizations striving to optimize their workflow and achieve a harmonious balance between priorities.

This study adds to the theoretical understanding of workflow dynamics and offers practical implications for manufacturing practitioners. As industries continue to evolve and adapt to changing market demands, the insights derived from this research can guide decision-makers in making informed choices when designing and optimizing their workflow layouts. Ultimately, integrating DES in studying balanced workflows contributes to advancing the field, providing a foundation for future research endeavors, and fostering continuous improvement in manufacturing practices.

5.7.2 The implication of the DES modeling in exploring an efficient balance workflow

Although our study was conducted in a laboratory setting, it closely mirrors the challenges encountered in automotive manufacturing. Similar problems are common in manufacturing,
which is becoming increasingly competitive and demanding. The industry now requires enhanced efficiency and zero-defect production. To achieve this goal, our study aimed to showcase a case study that illustrates the application of I-4.0 technology. In particular, we demonstrated how DES can be utilized to design an efficient production process with a balanced workflow in manufacturing. This exploration aligns with the industry's pursuit of cutting-edge technologies to optimize processes and meet the demands of modern manufacturing standards.

Many authors have highlighted the importance of maintaining a balanced workflow in literature. In a study [244], it was revealed that a well-balanced workflow plays a crucial role in reducing workers' workload and stress levels. The study also pointed out that workers employed in assembly lines are at a higher risk of developing work-related musculoskeletal disorders and ergonomics issues.

In another study [245], it is explained that when workloads are not distributed properly, it can lead to decreased performance in assembly lines and cause injuries to workers, resulting in high costs for workers' compensation and absenteeism. In addition, ergonomics problems and musculoskeletal disorders can negatively impact product quality and productivity [246].

Several studies support that implementing balanced workflow practices can increase job satisfaction and improve a company's profitability and brand value. For example, in a study conducted by authors Thun, Lehr, and Bier-wirth [247], they surveyed over 55 automotive industries in Germany to investigate the correlation between a balanced workflow that considers ergonomic aspects and a company's economic and social performance. The study found that a higher implementation of work-oriented ergonomic practices is linked to better economic and social performance in manufacturing. This emphasizes the importance of technology in analyzing ergonomic factors.

DES is instrumental in designing a balanced workflow and introducing dynamism into the value stream production. As highlighted in a study by Samant et al. [248], value stream mapping, a traditional approach, is inherently static, which may not effectively capture the dynamic nature of modern manufacturing systems. The manufacturing landscape is evolving towards increased dynamism, with varying demand, resource fluctuations, and changing production requirements. In response to these dynamic challenges, DES become essential for their ability to

model and simulate complex, real-time scenarios. Manufacturers can dynamically assess and optimize their processes by employing DES in workflow design and value stream production. This allows for a more responsive and adaptive production system, aligning with the evolving demands of the contemporary manufacturing environment.

In the real world, money often comes down to testing out different options and determining the best one. However, through the advancement of I-4.0 and thus the DES, it is now easier to replicate the real world virtually and test various scenarios to determine the best option. In this case study, we have demonstrated how DES can be utilized to manage a balanced workflow on the production floor. The critical message to the scientific and manufacturing communities is to incorporate DES to enhance the existing production process and create a new one. A balanced workflow can lead to an optimized production process with reduced idle time and efficient utilization of resources.

Although the literature contains several examples of similar cases, they are still limited. In automotive manufacturing, where precision and timing are critical, a balanced workflow has a direct impact on production output and overall operational efficiency. A balanced workflow helps avoid delays, reduces the risk of mistakes, and ultimately enhances the competitiveness of the manufacturing process [247]. A well-balanced workflow leads to improved resource optimization and cost-effectiveness.

This research significantly contributes to the optimization of SUV car assembly processes, offering practical implications for the automotive manufacturing industry. By highlighting the importance of a balanced workflow, our findings underscore the critical role it plays in achieving heightened efficiency and productivity. As the automotive sector continues to evolve, embracing these insights can guide industry practitioners in making informed decisions to enhance their assembly processes and ultimately contribute to the overall advancement of automotive manufacturing practices.

In conclusion, our in-depth analysis of eight distinct workflows involved in SUV car assembly has yielded valuable insights into their performance across various scenarios. Through meticulous examination and employing advanced statistical methods for variance and comparative analyses, we have successfully pinpointed the most efficient workflow among the options considered.

5.8 Summary

In this comprehensive study, our primary objective was to assess the performance of eight distinct workflows integral to the assembly of SUV cars, with a specific focus on two critical metrics: TP and TIS. To accomplish this, we developed a DES model within a controlled laboratory environment, incorporating the same eight workflows utilized by students.

The validation of our DES model involved leveraging performance data obtained from the second phase of this dissertation. In that phase, 12 randomly selected participants actively engaged in the assembly of cars, allowing us to record precise assembly times at various stages within each workflow. These recorded times served as the basis for the model's server processing time, creating a representative and dynamic simulation environment.

Subsequently, we utilized the Simio DES model to generalize the assembly processes, ensuring their accurate representation within our simulation. Rigorous testing was then conducted to align the model with the actual performance of the subjects, providing a crucial verification step. The model underwent simulation for a diverse array of scenarios, spanning 10 to 20,000 replications in 17 intervals. Notably, the analysis demonstrated reliable performance, as evidenced by the limited half-width, reinforcing the credibility of our findings.

In the final phase, we designed and executed experiments encompassing 1,000 replications for each of the eight workflows. This meticulous approach facilitated a comprehensive evaluation of their performance, allowing us to identify and highlight the most efficient workflow among the options under consideration.

We conducted both visual and quantitative statistical analyses to determine the best performance among eight workflows labeled S1 through S8. Through the analysis, we found that the performances of the studied workflow layouts were significantly different from each other. Among these, the workflow labeled S4 was found to be the most efficient, with a throughput of 9 units every 10 minutes and an average TIS of 60.77 seconds across five different scenarios. This highlights the importance of considering workflow layout design for achieving the most efficient process design.

The study highlights the significance of a well-balanced workflow in automotive manufacturing, emphasizing how it leads to streamlined production, minimized idle time, and efficient resource utilization. The research findings not only optimize the assembly processes of SUV cars but also underscore the importance of a balanced workflow in achieving productivity and efficiency in automotive manufacturing.

To sum up, this comprehensive analysis provides valuable insights into the optimal workflow for SUV car assembly, enhancing overall efficiency and productivity. The study contributes not only to the specific field of automotive manufacturing but also highlights the broader importance of a balanced workflow in achieving operational excellence in complex manufacturing processes.

Chapter 6

Conclusion

This section aims to highlight the three key contributions of the doctoral research study. In the following subsections, the contributions, limitations, and plans for future works of the three studies were outlined.

6.1 Contributions

In the first study, we introduced a novel conceptual framework aimed at integrating I-4.0 technologies into LP systems. In the current literature, there is a limited number of studies on integrating I-4.0 technologies into LP systems. The existing studies on this topic lack direction on how I-4.0 can be integrated into the LP effectively and efficiently. Also, we discovered the proposed framework's lack of validation. In this essence, we attempted to address these gaps, propose a contextual integration framework, and validate it through prototype and DES modeling. Our study fills this gap. This delineation provides practitioners with valuable insights for selecting tools and technologies that mutually enhance the performance of manufacturing floors.

The first study, as we demonstrated in Chapter 3, proposed a conceptual framework delineating how I-4.0 can be effectively integrated with the LP system. In Chapter 3, we depicted the six distinct phases encompassed by this framework, ranging from the initial planning stages to the seamless integration of I-4.0 into the LP system. This comprehensive framework is anticipated to serve as a practical blueprint for industry practitioners seeking to embrace the synergies between I-4.0 and LP, providing a structured guide for implementation. Moreover, the study delved into identifying and integrating key driving factors essential for successfully incorporating I-4.0 technologies into production processes. Additionally, we addressed potential challenges that may arise during this integration, offering insights into mitigating strategies. By integrating theoretical foundations with practical considerations, the study contributes to the growing body of knowledge on efficiently integrating I-4.0 principles into existing production floor systems, fostering adaptability, efficiency, and innovation in manufacturing settings.

In the second study, we attempted to apply the proposed integration framework. We defined the Lean Education Automotive Lab of the Industrial and System Engineering Department of Auburn University as a small manufacturing floor to do this. Theoretically, we outlined the Automotive Lab as a small manufacturing organization and implemented the proposed framework. We defined four treatments, namely 'Control,' 'Lean,' 'Industry 4.0', and 'Lean & Industry 4.0'. We conducted the interaction between 'Lean' and 'Industry 4.0' and measured their combined interaction. By offering a practical strategy and demonstrating its effectiveness within an educational manufacturing setting, our study serves as a robust validation for professionals and researchers involved in similar fields. This empirical evidence underscores the efficacy of our proposed integration approach, contributing to the body of knowledge in integrating I-4.0 into LP systems in a real-world manufacturing environment. More specifically, our demonstration showed how Lean's mistake-proofing and I-4.0's vision technology can be integrated to improve manufacturing productivity and efficiency.

In our third study, we aimed to determine how a balanced workflow can enhance productivity and improve cycle time efficiency. By utilizing DES modeling, we discovered that a balanced workflow layout has a significant impact on productivity, which we measured in TP. We also found that a balanced workflow contributes significantly to achieving efficient cycle time. In conclusion, we want to send a message to the manufacturing community that a balanced workflow layout is essential to remain competitive in the global manufacturing industry, and this can be achieved through the successful integration of DES modeling.

6.2 Limitations

In our first study, we investigated the incorporation of I-4.0 technologies into LP systems. We primarily concentrated on three databases and analyzed journal articles and conference proceedings. However, valuable insights were unintentionally excluded from diverse sources such as books, blogs, and industrial reports. The small sample size of articles on this emerging topic suggests the need for broader exploration and more robust validation. Furthermore, the content

validity of our proposed conceptual framework has yet to be evaluated without incorporating expert opinions, indicating the possibility for future refinement.

In our second study, we validated our conceptual framework by examining a sample of 48 subjects. However, it is important to note that the sample size was relatively small, so the findings must be interpreted cautiously before generalization. The study found an interesting relationship between the order of treatment and OEE, with the third and fourth orders particularly prominent. This suggests that the subjects' experience may play a significant role in determining treatment effectiveness. This proposition needs further investigation to understand better the complex relationship between subject expertise and treatment outcomes. During our experiment, the participant was required to pick up and place 18 Lego parts. Although they were provided with similar paperwork instructions, they followed different sequences when assembling the parts. However, we did not explore whether the order of the workflow has an impact on enhancing productivity and efficiency. Finally, we want to mention that this study was limited to laboratory settings and not real-world manufacturing applications.

In our third study, we utilized Discrete Event Simulation (DES) to improve the assembly process of Lego parts for SUVs. This allowed us to gain valuable insights into creating a balanced workflow in automotive manufacturing. However, we must acknowledge that our study has certain limitations. Firstly, we conducted the DES experiments based on a small sample size, which may affect the generalizability of our findings. Therefore, it would be beneficial to verify our model with a larger dataset to improve the validity of our results. Secondly, we did not consider the movements of the worker's hands, even though they did not walk or move. This means that we may have underestimated the physical demands of the task. Furthermore, we did not gather any data on the subject's workload through surveys or interviews, which may have provided us with additional insights.

6.3 Future work

We are advocating for a comprehensive and multifaceted approach to address the limitations identified in our studies. In our initial investigation into integrating I-4.0 technologies into LP systems, we recognized the significance of diversifying data sources as a crucial step. Our

proposed strategy involves incorporating insights from a range of channels, including books, blogs, and industrial reports. This deliberate diversification aims to capture a more holistic understanding of the intricate integration process. By drawing from various sources, we seek to avoid inadvertent constraints on our analysis and ensure that our exploration benefits from a broader spectrum of literature. This multifaceted approach is integral to enhancing the robustness and inclusivity of our research, allowing us to derive insights that encapsulate the richness and complexity inherent in integrating I-4.0 technologies into LP systems.

In our second study, we validated our conceptual framework by analyzing a sample comprising 48 participants. However, the identified limitation of a relatively small sample size prompts a critical consideration for future research endeavors. It is imperative to prioritize the recruitment of a more extensive sample to enhance the statistical reliability of our findings. This expansion in sample size is crucial for robust and generalized conclusions. Furthermore, our future research direction involves delving into the nuanced influence of subject experience on treatment effectiveness. To comprehensively understand this intricate relationship, larger sample sizes, and longitudinal designs may be necessary. Such an approach is essential for thoroughly exploring how treatment order interacts with operational OEE over time, adding depth and context to our insights. We plan to extend our work to explore the impact of workflow layout on productivity and efficiency improvements and implement this lab setting in real-life manufacturing environments.

For the third study, we utilized DES to improve the assembly of Lego parts for SUV cars. However, we discovered that due to the limited distribution of data in our DES modeling, it may not be as applicable in real-world scenarios. To make our findings more practical, we have planned to expand our dataset by collecting more diverse and extensive data. This expansion will help us better understand the optimal sequence for Lego assembly and address the identified limitations. We have planned to provide a more robust and practical application of our DES model findings in real-world scenarios. Our ultimate objective is to refine and extend our DES model findings to offer a more robust and practically applicable solution for real-world scenarios. This expansion of data and subsequent refinement will contribute to the continued evolution of DES in optimizing assembly for automotive manufacturing. Besides,

we plan to extend our research to other manufacturing industries that use similar processes for assembly or process improvement by incorporating DES model.

References

- Malte Brettel, Niklas Friederichsen, Michael Keller, and Marius Rosenberg. How virtualization, decentralization and network building change the manufacturing landscape: An Industry 4.0 Perspective. *International Journal of Information and Communication Engineering*, 8(1):37–44, 2014.
- [2] Womack, J. P., Jones, D. T., and Roos, D. *The Machine That Changed the World: The Story of Lean Production*. Rawson Associates, 1990.
- [3] Jeffrey K. Liker. *Toyota way: 14 management principles from the world's greatest manufacturer*. McGraw-Hill Education, 2021.
- [4] Maria Pia Ciano, Patrick Dallasega, Guido Orzes, and Tommaso Rossi. Oneto-one relationships between Industry 4.0 technologies and Lean Production techniques: a multiple case study. *International Journal of Production Research*, 59(5):1386–1410, March 2021. Publisher: Taylor & Francis _eprint: https://doi.org/10.1080/00207543.2020.1821119.
- [5] James P. Womack and Daniel T. Jones. Lean thinking—banish waste and create wealth in your corporation. *Journal of the Operational Research Society*, 48(11):1148–1148, 1997. Publisher: Taylor & Francis.
- [6] V. L. Bittencourt, Anabela C. Alves, and Celina P. Leão. Industry 4.0 triggered by Lean Thinking: insights from a systematic literature review. *International Journal of Production Research*, 59(5):1496–1510, 2021. Publisher: Taylor & Francis.
- [7] J. P. Womack and D. T. Jones. From lean production to lean enterprise. *Harvard Business Review*, 72(2):93–103, 1994.
- [8] Womack, JP and Jones, DT. Lean Thinking. Free Press, 2nd edition edition, June 2003.
- [9] Md Monir Hossain and Gregory Purdy. Integration of industry 4.0 into lean production systems: A systematic literature review. *Manufacturing Letters*, 35:1347–1357, 2023.

- [10] John F. Krafcik. Triumph of the lean production system. *Sloan management review*, 30(1):41–52, 1988.
- [11] Charles V. Trappey, Hsin-Ying Wu, Fataneh Taghaboni-Dutta, and Amy J. C. Trappey. Using patent data for technology forecasting: China RFID patent analysis. Advanced Engineering Informatics, 25(1):53–64, January 2011.
- [12] Sara Bartoloni, Ernesto Calò, Luca Marinelli, Federica Pascucci, Luca Dezi, Elias Carayannis, Gian Marco Revel, and Gian Luca Gregori. Towards designing society 5.0 solutions: The new Quintuple Helix - Design Thinking approach to technology. *Techno-vation*, 113:102413, May 2022.
- [13] Yang Lu. Industry 4.0: A survey on technologies, applications and open research issues. *Journal of Industrial Information Integration*, 6:1–10, 2017.
- [14] A. Mayr, M. Weigelt, A. Kühl, S. Grimm, A. Erll, M. Potzel, and J. Franke. Lean
 4.0 A conceptual conjunction of lean management and Industry 4.0. *Procedia CIRP*,
 72:622–628, January 2018.
- [15] Guilherme Luz Tortorella and Diego Fettermann. Implementation of Industry 4.0 and lean production in Brazilian manufacturing companies. *International Journal of Production Research*, 56(8):2975–2987, April 2018. Publisher: Taylor & Francis _eprint: https://doi.org/10.1080/00207543.2017.1391420.
- [16] Guo-Jian Cheng, Li-Ting Liu, Xin-Jian Qiang, and Ye Liu. Industry 4.0 development and application of intelligent manufacturing. In 2016 international conference on information system and artificial intelligence (ISAI), pages 407–410. IEEE, 2016.
- [17] Sachin Kamble, Angappa Gunasekaran, and Neelkanth C. Dhone. Industry 4.0 and lean manufacturing practices for sustainable organisational performance in Indian manufacturing companies. *International Journal of Production Research*, 58(5):1319–1337, March 2020. Publisher: Taylor & Francis _eprint: https://doi.org/10.1080/00207543.2019.1630772.

- [18] Michael Sony. Industry 4.0 and lean management: a proposed integration model and research propositions. *Production & Manufacturing Research*, 6(1):416–432, 2018. Publisher: Taylor & Francis.
- [19] Guilherme Luz Tortorella, Tarcísio Abreu Saurin, Moacir Godinho Filho, Daniel Samson, and Maneesh Kumar. Bundles of Lean Automation practices and principles and their impact on operational performance. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 235:108106, May 2021.
- [20] Praveen Kumar Reddy Maddikunta, Quoc-Viet Pham, B Prabadevi, Natarajan Deepa, Kapal Dev, Thippa Reddy Gadekallu, Rukhsana Ruby, and Madhusanka Liyanage. Industry 5.0: A survey on enabling technologies and potential applications. *Journal of Industrial Information Integration*, 26:100257, 2022.
- [21] Diomidis H Stamatis. *The OEE primer: understanding overall equipment effectiveness, reliability, and maintainability.* CRC Press, 2017.
- [22] Chiara Cagnetti, Tommaso Gallo, Cecilia Silvestri, and Alessandro Ruggieri. Lean production and Industry 4.0: Strategy/management or technique/implementation? A systematic literature review. *Procedia Computer Science*, 180:404–413, 2021. Publisher: Elsevier.
- [23] Souraj Salah, Abdur Rahim, and Juan A. Carretero. The integration of Six Sigma and lean management. *International Journal of Lean Six Sigma*, 1(3):249–274, January 2010. Publisher: Emerald Group Publishing Limited.
- [24] Mohammad Shahin, F. Frank Chen, Hamed Bouzary, and Krishnan Krishnaiyer. Integration of Lean practices and Industry 4.0 technologies: smart manufacturing for nextgeneration enterprises. *The International Journal of Advanced Manufacturing Technol*ogy, 107(5):2927–2936, March 2020.
- [25] Guilherme Luz Tortorella, Flavio S. Fogliatto, Paulo A. Cauchick-Miguel, Sherah Kurnia, and Daniel Jurburg. Integration of Industry 4.0 technologies into total productive

maintenance practices. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 240:108224, 2021. Publisher: Elsevier.

- [26] Fabian Dillinger, Moritz Kagerer, and Gunther Reinhart. Concept for the development of a Lean 4.0 reference implementation strategy for manufacturing companies. *Procedia CIRP*, 104:330–335, January 2021.
- [27] Matteo Rossini, Federica Costa, Guilherme L. Tortorella, and Alberto Portioli-Staudacher. The interrelation between Industry 4.0 and lean production: an empirical study on European manufacturers. *The International Journal of Advanced Manufacturing Technology*, 102(9):3963–3976, June 2019.
- [28] Shigeo Shingo. Zero Quality Control: Source Inspection and the Poka-Yoke System. Productivity Press, Stamford, 1st edition, 1986.
- [29] Biao Wang, Ji-Yuan Zhao, Zhi-guo Wan, Ji-Hong Ma, Hong Li, and Jian Ma. Lean intelligent production system and value stream practice. *Trans Econom Manag (ICEM 2016)*, 2016.
- [30] Ilias P. Vlachos, Rodrigo Martinez Pascazzi, George Zobolas, Panagiotis Repoussis, and Mihalis Giannakis. Lean manufacturing systems in the area of industry 4.0: a lean automation plan of agvs/iot integration. *Production Planning & Control*, 34:1–14, 2021. Publisher: Taylor & Francis.
- [31] Sven-Vegard Buer, Jan Ola Strandhagen, and Felix T. S. Chan. The link between Industry 4.0 and lean manufacturing: mapping current research and establishing a research agenda. *International Journal of Production Research*, 56(8):2924–2940, April 2018. Publisher: Taylor & Francis _eprint: https://doi.org/10.1080/00207543.2018.1442945.
- [32] Adekunle Mofolasayo, Steven Young, Pablo Martinez, and Rafiq Ahmad. How to adapt lean practices in SMEs to support Industry 4.0 in manufacturing. *Procedia Computer Science*, 200:934–943, 2022. Publisher: Elsevier.

- [33] Helena Carvalho, Susana Duarte, and V. Cruz Machado. Lean, agile, resilient and green: divergencies and synergies. *International Journal of Lean Six Sigma*, 2(2):151–179, 2011. Publisher: emerald group publishing limited.
- [34] William de Paula Ferreira, Fabiano Armellini, Luis Antonio de Santa-Eulalia, and Vincent Thomasset-Laperrière. Extending the lean value stream mapping to the context of Industry 4.0: An agent-based technology approach. *Journal of Manufacturing Systems*, 63:1–14, 2022. Publisher: Elsevier.
- [35] Paul Schönsleben. The Lean/Just-in-Time Concept and Repetitive Manufacturing. In Handbook Integral Logistics Management: Operations and Supply Chain Management Within and Across Companies, pages 293–334. Springer, 2022.
- [36] L. Naciri, Z. Mouhib, M. Gallab, M. Nali, R. Abbou, and A. Kebe. Lean and industry4.0: A leading harmony. *Procedia Computer Science*, 200:394–406, January 2022.
- [37] V. L. Bittencourt, Anabela Carvalho Alves, and Celina Pinto Leão. Lean Thinking contributions for Industry 4.0: A systematic literature review. *IFAC-PapersOnLine*, 52(13):904–909, 2019. Publisher: Elsevier.
- [38] Roger Burritt and Katherine Christ. Industry 4.0 and environmental accounting: a new revolution? Asian Journal of Sustainability and Social Responsibility, 1(1):23–38, December 2016.
- [39] Yongxin Liao, Fernando Deschamps, Eduardo de Freitas Rocha Loures, and Luiz Felipe Pierin Ramos. Past, present and future of Industry 4.0 - a systematic literature review and research agenda proposal. *International Journal of Production Research*, 55(12):3609–3629, June 2017. Publisher: Taylor & Francis _eprint: https://doi.org/10.1080/00207543.2017.1308576.
- [40] Giovanna Culot, Guido Nassimbeni, Guido Orzes, and Marco Sartor. Behind the definition of Industry 4.0: Analysis and open questions. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 226:107617, August 2020.

- [41] Mike Rother and John Shook. *Learning to see: value stream mapping to add value and eliminate muda*. Lean enterprise institute, 2003.
- [42] Frédéric Rosin, Pascal Forget, Samir Lamouri, and Robert Pellerin. Impacts of Industry 4.0 technologies on Lean principles. *International Journal of Production Research*, 58(6):1644–1661, March 2020. Publisher: Taylor & Francis _eprint: https://doi.org/10.1080/00207543.2019.1672902.
- [43] Manuel Parente, Gonçalo Figueira, Pedro Amorim, and Alexandra Marques. Production scheduling in the context of Industry 4.0: review and trends. *International Journal of Production Research*, 58(17):5401–5431, September 2020. Publisher: Taylor & Francis _eprint: https://doi.org/10.1080/00207543.2020.1718794.
- [44] Ashley C. Yarbrough, Gregory A. Harris, Gregory T. Purdy, and Nicholas Loyd. Developing Taiichi Ohno's Mental Model for Waste Identification in Nontraditional Applications. ASME Open Journal of Engineering, 1(1):1–9, March 2022.
- [45] Manuel F. Suárez-Barraza, Su Mi Dahlgaard-Park, Francisco G. Rodríguez-González, and Carolina Durán-Arechiga. In search of "Muda" through the TKJ diagram. *International Journal of Quality and Service Sciences*, 8(3):377–394, January 2016. Publisher: Emerald Group Publishing Limited.
- [46] Fawaz A Abdulmalek and Jayant Rajgopal. Analyzing the benefits of lean manufacturing and value stream mapping via simulation: A process sector case study. *International Journal of production economics*, 107(1):223–236, 2007.
- [47] Lonnie Wilson. How to implement lean manufacturing. McGraw-Hill Education, 2010.
- [48] Jun Duanmu and Kevin Taaffe. Measuring manufacturing throughput using takt time analysis and simulation. In 2007 Winter Simulation Conference, pages 1633–1640, December 2007. ISSN: 1558-4305.

- [49] Rachna Shah and Peter T. Ward. Defining and developing measures of lean production. *Journal of Operations Management*, 25(4):785–805, 2007. _eprint: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1016/j.jom.2007.01.019.
- [50] Dayna F. Simpson and Damien J. Power. Use the supply relationship to develop lean and green suppliers. *Supply Chain Management: An International Journal*, 10(1):60–68, January 2005. Publisher: Emerald Group Publishing Limited.
- [51] Daniel Arey, Chi Hieu Le, and James Gao. Lean industry 4.0: a digital value stream approach to process improvement. *Procedia Manufacturing*, 54:19–24, January 2021.
- [52] Feilong Lin, Cailian Chen, Ning Zhang, Xinping Guan, and Xuemin Shen. Autonomous Channel Switching: Towards Efficient Spectrum Sharing for Industrial Wireless Sensor Networks. *IEEE Internet of Things Journal*, 3(2):231–243, April 2016. Conference Name: IEEE Internet of Things Journal.
- [53] Azharul Karim and Kazi Arif-Uz-Zaman. A methodology for effective implementation of lean strategies and its performance evaluation in manufacturing organizations. *Business Process Management Journal*, 2013.
- [54] C. Martin Hinckley and P. Barkan. Selecting the best defect reduction methodology. *Quality and Reliability Engineering International*, 12(6):411–420, 1996. _eprint: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1002/%28SICI%291099-1638%28199611%2912%3A6%3C411%3A%3AAID-QRE53%3E3.0.CO%3B2-9.
- [55] Shimbun, Nikkan Kogyo. Improving Product Quality by Preventing Defects. Productivity Press, Portlan, Oregon, USA, first edition, 1987.
- [56] Douglas M. Stewart and John R. Grout. The Human Side of Mistake-Proofing. *Production and Operations Management*, 10(4):440–459, 2001. _eprint: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1111/j.1937-5956.2001.tb00086.x.

- [57] Å. Fast-Berglund, T. Fässberg, F. Hellman, A. Davidsson, and J. Stahre. Relations between complexity, quality and cognitive automation in mixed-model assembly. *Journal* of Manufacturing Systems, 32(3):449–455, July 2013.
- [58] Priyavrat Thareja. Poka Yoke: Poking into Mistakes for Total Quality! SSRN, 2019.
- [59] Johannes Huuskonen. Poka-yoke Methods in Make-to-Order Production. 2020. Accepted: 2020-11-25T09:49:21Z.
- [60] M. Vinod, S. R. Devadasan, D. T. Sunil, and V. M. M. Thilak. Six Sigma through Poka-Yoke: a navigation through literature arena. *The International Journal of Advanced Manufacturing Technology*, 81:315–327, 2015. Publisher: Springer.
- [61] Zhihan Lv, Jinkang Guo, and Haibin Lv. Safety Poka Yoke in Zero-Defect Manufacturing Based on Digital Twins. *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Informatics*, pages 1–1, 2022. Conference Name: IEEE Transactions on Industrial Informatics.
- [62] Ageel Abdulaziz Alogla and Mansoor Alruqi. Aircraft assembly snags: human errors or lack of production design? *Aerospace*, 8(12):391, 2021. Publisher: Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute.
- [63] Abraham Zhang. Quality improvement through Poka–Yoke: from engineering design to information system design. *International Journal of Six Sigma and Competitive Advantage*, 8(2):147–159, 2014. Publisher: Inderscience Publishers.
- [64] John Grout. *Mistake-proofing the design of health care processes*. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality, Department of Health and Human ..., 2007.
- [65] Francis E. Plonka. Developing a lean and agile work force. Human Factors and Ergonomics in Manufacturing & Service Industries, 7(1):11–20, 1997. Publisher: Wiley Online Library.
- [66] Peter Middleton. Lean software development: two case studies. Software Quality Journal, 9:241–252, 2001. Publisher: Springer.

- [67] Sanjay Kumar, Sunil Luthra, Abid Haleem, and Dixit Garg. Qualitative analysis of drivers of poka-yoke in small and medium enterprises of Indian automobile sector. *International Journal of Process Management and Benchmarking*, 9(2):232–249, 2019.
 Publisher: Inderscience Publishers (IEL).
- [68] Sarah Fathiah Ali. Design & Development of Poka-yoke System for Nut Identification to Defect Prevention. PhD Thesis, UMP, 2013.
- [69] Tarcisio Abreu Saurin, José Luis Duarte Ribeiro, and Gabriel Vidor. A framework for assessing poka-yoke devices. *Journal of manufacturing systems*, 31(3):358–366, 2012.
 Publisher: Elsevier.
- [70] David Romero, Paolo Gaiardelli, Daryl J. Powell, and Matteo Zanchi. Intelligent Poka-Yokes: Error-Proofing and Continuous Improvement in the Digital Lean Manufacturing World. In Advances in Production Management Systems. Smart Manufacturing and Logistics Systems: Turning Ideas into Action: IFIP WG 5.7 International Conference, APMS 2022, Gyeongju, South Korea, September 25–29, 2022, Proceedings, Part II, pages 595–603. Springer, 2022.
- [71] Marina Marinelli. Human–Robot Collaboration and Lean Waste Elimination: Conceptual Analogies and Practical Synergies in Industrialized Construction. *Buildings*, 12(12):2057, 2022. Publisher: Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute.
- [72] David Dreyfus and Anand Nair. The impact of operational disruptions on performance in surgical settings: moderating roles of risk management infrastructure and information exchange. *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, (ahead-ofprint), 2022. Publisher: Emerald Publishing Limited.
- [73] Benedictus Rahardjo, Fu-Kwun Wang, Ruey-Huei Yeh, and Yu-Ping Chen. Lean Manufacturing in Industry 4.0: A Smart and Sustainable Manufacturing System. *Machines*, 11(1):72, 2023. Publisher: MDPI.

- [74] Clifford Martin Hinckley. Combining mistake-proofing and Jidoka to achieve world class quality in clinical chemistry. *Accreditation and quality assurance*, 12(5):223–230, 2007. Publisher: Springer.
- [75] Aysegul Yilmaz, Manoj Dora, Behzad Hezarkhani, and Maneesh Kumar. Lean and industry 4.0: Mapping determinants and barriers from a social, environmental, and operational perspective. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 175:121320, February 2022.
- [76] Rose Clancy, Ken Bruton, Dominic TJ O'Sullivan, and Aidan J. Cloonan. The HyDAPI framework: a versatile tool integrating Lean Six Sigma and digitalisation for improved quality management in Industry 4.0. *International Journal of Lean Six Sigma*, (aheadof-print), 2022. Publisher: Emerald Publishing Limited.
- [77] Paul Kengfai Wan and Torbjørn Langedahl Leirmo. Human-centric zero-defect manufacturing: State-of-the-art review, perspectives, and challenges. *Computers in Industry*, 144:103792, 2023. Publisher: Elsevier.
- [78] Jose Martin Herrera-Ramirez and Luis Adrian Zúñiga-Avilés. Designing Small Weapons. CRC Press, 2022.
- [79] Roman Hänggi, André Fimpel, and Roland Siegenthaler. Methods for Implementing the
 9 Principles. In *LEAN Production–Easy and Comprehensive: A practical guide to lean processes explained with pictures*, pages 89–166. Springer, 2022.
- [80] Omar Sánchez, María P. Revuelta, Adriana Gómez-Cabrera, and Luis A. Salazar. Paper Planes for Teaching Construction Production Systems Based on Lean Tools: Continuous Improvement Cells and 5S. *Buildings*, 13(2):558, 2023. Publisher: MDPI.
- [81] Volkmar Koch, Simon Kuge, Reinhard Geissbauer, and Stefan Schrauf. Industry 4.0:
 Opportunities and challenges of the industrial internet. *Strategy & PwC*, pages 5–50, 2014.

- [82] Robert U. Ayres. Technological transformations and long waves. Part II. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 37(2):111–137, April 1990.
- [83] Michael J. Whelan, Conor Linstead, Fred Worrall, Steve J. Ormerod, Isabelle Durance, Andrew C. Johnson, David Johnson, Mark Owen, Emma Wiik, and Nicholas JK Howden. Is water quality in British rivers "better than at any time since the end of the Industrial Revolution"? *Science of the Total Environment*, page 157014, 2022. Publisher: Elsevier.
- [84] Bonsa Regassa Hunde and Abraham Debebe Woldeyohannes. Future prospects of computer-aided design (CAD)–A review from the perspective of artificial intelligence (AI), extended reality, and 3D printing. *Results in Engineering*, page 100478, 2022. Publisher: Elsevier.
- [85] Leonid Melnyk, Iryna Dehtyarova, and Oleksandr Kubatko. Sustainable development strategies in conditions of the 4th Industrial revolution: the EU experience. In *Reducing Inequalities Towards Sustainable Development Goals*, pages 241–256. River Publishers, 2022.
- [86] N. Jazdi. Cyber physical systems in the context of Industry 4.0. In 2014 IEEE International Conference on Automation, Quality and Testing, Robotics, pages 1–4, May 2014.
- [87] Diego G. S. Pivoto, Luiz F. F. de Almeida, Rodrigo da Rosa Righi, Joel J. P. C. Rodrigues, Alexandre Baratella Lugli, and Antonio M. Alberti. Cyber-physical systems architectures for industrial internet of things applications in Industry 4.0: A literature review. *Journal of Manufacturing Systems*, 58:176–192, January 2021.
- [88] Miren Estensoro, Miren Larrea, Julian M. Müller, and Eduardo Sisti. A resource-based view on SMEs regarding the transition to more sophisticated stages of Industry 4.0. *European Management Journal*, 40(5):778–792, 2022. Publisher: Elsevier.
- [89] W. MacDougall. Industrie 4.0–smart manufacturing for the future. GTIA–Germany Trade and Invest, 40; doi: 10.1007. 2014.

- [90] Fadi Shrouf, Joaquin Ordieres, and Giovanni Miragliotta. Smart factories in Industry 4.0: A review of the concept and of energy management approached in production based on the Internet of Things paradigm. In 2014 IEEE international conference on industrial engineering and engineering management, pages 697–701. IEEE, 2014.
- [91] Peter Wells and Paul Nieuwenhuis. Over the hill? Exploring the other side of the Rogers' innovation diffusion model from a consumer and business model perspective. *Journal* of Cleaner Production, 194:444–451, September 2018.
- [92] Henning Kagermann, Johannes Helbig, Ariane Hellinger, and Wolfgang Wahlster. *Recommendations for implementing the strategic initiative INDUSTRIE 4.0: Securing the future of German manufacturing industry; final report of the Industrie 4.0 Working Group.* Forschungsunion, 2013.
- [93] Michael E. Porter and James E. Heppelmann. How Smart, Connected Products Are Transforming Companies. *Harvard Business Review*, October 2015. Section: Business management.
- [94] Syed Imran Shafiq, Cesar Sanin, Edward Szczerbicki, and Carlos Toro. Virtual engineering object/virtual engineering process: a specialized form of cyber physical system for Industrie 4.0. *Procedia Computer Science*, 60:1146–1155, 2015. Publisher: Elsevier.
- [95] Shiyong Wang, Jiafu Wan, Di Li, and Chunhua Zhang. Implementing smart factory of industrie 4.0: an outlook. *International journal of distributed sensor networks*, 12(1):3159805, 2016. Publisher: SAGE Publications Sage UK: London, England.
- [96] Michael Sony. Industry 4.0 and lean management: a proposed integration model and research propositions. *Production & Manufacturing Research*, 6(1):416–432, January 2018. Publisher: Taylor & Francis _eprint: https://doi.org/10.1080/21693277.2018.1540949.

- [97] Fengwei Yang and Sai Gu. Industry 4.0, a revolution that requires technology and national strategies. *Complex & Intelligent Systems*, 7:1311–1325, 2021. Publisher: Springer.
- [98] ATCC Finance. Industry 4.0 Challenges and solutions for the digital transformation and use of exponential technologies. *Finance, audit tax consulting corporate: Zurich, Swiss*, pages 1–12, 2015.
- [99] R. Moch, J. Götze, and E. Müller. Monitoring Überbetrieblicher Produktionsnetze. *Product. Manag*, (2):37–39, 2012.
- [100] Yubao Chen, Zhiqiang Mu, and Bin Zhao. 4S shop service error prevention study based on moment of time. In 2013 6th International Conference on Information Management, Innovation Management and Industrial Engineering, volume 1, pages 551–554, November 2013. ISSN: 2155-1472.
- [101] Eleonora Di Maria, Valentina De Marchi, and Ambra Galeazzo. Industry 4.0 technologies and circular economy: The mediating role of supply chain integration. *Business Strategy and the Environment*, 31(2):619–632, 2022.
- [102] Daisy Valle Enrique, Érico Marcon, Fernando Charrua-Santos, and Alejandro G Frank. Industry 4.0 enabling manufacturing flexibility: technology contributions to individual resource and shop floor flexibility. *Journal of Manufacturing Technology Management*, 2022.
- [103] Jiafu Wan, Shenglong Tang, Zhaogang Shu, Di Li, Shiyong Wang, Muhammad Imran, and Athanasios V. Vasilakos. Software-defined industrial internet of things in the context of industry 4.0. *IEEE Sensors Journal*, 16(20):7373–7380, 2016. Publisher: IEEE.
- [104] C. Z. Du and Z. K. Yang. Inspiration of transformation and upgrading of manufacturing industry in China from German industry 4.0 strategy. *Research on Economics and Management*, 36(7):82–87, 2015.

- [105] Jorge Posada, Carlos Toro, Iñigo Barandiaran, David Oyarzun, Didier Stricker, Raffaele De Amicis, Eduardo B. Pinto, Peter Eisert, Jürgen Döllner, and Ivan Vallarino. Visual computing as a key enabling technology for industrie 4.0 and industrial internet. *IEEE computer graphics and applications*, 35(2):26–40, 2015. Publisher: IEEE.
- [106] Kaifei He and Man Jin. Cyber-Physical systems for maintenance in Industry 4.0, 2016.
- [107] Habtamu Abie. Cognitive cybersecurity for CPS-IoT enabled healthcare ecosystems. In 2019 13th International Symposium on Medical Information and Communication Technology (ISMICT), pages 1–6. IEEE, 2019.
- [108] Bożena Gajdzik. Frameworks of the Maturity Model for Industry 4.0 with Assessment of Maturity Levels on the Example of the Segment of Steel Enterprises in Poland. *Journal* of Open Innovation: Technology, Market, and Complexity, 8(2):77, 2022. Publisher: Elsevier.
- [109] Ray Y. Zhong, Xun Xu, Eberhard Klotz, and Stephen T. Newman. Intelligent manufacturing in the context of industry 4.0: a review. *Engineering*, 3(5):616–630, 2017.
 Publisher: Elsevier.
- [110] Qinglan Liu, Adriana Hofmann Trevisan, Miying Yang, and Janaina Mascarenhas. A framework of digital technologies for the circular economy: Digital functions and mechanisms. *Business Strategy and the Environment*, 31(5):2171–2192, 2022. Publisher: Wiley Online Library.
- [111] In Lee and George Mangalaraj. Big data analytics in supply chain management: a systematic literature review and research directions. *Big Data and Cognitive Computing*, 6(1):17, 2022. Publisher: MDPI.
- [112] Mojtaba Khorram Niaki, S. Ali Torabi, and Fabio Nonino. Why manufacturers adopt additive manufacturing technologies: The role of sustainability. *Journal of cleaner production*, 222:381–392, 2019. Publisher: Elsevier.

- [113] Aatish Sharma, Raied Mehtab, Sanjay Mohan, and Mohd Kamal Mohd Shah. Augmented reality-an important aspect of Industry 4.0. *Industrial Robot: the international journal of robotics research and application*, 49(3):428–441, 2022. Publisher: Emerald Publishing Limited.
- [114] Zuzana Papulová, Andrea Gažová, and L'ubomír Šufliarský. Implementation of automation technologies of industry 4.0 in automotive manufacturing companies. *Procedia Computer Science*, 200:1488–1497, 2022. Publisher: Elsevier.
- [115] Chun-Tai Yen, Yu-Chi Liu, Chih-Chieh Lin, Chih-Chiang Kao, Wen-Bin Wang, and Yu-Rong Hsu. Advanced manufacturing solution to industry 4.0 trend through sensing network and cloud computing technologies. In 2014 IEEE International Conference on Automation Science and Engineering (CASE), pages 1150–1152. IEEE, 2014.
- [116] Mohd Javaid, Shahbaz Khan, Abid Haleem, and Shanay Rab. Adoption of modern technologies for implementing industry 4.0: an integrated MCDM approach. *Benchmarking: An International Journal*, (ahead-of-print), 2022. Publisher: Emerald Publishing Limited.
- [117] Georgios Spanos and Lefteris Angelis. The impact of information security events to the stock market: A systematic literature review. *Computers & Security*, 58:216–229, 2016.
 Publisher: Elsevier.
- [118] Vamsikrishna Bandari. Enterprise Data Security Measures: A Comparative Review of Effectiveness and Risks Across Different Industries and Organization Types. *International Journal of Business Intelligence and Big Data Analytics*, 6(1):1–11, 2023.
- [119] Matteo Rossini, Federica Costa, Alberto Portioli Staudacher, and Guilherme Tortorella.
 Industry 4.0 and Lean Production: an empirical study. *IFAC-PapersOnLine*, 52(13):42–47, January 2019.

- [120] Siham Tissir, Anass Cherrafi, Andrea Chiarini, Said Elfezazi, and Surajit Bag. Lean Six Sigma and Industry 4.0 combination: Scoping review and perspectives. *Total Quality Management & Business Excellence*, pages 1–30, 2022. Publisher: Taylor & Francis.
- [121] Antonio Sartal, Josep Llach, and Fernando León-Mateos. Do technologies really affect that much? Exploring the potential of several industry 4.0 technologies in today's lean manufacturing shop floors. *Operational Research*, 22(5):6075–6106, 2022. Publisher: Springer.
- [122] Christian Leyh, Stefan Martin, and Thomas Schäffer. Industry 4.0 and Lean Production—A matching relationship? An analysis of selected Industry 4.0 models. In 2017 Federated Conference on Computer Science and Information Systems (FedCSIS), pages 989–993. IEEE, 2017.
- [123] Marcos Pagliosa, Guilherme Tortorella, and Joao Carlos Espindola Ferreira. Industry 4.0 and Lean Manufacturing: A systematic literature review and future research directions. *Journal of Manufacturing Technology Management*, 32(3):543–569, January 2019. Publisher: Emerald Publishing Limited.
- [124] Adam Sanders, Chola Elangeswaran, and Jens P. Wulfsberg. Industry 4.0 implies lean manufacturing: Research activities in industry 4.0 function as enablers for lean manufacturing. *Journal of Industrial Engineering and Management (JIEM)*, 9(3):811–833, 2016. Publisher: Barcelona: OmniaScience.
- [125] Marc Helmold, Ayşe Küçük Yılmaz, Triant Flouris, Thomas Winner, Violeta Cvetkoska, and Tracy Dathe. Lean Management Outlook 2030. In *Lean Management, Kaizen, Kata* and Keiretsu: Best-Practice Examples and Industry Insights from Japanese Concepts, pages 267–272. Springer, 2022.
- [126] Ming-Lang Tseng, Thi Phuong Thuy Tran, Hien Minh Ha, Tat-Dat Bui, and Ming K. Lim. Sustainable industrial and operation engineering trends and challenges Toward Industry 4.0: A data driven analysis. *Journal of Industrial and Production Engineering*, 38(8):581–598, 2021. Publisher: Taylor & Francis.

- [127] Rajeev Rathi, Mahender Singh Kaswan, Jose Arturo Garza-Reyes, Jiju Antony, and Jennifer Cross. Green Lean Six Sigma for improving manufacturing sustainability: Framework development and validation. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 345:131130, 2022. Publisher: Elsevier.
- [128] Sukhpreet Singh, Ashish Agrawal, Deepak Sharma, Vishnu Saini, Abhinav Kumar, and Seepana Praveenkumar. Implementation of Total Productive Maintenance Approach: Improving Overall Equipment Efficiency of a Metal Industry. *Inventions*, 7(4):119, 2022.
 Publisher: MDPI.
- [129] Elafri Nedjwa, Rose Bertrand, and Souad Sassi Boudemagh. Impacts of Industry 4.0 technologies on Lean management tools: a bibliometric analysis. *International Journal on Interactive Design and Manufacturing (IJIDeM)*, 16(1):135–150, 2022. Publisher: Springer.
- [130] Dennis Kolberg and Detlef Zühlke. Lean Automation enabled by Industry 4.0 Technologies. *IFAC-PapersOnLine*, 48(3):1870–1875, January 2015.
- [131] Lucas Santos Dalenogare, Guilherme Brittes Benitez, Néstor Fabián Ayala, and Alejandro Germán Frank. The expected contribution of Industry 4.0 technologies for industrial performance. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 204:383–394, October 2018.
- [132] Beata Mrugalska and Magdalena K. Wyrwicka. Towards Lean Production in Industry4.0. *Procedia Engineering*, 182:466–473, January 2017.
- [133] Sanjiv Narula, Harish Puppala, Anil Kumar, Sunil Luthra, Maheshwar Dwivedy, Surya Prakash, and Vishal Talwar. Are Industry 4.0 technologies enablers of lean? Evidence from manufacturing industries. *International Journal of Lean Six Sigma*, 14(1):115–138, 2022. Publisher: Emerald Publishing Limited.

- [134] Henrik Saabye, Thomas Borup Kristensen, and Brian Vejrum Wæhrens. Developing a learning-to-learn capability: insights on conditions for Industry 4.0 adoption. *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, 2022. Publisher: Emerald Publishing Limited.
- [135] Zuhara Chavez, Jannicke Baalsrud Hauge, and Monica Bellgran. Industry 4.0, transition or addition in SMEs? A systematic literature review on digitalization for deviation management. *The International Journal of Advanced Manufacturing Technology*, pages 1–20, 2022. Publisher: Springer.
- [136] Soumyadeb Chowdhury, Prasanta Dey, Sian Joel-Edgar, Sudeshna Bhattacharya, Oscar Rodriguez-Espindola, Amelie Abadie, and Linh Truong. Unlocking the value of artificial intelligence in human resource management through AI capability framework. *Human Resource Management Review*, 33(1):100899, 2023. Publisher: Elsevier.
- [137] Marta Götz and Barbara Jankowska. Adoption of industry 4.0 technologies and company competitiveness: case studies from a post-transition economy., 14(4 (eng)):61–78, 2020.
- [138] Matteo Rossini, Daryl John Powell, and Kaustav Kundu. Lean supply chain management and Industry 4.0: a systematic literature review. *International Journal of Lean Six Sigma*, ahead-of-print(ahead-of-print), January 2022.
- [139] Uwe Dombrowski, Thomas Richter, and Philipp Krenkel. Interdependencies of industrie
 4.0 & lean production systems: A use cases analysis. *Procedia Manufacturing*, 11:1061– 1068, 2017.
- [140] Mounia Achouch, Mariya Dimitrova, Khaled Ziane, Sasan Sattarpanah Karganroudi, Rizck Dhouib, Hussein Ibrahim, and Mehdi Adda. On predictive maintenance in industry 4.0: Overview, models, and challenges. *Applied Sciences*, 12(16):8081, 2022.
 Publisher: MDPI.
- [141] Yuhao Chen, Yue Luo, Mustafa Ozkan Yerebakan, Shuyan Xia, Sara Behdad, and BoyiHu. Human Workload and Ergonomics during Human-Robot Collaborative Electronic

Waste Disassembly. In 2022 IEEE 3rd International Conference on Human-Machine Systems (ICHMS), pages 1–6. IEEE, 2022.

- [142] Erik Hofmann and Marco Rüsch. Industry 4.0 and the current status as well as future prospects on logistics. *Computers in industry*, 89:23–34, 2017.
- [143] Alexandre Moeuf, Robert Pellerin, Samir Lamouri, Simon Tamayo-Giraldo, and Rodolphe Barbaray. The industrial management of SMEs in the era of Industry 4.0. *International Journal of Production Research*, 56(3):1118–1136, February 2018. Publisher: Taylor & Francis _eprint: https://doi.org/10.1080/00207543.2017.1372647.
- [144] Andrea Chiarini and Maneesh Kumar. Lean Six Sigma and Industry 4.0 integration for Operational Excellence: evidence from Italian manufacturing companies. *Production planning & control*, 32(13):1084–1101, 2021. Publisher: Taylor & Francis.
- [145] Barbara Kitchenham and Stuart Charters. Guidelines for performing systematic literature reviews in software engineering. 45:1051–1114, 2007. Publisher: Citeseer.
- [146] Tore Dybå and Torgeir Dingsøyr. Empirical studies of agile software development: A systematic review. *Information and software technology*, 50(9-10):833–859, 2008. Publisher: Elsevier.
- [147] Dennis Kolberg, Joshua Knobloch, and Detlef Zühlke. Towards a lean automation interface for workstations. *International Journal of Production Research*, 55(10):2845–2856, May 2017. Publisher: Taylor & Francis _eprint: https://doi.org/10.1080/00207543.2016.1223384.
- [148] Morteza Ghobakhloo and Masood Fathi. Corporate survival in Industry 4.0 era: the enabling role of lean-digitized manufacturing. *Journal of Manufacturing Technology Management*, 31(1):1–30, 2019. Publisher: Emerald Publishing Limited.
- [149] Robert Saxby, Michele Cano-Kourouklis, and Evi Viza. An initial assessment of Lean Management methods for Industry 4.0. *The TQM Journal*, 32(4):587–601, January 2020.
 Publisher: Emerald Publishing Limited.

- [150] Christoffer Rybski and Roland Jochem. Procedure model to integrate digital elements into lean production systems. *International Journal of Quality and Service Sciences*, 13:1–15, 2020. Publisher: Emerald Publishing Limited.
- [151] Muawia Ramadan, Bashir Salah, Mohammed Othman, and Arsath Abbasali Ayubali. Industry 4.0-Based Real-Time Scheduling and Dispatching in Lean Manufacturing Systems. *Sustainability*, 12(6):2272, January 2020. Number: 6 Publisher: Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute.
- [152] Felix Schulze and Patrick Dallasega. Industry 4.0 Concepts and Lean Methods Mitigating Traditional Losses in Engineer-to-Order Manufacturing with Subsequent Assembly On-Site: A Framework. *Procedia Manufacturing*, 51:1363–1370, January 2020.
- [153] Pascal Langlotz, Carina Siedler, and Jan C. Aurich. Unification of lean production and Industry 4.0. *Procedia CIRP*, 99:15–20, January 2021.
- [154] Fabiana Dafne Cifone and Alberto Portioli Staudacher. Do repetitive and non-repetitive companies equally benefit from Lean 4.0? *Journal of Manufacturing Technology Management*, 33(1):84–102, 2021. Publisher: Emerald Publishing Limited.
- [155] Marina Marinelli, Abrar Ali Deshmukh, Mukund Janardhanan, and Izabela Nielsen. Lean manufacturing and industry 4.0 combinative application: Practices and perceived benefits. *IFAC-PapersOnLine*, 54(1):288–293, 2021. Publisher: Elsevier.
- [156] Pascal Langlotz and Jan C. Aurich. Causal and temporal relationships within the combination of Lean Production Systems and Industry 4.0. *Proceedia CIRP*, 96:236–241, January 2021.
- [157] Simon Schumacher, Felix Aljoscha Schmid, Andreas Bildstein, and Thomas Bauernhansl. Lean Production Systems 4.0: The Impact of the Digital Transformation on Production System Levels. *Procedia CIRP*, 104:259–264, 2021. Publisher: Elsevier.
- [158] Muhammad Saad Amjad, Muhammad Zeeshan Rafique, and Mohammad Aamir Khan.Modern divulge in production optimization: an implementation framework of LARG

manufacturing with Industry 4.0. *International Journal of Lean Six Sigma*, 12(5):992–1016, 2021. Publisher: Emerald Publishing Limited.

- [159] Mohd Javaid, Abid Haleem, Ravi Pratap Singh, Shanay Rab, Rajiv Suman, and Shahbaz Khan. Exploring relationships between Lean 4.0 and manufacturing industry. *Industrial Robot: the international journal of robotics research and application*, 49(3):402–414, 2021. Publisher: Emerald Publishing Limited.
- [160] Paul-Eric Dossou, Pierre Torregrossa, and Thomas Martinez. Industry 4.0 concepts and lean manufacturing implementation for optimizing a company logistics flows. *Procedia Computer Science*, 200:358–367, 2022. Publisher: Elsevier.
- [161] Sulaiman Rajab, Mohamed Afy-Shararah, and Konstantinos Salonitis. Using Industry
 4.0 Capabilities for Identifying and Eliminating Lean Wastes. *Procedia CIRP*, 107:21–
 27, January 2022.
- [162] Jiju Antony, Olivia McDermott, Daryl Powell, and Michael Sony. The evolution and future of lean Six Sigma 4.0. *The TQM Journal*, (ahead-of-print), 2022. Publisher: Emerald Publishing Limited.
- [163] Luca Silvestri, Tommaso Gallo, and Cecilia Silvestri. Which tools are needed to implement Lean Production in an Industry 4.0 environment? A literature review. *Procedia Computer Science*, 200:1766–1777, January 2022.
- [164] Robert Davies, Tim Coole, and Alistair Smith. Review of socio-technical considerations to ensure successful implementation of industry 4.0. *Procedia Manufacturing*, 11:1288– 1295, 2017.
- [165] Rainer Müller, Matthias Vette, Leenhard Hörauf, Christoph Speicher, and Dirk Burkhard. Lean information and communication tool to connect shop and top floor in small and medium-sized enterprises. *Procedia Manufacturing*, 11:1043–1052, 2017.
- [166] Jing Ma, Qiang Wang, and Zhibiao Zhao. Slae–cps: Smart lean automation engine enabled by cyber-physical systems technologies. *Sensors*, 17(7):1500, 2017.

- [167] Henning Blunck, Dieter Armbruster, and J Bendul. Setting production capacities for production agents making selfish routing decisions. *International Journal of Computer Integrated Manufacturing*, 31(7):664–674, 2018.
- [168] Athul Jayaram. Lean six sigma approach for global supply chain management using industry 4.0 and iiot. In 2016 2nd international conference on contemporary computing and informatics (IC3I), pages 89–94. IEEE, 2016.
- [169] Enrico Ferrera, Rosaria Rossini, AJ Baptista, Steve Evans, Gunnar Große Hovest, Maria Holgado, Emil Lezak, EJ Lourenço, Zofia Masluszczak, Alexander Schneider, et al. Toward industry 4.0: efficient and sustainable manufacturing leveraging maestri total efficiency framework. In *Sustainable Design and Manufacturing 2017: Selected papers* on Sustainable Design and Manufacturing 4, pages 624–633. Springer, 2017.
- [170] Fábio Silva, Ricardo Martins, Marco Filipe Vieira Gomes, Alexandre Ferreira da Silva, José Manuel Machado, Paulo Novais, and Cesar Analide. Cloud computing environments for simulation of adaptable standardized work and electronic work instructions in industry 4.0. 2018.
- [171] Emmanuel C Ogu, Amos Benita, and Edy-Ewoh Uduakobong. Cognisant computing and'lean'practices: interactions with 21st century businesses and implications. *International Journal of Business Information Systems*, 27(2):264–275, 2018.
- [172] Erwin Rauch, Patrick Dallasega, and Dominik T Matt. The way from lean product development (lpd) to smart product development (spd). *Procedia CIRP*, 50:26–31, 2016.
- [173] Tobias Meudt, Joachim Metternich, and Eberhard Abele. Value stream mapping 4.0:
 Holistic examination of value stream and information logistics in production. *Cirp Annals*, 66(1):413–416, 2017.
- [174] Andreas Lugert, Kevin Völker, and Herwig Winkler. Dynamization of value stream management by technical and managerial approach. *Procedia CIRP*, 72:701–706, 2018.

- [175] Ana C Pereira, José Dinis-Carvalho, Anabela C Alves, and Pedro Arezes. How industry4.0 can enhance lean practices. *FME Transactions*, 47(4):810–822, 2019.
- [176] Sule Satoglu, Alp Ustundag, Emre Cevikcan, and Mehmet Bulent Durmusoglu. Lean transformation integrated with industry 4.0 implementation methodology. In *Industrial Engineering in the Industry 4.0 Era: Selected papers from the Global Joint Conference on Industrial Engineering and Its Application Areas, GJCIE 2017, July 20–21, Vienna, Austria*, pages 97–107. Springer, 2018.
- [177] Bruno G Rüttimann and Martin T Stöckli. Lean and industry 4.0—twins, partners, or contenders? a due clarification regarding the supposed clash of two production systems. *Journal of Service Science and Management*, 9(6):485–500, 2016.
- [178] Surajit Bag, Gunjan Yadav, Pavitra Dhamija, and Krishan Kumar Kataria. Key resources for industry 4.0 adoption and its effect on sustainable production and circular economy: An empirical study. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 281:125233, 2021. Publisher: Elsevier.
- [179] Guilherme Tortorella, Rapinder Sawhney, Daniel Jurburg, Istefani Carisio de Paula, Diego Tlapa, and Matthias Thurer. Towards the proposition of a Lean Automation framework: Integrating Industry 4.0 into Lean Production. *Journal of Manufacturing Technology Management*, 32(3):593–620, 2021. Publisher: Emerald Publishing Limited.
- [180] Francisco Jose Gomes Silva, Konstantinos Kirytopoulos, Luis Pinto Ferreira, José Carlos Sá, Gilberto Santos, and Maria Carolina Cancela Nogueira. The three pillars of sustainability and agile project management: How do they influence each other. *Corporate Social Responsibility and Environmental Management*, 29(5):1495–1512, 2022.
- [181] Catherine Maware and David M. Parsley. Can industry 4.0 assist lean manufacturing in attaining sustainability over time? Evidence from the US organizations. *Sustainability*, 15(3):1962, 2023. Publisher: MDPI.

- [182] Selim Erol, Andreas Jäger, Philipp Hold, Karl Ott, and Wilfried Sihn. Tangible industry
 4.0: a scenario-based approach to learning for the future of production. *Procedia CiRp*, 54:13–18, 2016.
- [183] James O Westgard. Useful measures and models for analytical quality management in medical laboratories. *Clinical Chemistry and Laboratory Medicine (CCLM)*, 54(2):223– 233, 2016.
- [184] Suveg V Iyer, Kuldip Singh Sangwan, and Dhiraj. Digitalization: a tool for the successful long-term adoption of lean manufacturing. *Procedia CIRP*, 116:245–250, January 2023.
- [185] Julio C Serrano-Ruiz, Josefa Mula, and Raul Poler. Development of a multidimensional conceptual model for job shop smart manufacturing scheduling from the industry 4.0 perspective. *Journal of Manufacturing Systems*, 63:185–202, 2022.
- [186] Lars Skyttner. General systems theory: Problems, perspectives, practice. World scientific, 2006.
- [187] Nam P Suh. Axiomatic design theory for systems. *Research in engineering design*, 10:189–209, 1998.
- [188] Sven-Vegard Buer, Jan Ola Strandhagen, and Felix TS Chan. The link between industry 4.0 and lean manufacturing: mapping current research and establishing a research agenda. *International journal of production research*, 56(8):2924–2940, 2018.
- [189] Michael Rüßmann, Markus Lorenz, Philipp Gerbert, Manuela Waldner, Jan Justus, Pascal Engel, and Michael Harnisch. Industry 4.0: The future of productivity and growth in manufacturing industries. *Boston consulting group*, 9(1):54–89, 2015.
- [190] Marina Ciano, Abrar Ali Deshmukh, Mukund Janardhanan, and Izabela Nielsen. Lean manufacturing and industry 4.0 combinative application: Practices and perceived benefits. *IFAC-PapersOnLine*, 54(1):288–293, 2021. Publisher: Elsevier.

- [191] James M. Tien. Internet of things, real-time decision making, and artificial intelligence. Annals of Data Science, 4:149–178, 2017. Publisher: Springer.
- [192] Morteza Ghobakhloo. Industry 4.0, digitization, and opportunities for sustainability. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 252:119869, April 2020.
- [193] Dmitry Ivanov, Alexandre Dolgui, and Boris Sokolov. The impact of digital technology and industry 4.0 on the ripple effect and supply chain risk analytics. *International journal of production research*, 57(3):829–846, 2019.
- [194] Lyn Liq Ooi, Sin Yin Teh, and Peck Yeng Sharon Cheang. The impact of lean production on sustainable organizational performance: the moderating effect of industry 4.0 technologies adoption. *Management Research Review*, ahead-of-print(ahead-of-print), January 2023.
- [195] Erik Brynjolfsson and Andrew McAfee. The Second Machine Age: Work, Progress, and Prosperity in a Time of Brilliant Technologies. W. W. Norton & Company, January 2014.
 Google-Books-ID: WiKwAgAAQBAJ.
- [196] Niloofar Jafari, Mohammad Azarian, and Hao Yu. Moving from industry 4.0 to industry 5.0: what are the implications for smart logistics? *Logistics*, 6(2):26, 2022.
- [197] D. Daniel Sheu. Overall Input Efficiency and Total Equipment Efficiency. *IEEE Trans*actions on Semiconductor Manufacturing, 19(4):496–501, November 2006. Conference Name: IEEE Transactions on Semiconductor Manufacturing.
- [198] Robert J. Everett and Amrik S. Sohal. Individual Involvement and Intervention in Quality Improvement Programmes: Using the Andon System. *International Journal of Quality & Reliability Management*, 8(2), January 1991. Publisher: MCB UP Ltd.
- [199] Douglas C Montgomery. Design and analysis of experiments. 2017.
- [200] David P MacKinnon. Introduction to statistical mediation analysis. Routledge, 2012.

- [201] Joseph L Gastwirth, Yulia R Gel, and Weiwen Miao. The impact of levene's test of equality of variances on statistical theory and practice. 2009.
- [202] Theodore Micceri. The unicorn, the normal curve, and other improbable creatures. *Psychological bulletin*, 105(1):156, 1989.
- [203] Eric Jondeau, Ser-Huang Poon, and Michael Rockinger. *Financial modeling under non-Gaussian distributions*. Springer Science & Business Media, 2007.
- [204] Nornadiah Mohd Razali, Yap Bee Wah, et al. Power comparisons of shapiro-wilk, kolmogorov-smirnov, lilliefors and anderson-darling tests. *Journal of statistical modeling and analytics*, 2(1):21–33, 2011.
- [205] Douglas C Montgomery. Introduction to statistical quality control. John Wiley & Sons, 2020.
- [206] Jakob Axelsson, Joakim Fröberg, and Peter Eriksson. Towards a system-of-systems for improved road construction efficiency using lean and Industry 4.0. In 2018 13th Annual Conference on System of Systems Engineering (SoSE), pages 576–582. IEEE, 2018.
- [207] Enrico Ferrera, Rosaria Rossini, A. J. Baptista, Steve Evans, Gunnar Große Hovest, Maria Holgado, Emil Lezak, E. J. Lourenço, Zofia Masluszczak, and Alexander Schneider. Toward Industry 4.0: efficient and sustainable manufacturing leveraging MAESTRI total efficiency framework. In *International Conference on Sustainable Design and Manufacturing*, pages 624–633. Springer, 2017.
- [208] Ali Ahmed, John Olsen, and John Page. Integration of six sigma and simulations in real production factory to improve performance–a case study analysis. *International Journal* of Lean Six Sigma, 14(2):451–482, 2023.
- [209] Sameh M. Saad, Ramin Bahadori, Chandan Bhovar, and Hongwei Zhang. Industry 4.0 and Lean Manufacturing–a systematic review of the state-of-the-art literature and key recommendations for future research. *International Journal of Lean Six Sigma*, 2023. Publisher: Emerald Publishing Limited.

- [210] Emilie Lachance, Nadia Lehoux, and Pierre Blanchet. A Simulation Model to Analyze Different Automation Scenarios in a Mixed-Assembly Manufacturing Line: Timber-Frame Prefabrication Industry. *Journal of Construction Engineering and Management*, 149(10):04023091, 2023. Publisher: American Society of Civil Engineers.
- [211] William de Paula Ferreira, Fabiano Armellini, and Luis Antonio De Santa-Eulalia. Simulation in industry 4.0: A state-of-the-art review. *Computers & Industrial Engineering*, 149:106868, 2020.
- [212] Michail Katsigiannis, Minas Pantelidakis, and Konstantinos Mykoniatis. Assessing the transition from mass production to lean manufacturing using a hybrid simulation model of a LEGO® automotive assembly line. *International Journal of Lean Six Sigma*, ahead-of-print(ahead-of-print), January 2023.
- [213] Eman Ouda, Andrei Sleptchenko, and Mecit Can Emre Simsekler. Comprehensive review and future research agenda on discrete-event simulation and agent-based simulation of emergency departments. *Simulation Modelling Practice and Theory*, page 102823, 2023.
- [214] William de Paula Ferreira, Fabiano Armellini, and Luis Antonio De Santa-Eulalia. Simulation in industry 4.0: A state-of-the-art review. *Computers & Industrial Engineering*, 149:106868, November 2020.
- [215] Günther Schuh, Reiner Anderl, Roman Dumitrescu, Antonio Krüger, and Michael ten Hompel. Using the industrie 4.0 maturity index in industry. *Current Challenges, Case Studies and Trends. Acatech COOPERATION*, 2020.
- [216] Ahmed Zainul Abideen, Veera Pandiyan Kaliani Sundram, Jaafar Pyeman, Abdul Kadir Othman, and Shahryar Sorooshian. Digital twin integrated reinforced learning in supply chain and logistics. *Logistics*, 5(4):84, 2021. Publisher: MDPI.
- [217] Mohsen Attaran and Bilge Gokhan Celik. Digital Twin: Benefits, use cases, challenges, and opportunities. *Decision Analytics Journal*, page 100165, 2023. Publisher: Elsevier.
- [218] David Mendes, Pedro D Gaspar, Fernando Charrua-Santos, and Helena Navas. Synergies between lean and industry 4.0 for enhanced maintenance management in sustainable operations: A model proposal. *Processes*, 11(9):2691, 2023.
- [219] Sven-Vegard Buer, Marco Semini, Jan Ola Strandhagen, and Fabio Sgarbossa. The complementary effect of lean manufacturing and digitalisation on operational performance. *International Journal of Production Research*, 59(7):1976–1992, 2021.
- [220] Muhammad Irfan Khan, Syed Imran Zaman, and Sharfuddin Ahmed Khan. Relationship and impact of block chain technology and supply chain management on inventory management. In *Blockchain Driven Supply Chain Management: A Multi-dimensional Perspective*, pages 53–74. Springer, 2023.
- [221] Abednego Osei, Andrew Osei Agyemang, Joseph Owusu Amoah, and Inusah Sulemana. Empirical study on the impact of working capital management on going concern of manufacturing firms in Ghana. *Cogent Business & Management*, 10(2):2218177, 2023. Publisher: Taylor & Francis.
- [222] Michael Sony, Jiju Antony, and Jacqueline Ann Douglas. Essential ingredients for the implementation of quality 4.0: a narrative review of literature and future directions for research. *The TQM Journal*, 32(4):779–793, 2020.
- [223] Javaid Butt. A conceptual framework to support digital transformation in manufacturing using an integrated business process management approach. *Designs*, 4(3):17, 2020.
- [224] Ashish Thomas. Developing an integrated quality network for lean operations systems.
 Business Process Management Journal, 24(6):1367–1380, January 2018. Publisher:
 Emerald Publishing Limited.
- [225] Masoud Zafarzadeh, Magnus Wiktorsson, and Jannicke Baalsrud Hauge. Capturing value through data-driven internal logistics: case studies on enhancing managerial capacity. *Production & Manufacturing Research*, 11(1):2214799, 2023. Publisher: Taylor & Francis.

- [226] Max Ajamo. Exploring the Synergy between Industry 4.0, Quality 4.0, and Lean Production for Improved Quality in Manufacturing. 2023.
- [227] Zhuoyu Huang, Casey Jowers, Damon Kent, Ali Dehghan-Manshadi, and Matthew S. Dargusch. The implementation of Industry 4.0 in manufacturing: From lean manufacturing to product design. *The International Journal of Advanced Manufacturing Technology*, 121(5-6):3351–3367, 2022. Publisher: Springer.
- [228] Owen Slattery, Anna Trubetskaya, Sean Moore, and Olivia McDermott. A Review of Lean Methodology Application and Its Integration in Medical Device New Product Introduction Processes. *Processes*, 10(10):2005, 2022. Publisher: MDPI.
- [229] Rafael Diaz and Ali Ardalan. Innovating in data-driven production environments: simulation analysis of Net-CONWIP priority rule. *Industrial Management & Data Systems*, 123(5):1569–1598, 2023. Publisher: Emerald Publishing Limited.
- [230] Varun Tripathi, Somnath Chattopadhyaya, A. K. Mukhopadhyay, Suvandan Saraswat, Shubham Sharma, Changhe Li, and S. Rajkumar. Development of a data-driven decision-making system using lean and smart manufacturing concept in industry 4.0: A case study. *Mathematical Problems in Engineering*, 2022, 2022. Publisher: Hindawi.
- [231] John Reyes, Josefa Mula, and Manuel Díaz-Madroñero. Development of a conceptual model for lean supply chain planning in industry 4.0: Multidimensional analysis for operations management. *Production Planning & Control*, pages 1–16, 2021. Publisher: Taylor & Francis.
- [232] Raed El-Khalil. Simulation analysis for managing and improving productivity: A case study of an automotive company. *Journal of Manufacturing Technology Management*, 26(1):36–56, 2015.
- [233] Saman Abbasi, Katayoon Taghizade, and Esmatullah Noorzai. Bim-based combination of takt time and discrete event simulation for implementing just in time in construction

scheduling under constraints. *Journal of Construction Engineering and Management*, 146(12):04020143, 2020.

- [234] Robert Muggah and Mark Whitlock. Reflections on the Evolution of Conflict Early Warning. *Stability: International Journal of Security and Development*, 10(1), 2022.
- [235] LIMSI YING. DEVELOPING A DISCRETE-EVENT SIMULATION MODEL FOR SEMICONDUCTOR SUPPLY CHAIN. PhD Thesis, Universiti Sains Malaysia, 2022.
- [236] AGOUZZAL Kawtar and ABBOU Ahmed. A Hybrid Method integrating Industry 4.0's Energy Digitization. WSEAS Trans. Syst, 21:157–167, 2022.
- [237] Stanislaw Raczynski and Stanislaw Raczynski. Agent-Based Models: Tools. Interacting Complexities of Herds and Social Organizations: Agent Based Modeling, pages 1–18, 2020. Publisher: Springer.
- [238] J. D. C. Little. A proof for the queuing formula $l = \lambda w$. Operations Research, 9:383–87, 1961.
- [239] Grigor Angjeliu, Dario Coronelli, and Giuliana Cardani. Development of the simulation model for digital twin applications in historical masonry buildings: The integration between numerical and experimental reality. *Computers & Structures*, 238:106282, 2020.
- [240] Barry L Nelson. The more plot: Displaying measures of risk & error from simulation output. In 2008 Winter Simulation Conference, pages 413–416. IEEE, 2008.
- [241] Deedar Hussain and Manuel Carlos Figueiredo. Improving the time-based performance of the preparatory stage in textile manufacturing process with value stream mapping. *Business Process Management Journal*, 29(3):801–837, 2023.
- [242] Praveen Saraswat, Deepak Kumar, and Manoj Kumar Sain. Reduction of work in process inventory and production lead time in a bearing industry using value stream mapping tool. *International Journal of Managing Value and Supply Chains (IJMVSC)*, 6(2):27– 35, 2015.

- [243] Pankaj Kumar, Shashi Bhushan Prasad, Dharmendra Patel, Kaushal Kumar, Saurav Dixit, and Shchepkina Natalia Nikolaevna. Optimization of cycle time assembly line for mass manufacturing. *International Journal on Interactive Design and Manufacturing (IJIDeM)*, pages 1–12, 2023.
- [244] Maria Chiara Leva, Micaela Demichela, Carlos Albarrán Morillo, Franco Modaffari, and Lorenzo Comberti. Optimizing human performance to enhance safety: A case study in an automotive plant. *Sustainability*, 15(14):11097, 2023.
- [245] Sang-Young Yoon, Jeonghan Ko, and Myung-Chul Jung. A model for developing job rotation schedules that eliminate sequential high workloads and minimize between-worker variability in cumulative daily workloads: Application to automotive assembly lines. *Applied ergonomics*, 55:8–15, 2016.
- [246] Mohammed-Amine Abdous, Xavier Delorme, Daria Battini, Fabio Sgarbossa, and Sandrine Berger-Douce. Assembly line balancing problem with ergonomics: a new fatigue and recovery model. *International Journal of Production Research*, 61(3):693–706, 2023.
- [247] Jörn-Henrik Thun, Christian B Lehr, and Max Bierwirth. Feel free to feel comfortable—an empirical analysis of ergonomics in the german automotive industry. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 133(2):551–561, 2011.
- [248] Shyamal Samant, Varinder Kumar Mittal, and Ravi Prakash. Resource optimisation for an automobile chassis manufacturer through value stream mapping enhanced with simulation technique and constraint programming. *International Journal of Industrial and Systems Engineering*, 28(3):379–401, 2018.

Appendices

Appendix A

Random Treatments Assign to Subjects

| # | First treatment | Second treatment | Third treatment Fourth treatment | | | |
|----------------------------|------------------------|-----------------------|----------------------------------|-----------|--|--|
| Subjects | | | | | | |
| 1 | I4T+LT | PWI | I4T | LT | | |
| 2 | LT | PWI | I4T+LT | I4T | | |
| 3 | I4T | I4T+LT | LT | PWI | | |
| 4 | I4T+LT | PWI | LT | I4T | | |
| 5 | I4T+LT | I4T | LT | PWI | | |
| 6 | PWI | LT | I4T | I4T+LT | | |
| 7 | I4T | PWI | I4T+LT | LT | | |
| 8 | I4T | PWI | LT | I4T+LT | | |
| 9 | I4T+LT | LT | I4T | PWI | | |
| 10 | I4T | LT | I4T+LT | PWI | | |
| 11 | PWI | LT | I4T+LT | I4T | | |
| 12 | I4T+LT | LT | PWI | I4T | | |
| 13 | PWI | I4T+LT | I4T | LT | | |
| 14 | LT | I4T+LT | I4T | PWI | | |
| 15 | PWI | I4T+LT | LT | I4T | | |
| 16 | LT | I4T+LT | PWI | I4T | | |
| 17 | LT | I4T | PWI | I4T+LT | | |
| 18 | LT | I4T | I4T+LT | PWI | | |
| 19 | PWI | I4T | I4T+LT | LT | | |
| 20 | LT | PWI | I4T | I4T+LT | | |
| 21 | I4T | LT | PWI | I4T+LT | | |
| 22 | PWI | I4T | LT | I4T+LT | | |
| 23 | I4T | I4T+LT | PWI | LT | | |
| 24 | I4T+LT | I4T | PWI | LT | | |
| Note: In the PWI: Paper | e table, four letter c | odes are used represe | enting four study's par | rameters. | | |
| LT: Lean T | Tool | | | | | |
| I4T: Indust | rv 4.0 Technology | | | | | |
| I4T+LT: In | dustry 4.0 Technol | ogy and Lean Tool | | | | |
| | | | | | | |

Treatment design for subject assignment-first slot

Figure A.1: Random treatments assigned to subjects-first slot

| # | First treatment | Second treatment | treatment Third treatment Fourth treatment | | | | |
|---|--|--|--|-----------|--|--|--|
| Subjects | | | | | | | |
| 25 | I4T+LT | PWI | I4T | LT | | | |
| 26 | LT | PWI | I4T+LT | I4T | | | |
| 27 | I4T | I4T+LT | I+LT LT PW | | | | |
| 28 | I4T+LT | PWI | LT | I4T | | | |
| 29 | I4T+LT | I4T | LT | PWI | | | |
| 30 | PWI | LT | I4T | I4T+LT | | | |
| 31 | I4T | PWI | I4T+LT | LT | | | |
| 32 | I4T | PWI | LT | I4T+LT | | | |
| 33 | I4T+LT | LT | I4T | PWI | | | |
| 34 | I4T | LT | I4T+LT | PWI | | | |
| 35 | PWI | LT | I4T+LT | I4T | | | |
| 36 | I4T+LT | LT | PWI | I4T | | | |
| 37 | PWI | I4T+LT I4T | | LT | | | |
| 38 | LT | I4T+LT | I4T | PWI | | | |
| 30 | PWI | I4T+LT | LT | I4T | | | |
| 40 | LT | I4T+LT | PWI | I4T | | | |
| 41 | LT | I4T | PWI | I4T+LT | | | |
| 42 LT I4T I4T+LT P | | | | | | | |
| 43 | PWI | I4T | I4T+LT | LT | | | |
| 44 | LT | PWI | I4T | I4T+LT | | | |
| 45 | I4T | LT | PWI | I4T+LT | | | |
| 46 | PWI | I4T | LT | I4T+LT | | | |
| 47 | I4T | I4T+LT | PWI | LT | | | |
| 48 | I4T+LT | I4T | PWI | LT | | | |
| Note: In the PWI: Paper LT: Lean T I4T: Indust I4T+LT: In | e table, four letter o r work instructions Gool rry 4.0 Technology adustry 4.0 Technol | codes are used repress logy and Lean Tool | enting four study's par | rameters. | | | |

Treatment design for subject assignment-second slot

Figure A.2: Random treatments assigned to subjects-second slot

Appendix B

Code sheet

| Cod | e | S | h | e | e | t |
|-----|---|---|---|---|---|---|
| | | | | | | |

| Part. # | Date | Name | Email | Phone | Assigned | Notes |
|---------|------|------|-------|-------|----------|-------|
| | | | | | 1 2 | |
| | | | | | 1 2 | |
| | | | | | 1 2 | |
| | | | | | 1 2 | |
| | | | | | 1 2 | |
| | | | | | 1 2 | |
| | | | | | 1 2 | |
| | | | | | 1 2 | |
| | | | | | 1 2 | |
| | | | | | 1 2 | |
| | | | | | 1 2 | |
| | | | | | 1 2 | |
| | | | | | 1 2 | |
| | | | | | 1 2 | |
| | | | | | 1 2 | |
| | | | | | 1 2 | |
| | | | | | 1 2 | |

CONFIDENTIAL

PAGE ____ of ____



Appendix C

Data collection sheet

Data Collection Sheet #1

| articip | ant #: _ | | | | | | | Date: |
|-----------|----------------------------|--------------|-------------|-------------------------|---------------|---------|-------------|-----------------------------------|
| | Fin | st Investiga | ntion | | | 110 | | Second Investigation |
| | Circle Training Treatment: | | | Treatment Number | | | r Treatment | |
| PW | I / PAR | / HMDAI | R / HMDMR | | 1 / 2 / 3 / 4 | | | Control / Lean / I4.0 / Lean+I4.0 |
| Car # TCT | TOT | Errors Made | | Uncorrected Error Types | | PWI Ref | TANKA | |
| | ICI | Corrected | Uncorrected | Sel | Pos | Rot | Count | I rial Notes |
| 1 | | | | | | | | |
| 2 | | | | | | | | |
| 3 | | | | | | | | |
| 4 | | | | | | | | |
| 5 | | | | | | | | |
| 6 | | | | | | | | |
| 7 | | | | | | | | |
| 8 | | | | | | | | |
| 9 | | | | | | | | |
| 10 | | | | | | e. O | | |

Observer Initials:

Figure C.1: Data collection sheet